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US$1,900,000,000 PETRONAS
Petroliam Nasional Berhad

{incorporated in Malaysia with limited fiability )

Us$600,000,000
6.625% Notes Due 2001

USs$800,000,000
7.125% Notes Due 2006

Us$500,000,000
7.625% Bonds Due 2026

The 6.625% Notes Due 2001 (the 2001 Notes") of Petroliam Nasional Berhad (""PETRONAS’) will mature on
October 18, 2001. The 7.125% Notes Due 2006 (the ‘2006 Notes”) of PETRONAS will mature on October 18, 2006,

The 7.625% Bonds Due 2026 (the “Bonds", and together with the 2001 Notes and the 2006 Notes, the
“Securities”) of PETRQNAS will mature on October 15, 2026. Interest on the 2001 Notes and the 2006 Notes is
payable on April 18 and October 18 of each year, and at redemption or maturity, commencing on April 18, 1897.
Interest on the Bonds is pagable on April 15 and October 15 of each year, and at redemption or maturity,
commencing on April 15, 1997. The Securities will not be redeemable in whole or in part by PETRONAS prior to
maturity except upon the occurrence of certain events related to Malaysian tax law requiring the payment by
PETRONAS of additional amounts as described herein. See 'Description of the Securities — Special Tax
Redemption™.

The Securities will be represented by one or more Global Securities {as defined herein) registered in the name of

the nominee of The Depository Trust Company (the “‘Depository’”) as depository for the account of its participants,
including Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, Brussels office, as operator of the Euroclear System
(“Euroclear’’) and Cedel Bank, société anonyme (‘'Cedel”). Beneficial interests in the Globat Securities will be
registered, and transfers thereof will be effected, only through book-entry accounts maintained by the Depository NS
and its direct or indirect participants, including Euroclear and Cedel. Except as provided herein, Securities N W

FALISON WY1 0 (L7

2 BQdefinitive form will not be issued. The Securities will trade in the Depository's Same-Day Funds Settlement System T e
“-until maturity and secondary market trading activity for the Securities will therefore settle in immediately available

or
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funds. See “Description of the Securities” herein.

Application has been made to list the Securities on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. 1
THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES =)
ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”'), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE, AND ARE .
BEING OFFERED BY THE INITIAL PURCHASERS SPECIFIED HEREIN IN THE UNITED STATES ONLY TO
“QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS"” WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT
(“QIBs”) OR OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN ACCORDANCE WITH REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES
ACT. THE SECURITIES ARE NOT TRANSFERABLE EXCEPT UPON SATISFACTION OF CERTAIN CONDITIONS AS
DESCRIBED UNDER “NOTICE TO INVESTORS"”.

See “Investment Considerations” for a discussion of certain factors to be considered in connection with an
investment in the Securities.

Price to Discount to Proceeds to
Investors(1) Initial Purchasers PETRONAS(1)(2)
Per Note Due 2001 .......... ... coiinninns 99.615% .375% 99.240%
Total ..o e $597,690,000 $2,250,000 $595,440,000
PerNoteDue 2006 .................. .0 ... 99.795% .450% 99.345%
Total ........ . e $798,360,000 $3,600,000 $794,760,000
PerBond Due 2026 ..............00........ 98.645% .875% 97.770%
Total .. ..o e $493,225,000 $4,375,000 $488,850,000

{1) Plus accrued interest, if any, from October 18, 1996.
{2) Before deduction of expenses payable by PETRONAS estimated at $700,000.

The Securities are offered by the several Initial Purchasers when, as and if issued by PETRONAS, delivered to and
accepted by the Initial Purchasers and subject to their right to reject orders in whole or in part. It is expected that delivery

of the Securities in book-entry form will be made through the facilities of the Depository on or about October 18, 1996, & S
against payment in immediately available funds. RN
)
: >3
CS First Boston Salomon Brothers Inc © <
<
The activities of the Initial Purchasers in connection with this transaction are jointly led by CS First Boston Corporation and _&™
Salomon Brothers Inc. &i’\
U\
The date of this Offering Circular is October 10, 1998, R Q?§
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This Offering Circular is being furnished by PETRONAS solely for the purpose of enabling a
prospective investor to consider the purchase of the Securities. The information contained herein has
been provided by PETRONAS and other sources identified herein. No representation or warranty, express
or implied, is made by the Initial Purchasers as to the accuracy or completeness of such information.,
PETRONAS, having made all reasonable inquiries, confirms that this document contains all information
with respect to PETRONAS and the Securities which is material in the context of the issue and offering of
the Securities, that the information contained herein is true and accurate in all material respects, that the
opinions and intentions expressed herein are honestly held, that PETRONAS is not aware of any other
facts the omission of which in its reasonable opinion might make this document as a whole or any of such
information or the expression of any such opinions or intentions materially misleading and that all
reasonable inquiries have been made by PETRONAS to verify the accuracy of such information, provided
that the information contained herein concerning Malaysia includes extracts from summaries of informa-
tion and data from various published and private sources, and PETRONAS accepts responsibility for
accurately reproducing such summaries and data but accepts no further or other responsibility in respect
of such information.

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representation not contained
in this Offering Circular in connection with the offering of the Securities and, if given or made, such
information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by PETRONAS or the
Initial Purchasers (or any of their affiliates). Neither the delivery of this Offering Circutar nor any offer
made on the basis hereof shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that the information
herein is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof.

The distribution of this Offeting Circular and the offering of the Securities in certain jurisdictions may
be restricted by law. Persons intc whose possession this Offering Circular comes are required by
PETRONAS and the Initial Purchasers to inform themselves about, and to observe, any such restrictions.
in particular, there are restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer and sale of the
Securities in the United States. This Offering Circular does not constitute, and may not be used for or in
connection with, an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is
not authorized or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation.

The Luxembourg Stock Exchange takes no responsibility for the contents of this Offering Circular,
makes no representation as to its accuracy or compieteness and expressly disclaims any liability
whatsoever for loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this Offering Circular.

It is expected that delivery of the Securities will be made against payment therefor on or
about the date specified in the last paragraph of the cover page of this Offering Circular, which is
the fifth business day following the date hereof {such settlement cycle being herein referred to
as “T+5"). Purchasers of Securities should note that trading of the Securities on the date hereof
and the next succeeding business day may be affected by the T+5 settilement. See “Plan of
Distribution”.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, SALOMON BROTHERS INC, ON BEHALF OF THE
INITIAL PURCHASERS, MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS IN THE UNITED STATES
WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY
AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH
STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.

IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, CS FIRST BOSTON CORPORATION MAY OVER-
ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS QUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES WHICH STABILIZE OR
MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE SECURITIES OFFERED HEREBY AT A LEVEL ABOVE
THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH TRANSACTIONS MAY
BE EFFECTED ON THE LUXEMBOURG STOCK EXCHANGE OR OTHERWISE. SUCH STABILIZING,
IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME.
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The financial statements of PETRONAS are prepared and presented on a consolidated basis and in
accordance with Malaysian generally accepted accounting principies (‘Malaysian GAAP"') and reporting
practices in Malaysia. Malaysian GAAP differs in certain respects from United States generally accepted
accounting principles {"'U.S. GAAP™). For a description of the material differences between Malaysian
and U.S. GAAP with respect to PETRONAS' financial statements, see "'Summary of Differences Between
Malaysian GAAP and U.S. GAAP".

All references herein to "PETRONAS' are, unless the context otherwise requires, to Petroliam
Nasional Berhad and its subsidiaries.

In this Offering Circular, references to 'ringgit”" or “RM’ are to the currency of Malaysia, and
references to “‘dollars', *‘$" or ““US$"" are to the currency of the United States of America. Solely for the
convenience of the reader, this Offering Circular contains translations of certain ringgit amounts into
dollars at specified rates. Unless otherwise stated, all translations from ringgit to dollars contained in this
Offering Circular have been made at a rate of RM2.520 to US$1, an approximate buying rate prevailing at
March 31, 1996 as quoted by Malayan Banking Berhad. No representation is made that the ringgit or
dollar amounts referred to herein could have been or could be converted into dollars or ringgit, as the
case may be, at any particular rate or at all. See ""Exchange Rates" for further information regarding the
rates of exchange between the ringgit and the dollar.

Any discrepanciss in the tables included herein between the amounts listed and the totals thereof
are due to rounding.

NOTICE TO NEW HAMPSHIRE RESIDENTS

NEITHER THE FACT THAT A REGISTRATION STATEMENT OR AN APPLICATION FOR A LICENSE
HAS BEEN FILED UNDER RSA 421-B WITH THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE NOR THE FACT THAT A
SECURITY IS EFFECTIVELY REGISTERED OR A PERSON IS LICENSED IN THE STATE OF NEW
HAMPSHIRE CONSTITUTES A FINDING BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE THAT ANY DOCUMENT FILED
UNDER RSA 421-B IS TRUE, COMPLETE AND NOT MISLEADING. NEITHER ANY SUCH FACT NCR THE
FACT THAT AN EXEMPTION OR EXCEPTION S AVAILABLE FOR A SECURITY OR A TRANSACTION
MEANS THAT THE SECRETARY OF STATE HAS PASSED IN ANY WAY UPON THE MERITS OR
QUALIFICATIONS OF, OR RECOMMENDED OR GIVEN APPROVAL TO, ANY PERSON, SECURITY OR
TRANSACTION. IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE, OR CAUSE TO BE MADE, TO ANY PROSPECTIVE
PURCHASER, CUSTOMER OR CLIENT ANY REPRESENTATION INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS
OF THIS PARAGRAPH. '

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

To permit compliance with-Rule 144A under the Securities Act in connection with sales of the
Securities, PETRONAS will be required under the Fiscal Agency Agreement referred to under “Descrip-
tion of the Securities™ to furnish upon the request of a holder of a Security to such holder and any
prospective investor designated by such holder the information required to be delivered under
Rule 144A{d) (4) under the Securities Act if at the time of the request PETRONAS is neither a reporting
company under Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act"), nor exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Exchange Act.

PETRONAS is incorporated in Malaysia with limited liability and all of its directors and executive
officers reside in Malaysia. Substantially all of the assets of such persons and of PETRONAS are located
in Malaysia. As a result, it may not be possible for investors to effect service of process outside of
Malaysia upon such persons or to enforce against such persons or PETRONAS judgments obtained in
courts outside of Malaysia, including judgments predicated upon civil liability provisions of the federal
securities laws of the United States. PETRONAS has been advised by the Group General Counsel, Legal
Services Unit of PETRONAS that there is doubt as to the enforceability in Malaysian courts, in original
actions or in actions for enforcement of judgments of United Statas courts, of civil liabilities predicated
solely upon the federal securities laws of the United States.
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OFFERING CIRCULAR SUMMARY

The following summary is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information appearing
elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

The Company

Petroliam Nasional Berhad (*PETRONAS'") is the national oil and gas company of Malaysia and is
wholly-owned by the Government of Malaysia. PETRONAS, together with its subsidiaries and asscciated
. companies, is a fully integrated oil and gas company engaged in a broad spectrum of upstream and
downstream oil and gas operations and petrochemical operations. PETRONAS was incorporated in 1974
under the Malaysian Companies Act and derives its powers from the Petroleum Development Act of
1974, which vests in PETRONAS sole ownership and control of Malaysia's petroleum resources.
PETRONAS' Articles of Association currently provide that the Government of Malaysia is the only entity
entitled to be a shareholder of PETRONAS. At January 1, 1996, Malaysia had 4.0 billion barrels of proved
and probable oil reserves and 80.2 trillion standard cubic feet of proved and probable natural gas
reserves.

PETRONAS' upstream activities include the exploration for and production of crude oil and natural
gas. PETRONAS manages all upstream activities within Malaysia and engages a number of international
ofl and gas companies to participate in exploration, development and production of oil and gas in
Malaysia pursuant to production sharing contracts. During the expioration phase of these production
sharing contracts, the contractors are required to spend a minimum amount of money to explore the
areas covered by the contracts, which exploration includes the acquisition of hew seismic data and
drilling a specified number of wells. If ail or gas is discovered and commercial production commences,
PETRONAS retains a percentage of the total production as lits entitlement.

PETRONAS' downstream activities include (i) the sale of its crude oil and natural gas entitlements,
(ii} the liquefaction of natural gas and the sale and transportation of liquefied natural gas (“'LNG"), (iii)
the processing and transmission of natural gas and the sale of natural gas products, such as liquefied
petroleum gas ("“LPG"”) and processed gas, (iv) the manufacture and sale of refined petroleum
products, including fuel oil, diesel, motor gasoline, jet fuel, kerosene and lubricants, (v) the manufacture
and sale of various petrochemical products, and (vi) the trading of crude oil, petroleum products and
petrochemical products,

PETRONAS believes that Malaysia's abundant offshore gas reserves provide an opportunity for
PETRONAS to play an important role in satisfying the growing energy demands of Malaysia and other
Asian countries. To facilitate the development of these natural gas reserves, PETRONAS has undertaken
a capital expenditure program designed to (i) increase the capacity of its natural gas processing and
transmission facilities through the implementation of the Peninsular Gas Utilization Project, (i) expand
the market for natural gas through expansion of its petrochemical operations, which use processed gas
as a feedstock, and {iii) encourage the use of natural gas as an alternative fuel source for power plants
and as a substitute for traditional energy sources, including natural gas for vehicles and natural gas
fueled coolant systems.

Building on-the succass of its petrofeum businesses in Malaysia, PETRONAS is increasing its focus
on idertifying and developing overseas investment opportunities. PETRONAS' objective is to establish a
globally integrated oil and gas operation and to become a *‘Leading Oil and Gas Multinational of Choice"'.
In“the upstream segment, PETRONAS is pursuing the strategy of augmenting Malaysia’s petroleum
resources through exploration, development and production activities outside Malaysia. In the down-
stream segment, PETRONAS' strateqy is to add value to PETRONAS' petroleum resources by increasing
their utilization as feedstocks for production and for export sale. PETRONAS believes that this strategy
will capitalize on its experience in developing Malaysia's petroleum resources and its strong financial and
human resources.




For the fiscal year ended March 31, 1996, PETRONAS had consolidated revenues of
RM22,254 million (US$8,831 million), consolidated net income of RM8,762 million (US$2,683 million}
and consolidated total assets of RMB58,0561 milion (US$23,035 million). Management believes
PETRONAS is the largest company in Malaysia in terms of revenues and net income.

Malaysia

Malaysia, with a total land area of approximately 330,000 square kilometers, is located in Southeast
Asia, just north of the equator, and consists of 13 states and a Federal Territory. Eleven states are located
in Peninsular Malaysia and the states Sabah and Sarawak are located on the Island of Borneo. Malaysia
has a population of approximately 20.7 milion. Malaysia is a parliamentary democracy headed by a
constitutional monarch. Federal executive power is vested in the Prime Minister and hig cabinet. Since its
formation in 1957, Malaysia has been governed by the National Front coalition. Dato’ Seri Dr. Mahathir bin
Mohamad has been Prime Minister since 1981. In the general elections held in April 1995, the National
Front coalition won 162 out of 192 seats in the Federal Parliament.

Since 1991, Malaysia has experienced average annual growth in gross domestic product (*'GDP")
in excess of 8.7 percent, while maintaining an average annual inflation rate of 4.0 percent. Malaysian GDP
grew 9.6 percent in 1995, compared with 9.2 percent in 1994, This growth is supported by sustained
output growth in the manufacturing, construction and service sectors. The Government's economic policy
has been directed at achieving fully industrialized status by the year 2020 in line with the Government’s
overall economic and social development plan, “Vision 2020"'. Malaysia's senior unsecured long-term
debt has credit ratings of “A1" (Moody's Investors Service, Inc.) and "A+" with a positive outiook
(Standard & Poor's).




.................

Interest Payment Dates ...........

Form and Denomination...........

Tax Redemption.

Certain Covenants................

Events of Default

Ranking........

Use of Proceeds

The Offering
Petroliam Nasiona! Berhad.

US$600,000,000 principal amount of 6.625% Notes
Due 2001,

US$800,000,000 principal amount of 7.125% Notes
Due 2006.

US$500,000,000 principal amount of 7.625% Bonds
Due 2026.

The Securities will be offered (i) outside the United States in
offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S under the Secu-
rities Act and (ii) in the United States to qualified institutional
buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act.

With respect to the 2001 Notes and the 2006 Notes, April 18 and
October 18, commencing on Aprit 18, 1997. With respect to the
Bonds, April 15 and Qctober 15, commencing on April 15, 1997.

The Securities will be issued only in fully registered form without
coupons in denominations of $100,000 and integral multiples of
$1,000 in excess thereof. The Securities will be held in book entry
form through the facilities of the Depository. See ‘‘Description of
the Securities — Book-Entry System and Form of Securities'.

The Issuer may redeem the Securities upon the occurrence of
cerfain events related to Malaysian tax law requiring the payment
by the Issuer of additional amounts as descriced herein. See
“Description of the Securities — Special Tax Redemption’".

Subject to certain exceptions, the Issuer will not create, incur or
guarantee any Indebtedness (as defined in the Fiscal Agency
Agreement) secured by a lien, charge, mortgage, pledge or
encumbrance without, in any such case, effectively securing the
Securities egually and ratably with such Indebtedness. See
“Description of the Securities — Certain Covenants’.

Each of the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes and the Bonds will be
subject to certain events of default, including the failure by the
Issuer to pay principal or interest on such Securities (which in the
case of interest must continue for a period of 30 days) and
acceleration of certain other indebtedness. See "Description of
the Securities — Events of Default”.

Each of the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes and the Bonds will be
the direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated general
obligations of the lssuer and will rank pari passu among them-
selves and at least equally with all other outstanding unsecured
and unsubordinated general obligations of the Issuer.

The net proceeds from the sale of the Securities will be applied to
refinance existing foreign currency borrowings for projects in
Malaysia and to finance a portion of the capital expenditures
related to an LPG extraction project in Malaysia that is being
undertaken as part of the expansion of PETRONAS' LNG facili-
ties. See “'Use of Proceeds”.
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Ratings ............ccoviiins, It is expected that on the date of issuance the Securities will be
rated ""A1" by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and “A+"" with a
positive outlook by Standard & Poor’s.

Investment Considerations......... For a discussion of certain material factors to be considered by
potential investors in connection with an investment in the Securi-
ties, see “Investment Considerations"'.

Listing ...ovviiii i Application has been made to list the Securities on the Luxem-
bourg Stock Exchange.




Summary Consclidated Financial and Other Data

The summary consolidated financial data set forth below has been derived from PETRONAS' audited
consolidated financial statements for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period ended March 31,
1996. The summary consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with PETRONAS' audited
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto as of March 31, 1995 and 1996 and for each of the
years in the three-year period ended March 31, 1996 included elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

Income Statement Data:
Revenues(1)
Profit before tax, minority

interest and extraordinary

tems, .o e
Depreciation and amortization . . .
Interest expense..............
Net income

Balance Sheet Data:
Fixed assets and construction-
in-progress
Fund investments.............
Totalassets. .................
Long-term debt(2)
Shareholders' equity(3) .......

Other Data:

Capital expenditure (in millions)

EBITDA (in milions}{4).......

Ratic of EBITDA to fixed
charges(5)

Ratio of long-term debt to
EBITDA..............c.cot

Ratio of long-term debt to long-
term debt plus shareholders’
equity ... ... Ll

Malaysia’s Proved and
Probable Reserve Levels(6):
Qil (in millions of barrels) (7) .. ..
Natural gas (in billions of

standard cubic feet)

PETRONAS’ Share of
Production(8):
Qil (in millions of barrels) (7) ....
Naturat gas (in billions of
standard cubic feet)

(m

(2}
(3)
(4)

sources of PETRONAS' revenues.
Net of current portion,

1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1996
{In millions )}
RM 18,040 RM 18,185 RM 16,818 AM 18,089 RM22,254 US$ 8,831
7,726 7,333 6,317 7,083 8,564 3,398
468 712 883 1,046 1,561 619
72 188 280 330 855 339
4,172 4,108 4,063 4,562 8,762 2,683
At March 31,
1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1996
{in mitlions)

RM 10,526 RM 15492 AM 21,811 RM26,372 RM 28,542 US$ 11,326
18,349 16,145 16,918 16,018 22,676 8,998
33,890 37.365 43,626 48,135 58,051 23,035

2,871 5,496 10,471 12,480 16,913 6,711

15,709 16,717 17,683 19,195 23,117 9,174

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

1992 1993 1994 1995 1998 1996
RM 2,765 RM 5687 RM 7,071 RM 5637 AM 3,778 US$ 1,499
RM 8,266 RM 8,233 RM 7,480 RM 8,459 AM 10,980 US$ 4,357

78.0x 36.1x 18.9x 12.7% 11.5x —
0.35x 0.67x 1.40x 1.48x 1.64x —
0.15x 0.25x 0.37x 0.39x 0.42x —
3,743 4,279 4,277 4112 4,030 —
67,763 76,669 B0,763 85,058 80,202 —
162 143 145 152 168 —
318 339 402 447 585 —

Shareholders' equity consists of share capital and reserves.
EBITDA censists of profit betore tax, minority interest and extraordinary items, with the addition of amounts previously

decucted for depreciation and amortization and intarest expense.
(5) Fixed charges consist of interest expense and interest capitalized during construction for the applicable period.

{6) Atdanuary 1.

{7} Includes crude oil and condensates.

See "'Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’ for a breakdown of the major

(8) PETRONAS' share of production includes its entitlement, the cost and profit cit and gas of Petronas Carigali Sdn. Bhd. and the

royalty oil and gas collected by PETRONAS for the federal and state governmaents of Malaysia.
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INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS

Prospective purchasers should carefully consider, in addition to the other information contained in
this Offering Circular, the following before purchasing any of the Securities:

Impact of Crude Oil Prices

Crude oil prices are subject to changing international supply and demand conditions, which affect
the profitability of oil and gas companies. Global political developments, especially in the Middle East,
and actions taken by major oil producing or consuming countries can affect world crude oil supply and, as
a result, crude oil and petroleum product prices. The financial results of PETRONAS are affected by
movements in global crude oil prices. See ''Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations''.

impact of Exchange Rate Fluctuations

Crude oil, petroleum product, natural gas and petrochemical prices are generally set in dollars while
certain of PETRONAS' operating costs are incurred in ringgit. As a result, PETRONAS' results can be
impacted by changes in the dollar to ringgit exchange rate. See ""Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™.

{ncreasing International Activities

PETRONAS expects that in the future an increasing proportion of its revenue will be obtained from
overseas operations, including operations in developing countries. See ‘‘Business — Upstream Activi-
ties — International Exploration and Production” and ‘'— Downstream Activities — International Ven-
tures”. As a result, PETRONAS’ financial condition and results of operations are expected to be
increasingly affected by international and domestic political, economic and operating conditions in or
affecting such countries, which may be substantially difterent than such conditions in Malaysia. Future
investments in certain countries may alsc be affected by international trade or investment sanctions. See
“Business — Upstream Activities — International Exploration and Production — Iran”. The effect of such
sanctions on the market for the securities of companies subject to sanctions will depend upon the nature
of the sanctions and their application.

Environmental Protection

Environmental factors are an impartant consideration in planning, designing and operating upstream
and downstream oil and gas facilities. PETRONAS is subject to various environmental laws and
regulations concerning land use, air emissions, discharges to waters, waste materials and abandonment
of installations. Management believes that PETRONAS is in compliance in all material respects with all
applicable environmental laws and regulations. Some risk of environmental costs and liabilities is inherent
in the operations of PETRONAS, as it is with all companies in the cil and gas industry, and there can be no
assurance that material costs and liabilities will not be incurred in the future. See "‘Environmental
Matters'".

Technical Factors

Crude oil and natural gas exploration and production activities are subject to various uncertainties,
including those relating 1o the physical characteristics of crude oil and natural gas fields. These physical
characteristics, including the proportion of reserves that can ultimately be produced and the rate of
production, are difficult to estimate and as a resuit ultimate production may differ from current estimates
of proved and probable reserves. See "Business — Qil and Gas Reserves".
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Limited Liquidity of the Securities

The Securities are new issues of securities with no established trading market. PETRONAS has been
advised by the Representatives of the Initial Purchasers that they currently intend to make markets for the
Securities as permitted by applicable law; the Representatives of the Initial Purchasers are not obligated
to do so, however, and any such market making may be discontinued at any time in their sole discretion.
No assurance can be given as to the liquidity of, or the development of a trading market for, the
Securities. See “‘Plan of Distribution®’.

USE OF PROCEEDS

PETRONAS intends to apply the net proceeds of the Securities, estimated to be US$1,879,050,000
(before deduction of expenses payable by PETRONAS), to refinance existing foreign currency borrow-
ings for projects in Malaysia and to finance a portion of the capital expenditures related to an LPG
extraction project in Malaysia that is being undertaken as part of the expansion of PETRONAS' LNG
facilities.

EXCHANGE RATES

The following table sets forth, for the periods and dates indicated, certain information concerning the
buying rate in ringgit per dollar as provided by Malayan Banking Berhad (the “Buying Rate''). No
representation is made that the ringgit or dollar amounts referred to herein could have been or could be
converted into dollars or ringgit, as the case may be, at any particular rate or at all.

At End Average
Year Ended March 31, of Period Rate(1) High{2) Low(2)
{ringgit per dollar)
1992 e 2.5840 2.7191 2.7870 2.5840
1998 ... 2.5930 2.5468 2.6280 2.4920
100 e 2.6300 2.5888 2.7300 2.6330
L1 L A R 2.5230 2.5601 2.6610 2.5230
1990 . e e 25200 2.5066 2.5603 2.4375
For the period April 1, 1996 to October 7, 1996 ........ 2.5005 2.4966 2.5080 2.4895

(1) The average of the Buying Rates on the last day of each month (and October 7, 1996 for the period ending October 7, 1996)
during each period.
(2) The highest and lowest of the Buying Rates on the last day of each month during the period.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth the current portion of term loans and consolidated capitalization of
PETRONAS at March 31, 1996 derived from its audited consolidated financial statements and as
adjusted to give effect to the issuance by PETRONAS of the Securities offered hereby, as if such
issuance had occurred as of March 31, 1996.

At March 31, 1996(1)

Actual As Adjusted
(in millions)
Current portion of term loans .............. RAM 903 US$ 358 RM 903 US$ 358
Long-term debt:

" Termloans ............. e RM 15,813 US$ 6,275 BM 11,721  US$ 4,651
The 2001 Notes ....................... — — 1,512 600
The 2006 Notes ...........cccvvennnn.. — — 2,016 800
TheBonds ... — —_ 1,260 500
Other long-term debt(2) ................ 1,100 436 1,100 436

Total long-termdebt. . ............ 16,913 6,711 17,609 6,987

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital of RM1,000 per share

Authorized — 500,000 shares

Issued and fully paid — 100,000 shares 100 40 100 40

Reserves...........ccovviiieinnnnn. 23,017 9,134 23,017 9,134

Total shareholders' equity ......... 23,117 9,174 23,117 9,174

Total capitalization ........... RM 40,030 US$15,885 RM 40,726 US$16,161

(1) Except as disclosed herein, there have been no material changes in the consolidated capitalization of PETRONAS since
March 31, 1996.

{2} Includes Islamic Debt Securities and Lease Creditor. See ""Summary of Differences Between Malaysian GAAP and UU.S. GAAP"
and Notes 12 and 15 of Notes to the Consolidated Financiat Statements.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below has been derived from PETRONAS' audited
consolidated financial statements for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period ended March 31,
1996. The selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with PETRONAS' audited
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto as of March 31, 1995 and 1996 and for each of the
years in the three-year period ended March 31, 1996 included elsewhere in this Offering Circular.
PETRONAS' consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Malaysian GAAP, which
differs in certain respects from U.S. GAAP. For a discussion of the material differences between
Malaysian GAAP and U.S. GAAP with respect to PETRONAS' financial statements, see “Summary of
Differences between Malaysian GAAP and U.S. GAAP".

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

1992 1993 1694 1995 1998 1986
(in millions)
Income Statement Data:
Revenues(1) ..............., RM 18,040 BM 18,185 RM 16,818 RM 18,089 RM 22,254 US$ 8,831
Profit before tax .............. 7,726 7,333 6,317 7,083 8,564 3,308
TaXeS .ottt {3,185) (2,874) (2,267) (2,136) {2,297) (911)
Profit aftertax................ 4,541 4,459 4,050 4,847 6,267 2,487
Minority interests’ share of
consolidated subsidiaries’
profit .. ..o (368) (351) (316) (388) (592) (235)
Extraordinary items(2) ........ (1) 0 329 3 1,087 431
Netincome .................. RM 4,172 RM 4,108 RM 4,083 RM 4562 RM 6,762 US$ 2,683
At March 31,
1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1996
(in millions)
Balance Sheet Data:
Current assets ............... RM 21,955 RM 20,232 RM 20,139 RM 19,800 RM 27,280 US$ 10,825
Fixed assets and construction-
iN-progress ................ 10,526 15,492 21,811 26,372 28,542 11,326
Other assets(3).............. 1,409 1,641 1,676 1,863 2,229 884
Totalassets . ............... RM 33,890 RM 37,3656 RM 43,626 RM 48,135 RM 58,051 23,035
Current liabilities. ............. RAM 13,144 RM 12,568 RM 12,757 RBRM 13,675 RM 14,227 5,645
Long-term debt{4) ........... 2,871 5,496 10,471 12,480 16,913 6,711
Deferred liabilities....... ... .., 1,090 1,273 1,147 1,209 1,298 515
Shareholders’ equity
lssued and fully paid —
100,000 shares of RM1,000
each ... ... - 100 100 100 100 100 40
Reserves .................... 15,609 16,617 17,683 19,095 23,017 9,134
Total shareholders’ equity ... 15,709 16,717 17,683 19,195 23,117 9,174
Minority interests in
consolidated subsidiaries . . .. 1,076 1,311 1,568 1,576 2,496 820
Total liabilities and
sharehoiders' equity ...... RM 33,800 RM 37,365 RM 43,626 RM 48,135 RM 58,051 US$ 23,035
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Flscal Year Ended March 31,

1992 1993 1984 1995 1596 1896
Other Data:
Capital expenditure (in millions) ... AM 2,765 RM 5,687 RM 7,071 RM 5637 RM 3,778 US§ 1,499
EBITDA (in millions)(5) .......... RM B,266 RM 8,233 RM 7,480 RM 8,459 RM 10,980 USS$ 4,356
Ratio of EBITDA to fixed
charges(6) ................... 78.0x 36.1x 18.9x 12.7x 11.5% —
Ratio of long-term debt to
EBITDA ... 0.35x 0.67x 1.40x 1.48x 1.54x -
Ratio of long-term debt to long-term
debt plus sharehclders’ equity . . . 0.15x 0.25x 0.37x 0.30x 0.42x —
Malaysia's Proved and Probable
Reserve Levels(7):
Qil (in millions of barrels) {8) ..... 3,743 4,279 4,277 4112 4,030 —
Natural gas {in billions of standard
cubicfeet) .................... 67,763 76,669 80,763 85,058 80,202 —
PETRONAS' Share of
Production(8):
Qil (in millions of barreis) (8) ..... 152 143 145 152 168 —
Natural gas (in billions of standard
cubicfeet) ............... ... 318 339 402 447 585 —

(1) See “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of Operations'’ for a breakdown of the major

sources of PETRONAS' revenues.

(2) Includes gain on disposal of investment. See Note 21 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) Consists of interest in associated companies, investment in unquoted companies, loan stocks, prepayments and expenditure
carried forward.

{4) Net of current portion.

(5) EBITDA consists of profit before tax, minority interest and extraordinary items, with the addition of amounts previously
deducted for depreciation and amortization and interest expense.

{6) Fixed charges consist of interest expense and interest capitalized during construction for the applicable period.

(7) At January 1.

(8) Includes crude oil and condensates.

(9) PETRONAS' share of production includes its entitlement, the cost and profit oil and gas of Petronas Carigali Sdn. Bhd. and the
royalty oil and gas collected by PETRONAS for the federal and state governments of Malaysia.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the selected consolidated financial
information and the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this
Offering Circular. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian GAAP,
which differs in certain respects from U.S. GAAP. For a discussion of the material differences between
Malaysian GAAP and U.S. GAAP with respect to PETRONAS’ financial statements, see ‘Summary of
Differences between Malaysian GAAP and U.S. GAAP". Unless otherwise indicated, references in this
section to years are to PETRONAS' fiscal year ending March 31 in such year.

Results of Operations
Revenues

PETRONAS' revenues from operations are derived primarily from the sale of its share of crude il and
gas production and natural gas products (including LNG, LPG and processed gas), refined petroleum
products and petrochemical products.

PETRONAS' revenues increasingly reflect the integration of its upstream and downstream activities.
Although sales of crude ol historically represented the largest component of PETRONAS' total revenues,
revenues from sale of natural gas and natural gas products have been increasing as a percentage of total
revenues. Since 1995, gas revenues have surpassed revenues from sales of crude oil as a result of
increased natural gas production and increased use of crude oil in refining activities. In addition, since
1994 revenues from refined petroleum products have grown significantly.

Under the terms of the Production Sharing Contracts {(as defined in *‘Business — Overview"}, the
PSC Contractors (as defined in 'Business — Overview'') bear all costs associated with exploration,
development and production of crude oil and naturai gas. PSC Contractors may recover some of their
costs by retaining a percentage of the crude oil and natural gas production, as cost oil or gas, as
determined by the Production Sharing Contracts. As a result, PETRONAS' share of crude oil and natural
gas production and its revenues are affected by the total amount of oil and gas produced and the amount
of oil and gas retained for cost recovery by the PSC Contractors. See "“Business — Upstream Activities".

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the sources of PETRONAS' consolidated revenues for
each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended March 31, 1996.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

% of % of % of
Source of Revenues 1994 Total 19985 Total 1996 Total 1988
{in millions) (in millions) {in millions} {in miltions)
Crudeoil .........icviiinen. .. AM 5950 354% RM 5222 289% RM 5415 243% US$ 2,149
Natural gas and gas products:
Natural gas and processed
o - S T 1,356 8.1 2,208 122 2451 11.0 973
[ T 3,416 203 3,333 184 4,765 21.4 1,891
LPG. o . 381 22 _ 556 31 _ 6% 32 __ 218
Total gas revenues . ... 5,153 306 6.097 337 7913 356 3,140
Refined petroleum products . ... as1z 227 4,696 26.0 6,370 28.6 2,528
Petrochemicals ............... 445 26 1,079 58 B61 39 342
Otherrevenue ................ 1,458 8.7 995 55 1695 7.6 672
Revenues .............o.ee. RM_ 16,818 100% RM 18,089 100% RM 22,254 100% US$ 8,831

Crude Oil. PETRONAS' crude oil revenue is derived from the export of a portion of its share of
crude oil production by the PSC Contractors. Such revenue is affected by variations in crude oil prices
(which are denominated in dollars), exchange rate fluctuations between the ringgit and the dollar, total
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crude oil production, fiuctuations in PETRONAS’ share of total crude oil production and the portion of
such production exported (rather than used as a feedstock for PETRONAS’ refineries).

Malaysia's crude oil, which is classified as "light'” and “sweet", is of high quality and generally
commands a premium over benchmark crudes. The following table sets forth for each of the years in the
three-year period ended March 31, 1996 the weighted average prices for Malaysian ¢rude oil, the monthly
average prices for Brent crude oil (a crude oil used as an industry pricing benchmark), PETRONAS'
share of Malaysia’s total production and the portion of such production exported.

Fiscat Year Ended March 31,

Crude Qil Data 1994 1985 1996
Malaysian crude oil (weighted average price per barrel)....... US$ 17.93 US§ 17.52 US$ 18.96
Brent crude oil (average monthly price per barrel) (1) ........ US$ 15.95 US$ 16.52 US$ 17.48
PETRONAS' share of production (in millions of barrels per

N L - BT 145 152 168
PETRONAS’ export sales volume {in millions of barrels per

YEAT) oo 124 110 108

(1) Source: OPEC Bulletin,

(2) Includes crude oil and condensates. PETRONAS’ share of production includes its entitiement, cost and profit oil of Petronas
Carigali Sdn. Bhd. and the royalty cil collected by PETRONAS. A portion of PETRONAS' share of production is sold as crude oil
and a portion is used as a feedstock for PETRONAS' refineries and sold as refined petroleum products.

PETRONAS’ crude oil revenue increased 3.7 percent to RM5,415 million in 1996 from RM5,222
million in 1995, which in turn decreased 12.2 parcent from RM5,950 million in 1994. The increase in 1996
was principally attributable to an 8.2 percent increase in the weighted average price per barrel of
Malaysia's crude oil, offset in part by a slight reduction in PETRONAS" export sales volume from 110
million barrels in 1995 to 108 million barrels in 19986, reflecting the increased portion of PETRONAS' share
of production used as a feedstock for its refineries. The price increase was also offset in part by a
strengthening of the ringgit against the doliar compared to 1995. The decrease in 1995 was principally
the result of a reduction in export sales, from 124 million barreis in 1994 to 110 million barrels in 1995, as
a result of an increase In the portion of PETRONAS’ share of production utilized as feedstock for its
refineries following the capacity expansion of PETRONAS’ refinery in Kertin and the completion of the first
train of PETRONAS’ new refinery in Melaka. A slight decline in weighted average crude oil prices and the
strengthening of the ringgit against the dollar also contributed to the decline in crude oil revenue in 1995.

Natural Gas and Gas Products. PETRONAS' total gas revenues are derived from the sale of its
share of gas produced by the PSC.Contractors and the sale of gas purchased from the PSC Contractors.
The gas is sold in the domestic or international market as natural and processed gas, LNG and LPG.

Natural gas and gas products are generally sold pursuant to long-term contracts and priced in
dollars. Processed gas Is sold principally to domestic power plants and other industrial end users and to
Powergen (Senoko) Pte. Ltd. of Singapore pursuant to long-term contracts at prices established by
reference to fuel oil prices in Singapore. LNG is principally sold overseas pursuant to long-term contracts
and is priced in dollars by reference to a basket of various crude oil prices. LPG is sold on a spot basis
and under contract and the price varies with the world market price for petroleum products.

Total gas revenues are largely dependent on demand, plant processing capacity, related world

crude oil prices and on the fluctuation between the ringgit and the dollar. The following table sets forth,
for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 1998, the total processing capacity of
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PETRONAS’ gas processing plants and LNG plants and the weighted average price for PETRONAS’ LNG
and LPG.

As at and for the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

Natural Gas Data 1994 1995 1996
Gas processing plant capacity, at year end (in millions

of standard cubic feet perday) .................... 750 1,000 1,000
LNG plant capacity, at year end (in millions of metric

tONS Per annum) .. ... e 8.1 8.1 159
NG (weighted average price per million British thermal

0731173 Us$ 3.19 US$ 3.20 US$ 3.38
LPG (weighted average price per metric ton) ......... US$ 141.96 US$ 184,17 USE 209.33

Natural gas and processed gas revenue increased 11.0 percent to RM2,451 million in 1996 from
RM2,208 million in 1995, which in turn increased 62.8 percent from RM1,356 million in 1994, The
increase in 1996 is a result of both higher volumes of deliveries (principally to power plants in Malaysia)
as well as higher prices attributable to increases in the Singapore fuel il prices used as a reference for
the price in contracts with such users. The increase in 1985 is a result of the commencement of
- operations of PETRONAS' fourth gas processing plant in August 1994, which increased processed gas
capacity from 750 million standard cubic feet per day (*“‘mmscfd™) to 1,000 mmscfd, and the increased
use of natural gas for power generation.

LNG revenue increased significantly by 43.0 percent to RM4,765 million in 1996 from RM3,333
million in 1995, which in turn was a 2.4 percent decrease from RM3,416 million in 1994. The increase in
1996 is a result of higher sales volume due to the commencement of cperation of the second LNG plant
and an increase in LNG prices. See "Business — Downstream Activities — Natural Gas — LNG".

PETRONAS' revenue from the sale of LPG increased 25.4 percent to RM697 million in 1996 from
RMS56 million in 1995, which in turn was a 45.9 percent increase from RM381 million in 1994. The
increase in 1996 was due to a 13.7 percent increase in the weighted average LPG price, an increased
volume of both domestic and international sales of LPG and a strengthening of the ringgit against the
dollar. The increase in 1995 was a result of an increase in production volume following the commence-
ment of operations of PETRONAS’ fourth gas processing plant and a 29.7 percent increase in the
weighted average LPG price. As a result of the integration of PETRONAS' downstream operations, LPG
revenues are affected by the use of LPG components as a feedstock for PETRONAS' petrochemical
operations.

Refined Petroleum Products. Revenue from sales of refined petroleum products (which inciude fuel
ail, diesel, motor gasoline, jet fuel, kerosene and lubricants) is affected by refinery throughput, the price
of refined products and exchange rate fluctuations.

Refined petroleum products revenue increased 35.6 percent to RM6,370 million in 1996 from
RM4 696 million in 1995, which in turn was a 23.2 percent increase from RM3,812 million in 1994. The
increase in both 1996 and in 1995 reflect increased refinery throughput and increase in prices for major
refined petroleum products. Refinery throughput increased to 48 million barrels in 1996 from 40 million
barrels in 1995 and 11 million barrels in 1994,

Petrochemicals. Petrochemical revenue decreased by 20.2 percent to RM861 million in 1936 from
RM1,079 million in 1995, which in turn increased 142.5 percent from RM445 million in 1994, The
decrease in 1996 is primarily due to the significant drop of revenue from methanol as a result of a decline
in methanol prices and the strengthening of the ringgit, offset in part by revenues from production of
ethylene from a plant that came on stream during the fiscal year. The increase in 1995 is attributable to
the impact of a full year of operations of the methyl tertiary butyl ether (“MTBE") and polypropylene
plants, together with an increase in the prices of petrochemicals generally and methanol in particular. See
“Business — Downstream Activities — Petrochemical Projects’.

Other Revenue. The most significant source of PETRONAS’ other revenue is income from its fund
investments. (Fund investment income for 1996, 1995 and 1994 as a percentage of other revenue
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revenues was 62.8 percent, 84.3 percent and 77.9 percent, respectively. See Note 6 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.) Fund investment income increased in 1996 principally as a result of
a higher level of fund investments during the year. Income from fund investments declined in 1995
primarily as a result of the lower average balance of fund investments during the vear as a result of
PETRONAS' use of internal funds to finance, on an interim basis, capital expenditures subsequently
financed through external financing.

Costs and Expenses

As permitted under Malaysian GAAP, the audited consolidated financial statements of PETRONAS
do not include a statement of consolidated expenses except for those reguired to be disclosed by the
Maiaysian Companies Act. The following table sets forth the expenses of PETRONAS for the major cost
areas for each of the fiscal years in the three-year period ended March 31, 1996.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

Costs and Expsnses 1994 1995 1996 1896
{in milliona}

Operating exXpenses.........ovvveeivinennn... RM 7607 RM 7,769 RM 9,130 US$ 3,623
Depreciation and amortization ................. 883 1,046 1,561 619
Interest expense..............c..oovi .., 280 330 855 339
Manpower ... e 460 512 562 223
Royalties ........ ... .. iiiiiiiiien,,, 1,271 1,349 1,582 628

Total ... RM 10,501 RM 11,006 RM 13,690 US$ 5,432

In 1996, 1995 and 1994 total costs and expenses represented 61.5 percent, 60.8 percent and
62.4 percent of consolidated revenues, respectively. The principal component of operating expenses is
cost of goods sold. Accordingly, fluctuations in crude oil prices impact PETRONAS' operating expenses,
The increase in depreciation and amortization expense in 1996 from 1995 reflects the completion of
projects under PETRONAS' ongoing capital expenditure program. Interest expense also increased in this
period as a result of increased borrowings to fund PETRONAS' ongoing capital expenditure program.
Manpower expenses have increased as a result of wage increases and additions to personnel associated
with PETRONAS’ continued growth. Under the Petroleum Development Act of 1974 {the “Petroleum
Act’), crude oil and natural gas produced in Malaysia are subject to a combined 10 percent royalty
payment to the federal and state governments. PETRONAS calculates such royalty based on the six-
monthly average f.o.b. price of cil and gas received by PETRONAS or its agents from sales to third
parties.

Minority Interests’ Share of Consolidated Subsidiaries’ Profit. This amount principally reflects the
minority interests’ share of profit from Petronas Dagangan Berhad and Petronas Gas Berhad: shares in
these subsidiaries were offered to the public in PETRONAS' 1994 and 1996 fiscal years. This amount also
reflects the minority interests’ share of profit from the two LNG plants in Sarawak.

Extraordinary ftems. The principal extraordinary items recognized in 1994 through 1996 were gains
on sales of investments recorded in 1994 and 1996 in connection with the sale of a portion of
PETRONAS' shares in Petronas Dagangan Berhad and Petronas Gas Berhad.

Taxes

Although PETRONAS is wholly-owned by the Government of Malaysia, PETRONAS does not enjoy
any special tax benefits attributable to such ownership and is subject to all taxes generally applicable to
companies incorporated under the Malaysian Companies Act. Under the Petroleum {Income Tax) Act of
1967, PETRONAS and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Petronas Carigali Sdn. Bhd., are currently subject to
a statutory tax rate of 40 percent on taxable income from sales of crude oil and natural gas. Taxable
income from PETRONAS’ other activities, including sales of liquefied naturat gas, processed gas, refined
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petroleum products, petrochemicals and fund investment income, is currently subject to a statutory
income tax rate of 30 percent.

PETRONAS' effective tax rate decreased from approximately 30 percent in 1995 to approximately
27 percent in 1996. This decrease in the effective tax rate is primarily due to the beneficial impact of tax
incentives available for certain expanding operations. Pursuant to the Malaysian income Tax Act,
consolidated tax returns are not required.

Liquidity and Capital Resources; Capital Expenditures
Liquidity and Capital Resources

PETRONAS' primary source of working capital during the three years ended March 31, 1996 has
been funds generated from operations. Total funding requirements, including capital expenditures,
dividends, satisfaction of debt obligations, investments, taxes and other working capital requirements, for
1994, 1995 and 1996 were RM13,560 million, RM12,193 million and RM18,545 million, respectively. Of
these totals, a significant percentage in each year, 56.2 percent in 1994, 64.3 percent in 1985 and
54.3 percent in 1996, was satisfied by funds generated from operations, including fund investment
income. The balance of its funding requirements were satisfied primarily through external borrowings and
liquidation of fund investments. Additional cash was generated from the sale of shares of PETRONAS'
subsidiary, Petronas Dagangan Berhad (1994) and Petronas Gas Berhad (1995), in connection with
their initial public offering and the listing of the shares on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange, which raised
proceeds of RM511 million and RM1,671 million, respectively.

PETRONAS' financing strategy is to ensure that its total long-term borrowings at any cne time do not
exceed 30 percent of total assets. At March 31, 1996, PETRONAS' total long-term borrowings
represented 29.0 percent of its total assets,

PETRONAS' outstanding debt is primarily denominated in.ringgit, dollars, Japanese yen and French
francs. Through various arrangements with banks, PETRONAS has swapped a substantial portion of its
Japanese yen and French franc repayment obligations for dollar denominated repayment obligations. A
significant portion of PETRONAS’ revenue is denominated in dollars.

The dividend declared by PETRONAS in-1996 was RM3,100 million, the same amount as declared in
each of 1994 and 1995. The Board of Directors of PETRONAS recommends the level of dividend to its
shareholders.

Capital Expenditures

PETRONAS has outstanding capital commitments that have been approved and committed to
contract but are not provided for in its audited financial statements. These commitments totalled
RM6,773 million as of March 31, 1994, RM4,114 million as of March 31, 1995 and RM6,502 million as of
March 31, 1996. These include further work on the PGU Project, the construction of the PETRONAS
Melaka Refinery Complex (‘PSR-2’') and the PETRONAS Fertilizer (Kedah) plant. See ''Business —
Downstream Activities'” and Note 22 of Notes te Consclidated Financial Statements.

In addition, PETRONAS has substantial capital commitments that have been approved but have not
been committed to contract and are not provided for in its audited financial statements. These
commitments were RM20,292 million as of March 31, 1994, RM18,663 million as of March 31, 19895 and
RM16,888 million as of March 31, 1996. Capital commitments outstanding as of March 31, 1996 include
proposed further work on the PGU Project, oil and gas field development plans and a third LNG plant.
Commitments in this category are subject to change as projects become committed to contract or are
reviewed. See Note 22 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Of the capital commitments referred to in the preceding two paragraphs, approximately BM10,752
million, RM5,030 million, RM3,476 million, RM2,757 million and RM1,375 million are expected to be
incurred in the years 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively. Because capital commitments that
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have been approved but not committed to contract may be subject to change, and because PETRONAS
may from time to time determine to undertake additional capital projects, actual capital expenditures in
future years may be more or less than the amounts shown. PETRONAS expects to fund its future capital
expenditures through drawdowns under existing term loans, additional external borrowings and funds
generated from operaticns.

Capital expenditures on fixed assets and construction projects decreased 20.3 percent from
RM7,071 million in 1994 to RM5,637 million in 1995 and decreased 33.0 percent to RM3,778 million in
1996. Approximately 72 percent of capital expenditures in 1994 and approximately 76 percent of capital
expenditures in 1995 were funded through drawdowns under existing term loans. The balance in each
year came primarily from funds generated from operations, including fund investment income. In 1896,
capital expenditures on fixed assets and construction projects were entirely funded by the drawdowns of
existing loans and additional external borrowings. Capital expenditures in 1994, 1995 and 1996
consisted of RM901 million, RM1,663 million and RM2,218 million, respectively, of upstream investment
and BRMEB,170 million, RM3,974 million and BRM1,560 million, respectively, of downstream investment.
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BUSINESS

Overview

PETRONAS is the nationa! oil and gas company of Malaysia and is wholly-owned by the Government
of Malaysia. PETRONAS was incorporated in 1974 under the Malaysian Companies Act and derives its
powers from the Petroleum Act. Section 2 of the Petroleum Act vests in PETRONAS, the “‘entire
ownership in, and exclusive rights, powers, liberties and privileges of exploring, exploiting, winning and
obtaining petroleum whether onshore cr offshore Malaysia™. The Petroleum Act alsa vests in PETRONAS
the right to process and refine petroleum, to manufacture petrochemical preducts and to market these
items. All entities, including wholly and partially-owned subsidiaries of PETRONAS, other than
PETRONAS are required to obtain a Government license or permit for such activities.

PETRONAS' upstream activities inciude the exploration for and production of crude oil and natural
gas (collectively, the "“upstream activities” ). PETRONAS manages all upstream activities within Malaysia
and engages a number of international cil and gas companies {the “PSC Contractors'’) to participate in
exploration, development and production of oil and gas in Malaysia pursuant to production sharing
contracts (the “Production Sharing Contracts’). During the exploration phase of these Production
Sharing Contracts, the PSC Contracters are required to spend a minimum amount of money to explore
the areas (the “blocks™) covered by the Production Sharing Contracts, which includes the acquisition of
new seismic data and drilling a specified number of wells. If oil or gas is discovered and commercial
production commences, PETRONAS retains a percentage of the total production as its entitlement
{PETRONAS' “'entitlement’’). The Production Sharing Contracts provide for the recovery of costs by the
PSC Contractors and the sharing of crude oil and natural gas production between PETRONAS and the
PSC Contractors. Since 1985, Petronas Carigali Sdn. Bhd. (“'PETRONAS Carigali''), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of PETRONAS engaged in the international and domestic exploration, development and
production of crude oil and natural gas, has had an option to participate in each Production Sharing
Contract as a PSC Contractor with a minimum interest of 15 percent.

PETRONAS exports a portion of its share of crude oil and natural gas production to customers,
primarily in the Asia-Pacific region. PETRONAS' downstream activities include (i) the sale of its crude oil
and natural gas entitiements, (ii} the liguefaction, sale and transportation of LNG, (iii) the processing
and transmission of natural gas and the sale of natural gas products, such as LPG and processed gas,
{(iv) the manufacture and sale of refined petroleum products, including fuel oil, diesel, motor gascline, jet
fuel, kerosene and lubricants, {v) the manufacture and sale of various petrochemical products, and
(vi) the trading of crude oil, petroleum products and petrochemical products {ccllectively, the *‘down-
stream activities™').

PETRONAS believes that Malaysia's abundant offshcre gas reserves provide an opportunity for
PETRONAS to play an important role in satisfying the growing energy demands of Malaysia and other
Asian countries. To facilitate the development of these natural gas reserves, PETRONAS has undertaken
a capital expenditure program designed to (i) increase the capacity of its natural gas processing and
transmission facifities through the implementation of the PGU Project, (ii) expand the market for natural
gas through expansion of its petrochemical operations, which use processed gas as a feedstock, and
(ii) encourage the use of natural gas as an alternative fuel source for power plants and as a substitute
for traditional energy sources, including natural gas for vehicles and natural gas fueled coolant systems.

Building on the success of its petroleum businesses in Malaysia, PETRONAS is increasing its focus
on identifying and developing overseas investment opportunities. PETRONAS' objective is to establish a
globally integrated oil and gas operaticn and to become a *Leading Qil and Gas Multinational of Choice"'.
In the upstream segment, PETRONAS is pursuing the strategy of augmenting Malaysia's petroleum
resources through exploration, development and production activities outside Malaysia. In the down-
stream segment, PETRONAS' strategy is to add value to PETRONAS’ petroleum rescurces by increasing
their utilization as feedstocks for production and for export sale. PETRONAS believes that this strategy
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will capitalize on its experience in developing Malaysia's petroleum resources and its strong financial and
human resources.

At March 31, 1996, PETRONAS had 40 wholly-owned subsidiaries, 15 partly-owned subsidiaries and
17 associated companies. PETRONAS’ unconsolidated revenues and net income for the year ended
March 31, 1996 were 62.0 percent and 82.0 percent, respectively, of the consolidated revenues and net
income of PETRONAS for the same period.

Oil and Gas Reserves

PETRONAS determines Malaysia's crude oil and natural gas reserve estimates utilizing estimates of
field reserves provided by the PSC Contractors. The methods used to estimate these reserves are based
on internationally recognized techniques recommended by the Society of Petroleum Engineers in Dallas,
Texas. PETRCNAS' reserve estimates as of January 1 of any year are generally made public in June or
July of such year, and are normally not audited by an independent petroleum engineer unless required for
a unitization agreement (whereby PSC Contractors agree to operate two or moere fields as.one unit) or
prior to a new natural gas project.

PETRONAS' estimates of Malaysia's crude oit and natural gas reserves include both proved and
probable reserves. Proved reserves refer to the estimated quantities of crude oil and natural gas which
geological and engineering data demonstrate, with reasonable certainty, to be recoverable in future years
from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions (i.e., prices and costs as of the
date the estimate is made). Probable reserves refer to the estimated quantities of crude oil and natural
gas which geclogical and engineering data demonstrate have a fair to good probability to be recoverable
in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions.

At January 1, 1996, Malaysia had proved and probable oil reserves of 4.0 bilion barrels. At the
current production level of approximately 630,000 barrels per day (''bpd"') {excluding condensates),
which is expected to continue over the next several years, Malaysia’s current oil reserves would last for
approximately 17 years. PETRONAS continues to explore for cil both domestically and internationally in
an effort to augment Malaysia's cil reserves.

Through its Production Sharing Contracts, PETRONAS manages the level of crude oil production
within Malaysia in line with the National Depletion Policy, which stipulates that the annual production of
crude oil be limited to three percent of the “oil initially in place’ for major fields. Major fieids are fields with
at least 400 million barrels of crude oil. *“Oil initially in place™ includes all crude cil previously extracted,
current proved and probable reserves and estimates of other oil resources regardless of the current
aconomics of extraction.

The following table sets forth-Malaysia's proved and probable oil and condensate reserves at
January 1 for each of the years 1992 through 1996.

At January 1,
Proved and Probable Ol Reserves 1992 1663 1984 1995 1998
(in millions of barrels)
Sabah ..o e e i e 604 631 641 590 550
SarAWAK . ... et 1,267 1,205 1,202 1,067 950
Peninsular Malaysia ............. ... ... 0 0. 1,872 2,443 2,434 2,455 2,530
Total .. e e e 3,743 4,279 4,277 4,112 4,030

At January 1, 1996, Malaysia had proved and probable natural gas reserves of 80.2 trillion standard
cubic feet (“tscf’). These reserves are expected to have a production life of approximately 30 to
40 years in light of expected production levels as well as continuing growth in demand for natural gas in
Malaysia.
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The following table sets forth Malaysia's proved and probable gas reserves at January 1 for each of
the years 1992 through 1996.

At January 1,
Proved and Probable Gas Reserves 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996
(in billions of standard cubic feet)

Non-Associated Gas(1):

Sabah ... e e, 1,848 2,707 2932 5679 4,861
Sarawak ... ... ... e e, 31,864 36,868 37,882 37,511 33,03
Peninsular Malaysia..............cccoiiiiineninn.. 22,486 23,881 26,606 28,184 28,331

Total non-associated gas.........ccovvviennn ... 56,198 63,456 67,420 71,374 66,223

Associated Gas:

Sabah ... e e 1,127 1,658 1,216 1,253 1,207
SarawaK ... e e 3,767 3,758 4230 4,209 4276
Peninsular Malaysia.......... ... ... .. ... ... ... 6,671 7,797 _7.897 8222 8496

Total associated gQas.......vviieriinrenrenenns 11,565 13,213 13,343 13,684 13,979

Total. ... e 67,763 76,669 80,763 85,058 80,202

(1) Non-associated gas is found in a reserveir that does not contain crude oil. Approximately 83 percent of Malaysia's natural gas
reserves are non-associated, Certain non-associated gas fields have been dedicated to supply existing and future planned gas
projects. The timing of the development of such fields is dependent upon demand for gas and the devetopment of related
infrastructure and downstream facilities.

With Malaysia’s substantial proved and probable natural gas reserves, PETRONAS believes it has an
opportunity to play an important role in satisfying the growing energy demands of Malaysia and other
Asian countries. As a result, PETRONAS expects natural gas praduction to continue to play a significant
role in PETRONAS’ growth. For a further discussion of PETRONAS' plans to increase utilization and
distribution of Malaysia's natural gas resources, see "‘Business — Downstream Activities'".

Crude oil and natural gas exploration and production activities are subject to various uncertainties,
including those relating to the physical characteristics of crude oil and natural gas fields. These physical
. characteristics, including the proportion of reserves ultimately able to be produced and the rate of
production, are difficult to estimate and as a result, ultimate production may differ from current estimates
of proved and probable reserves.

Upstream Activities
Domestic Exploration and Development

PETRONAS is actively engaged in exploration, development and production of cil and gas in
Malaysia through its Production Sharing Contracts. The success ratio for oil discovery in Malaysian waters
was one oil discovery for every 4.3 exploration wells drilled during the period from 1990 through the end
of calendar year 1995, If gas is included, the success ratio for discovery in Malaysia increases to one in
2.4.

Malaysia has 515,600 square kilometers of land and seabed available for oil and gas exploration, of
which 152,262 square kilometers are currently covered by Production Sharing Contracts. Until 1993, ail
and gas exploration and production activities in Malaysia took piace in the broad continental shelf which
provides favorable conditions for oil and gas exploration. Within this shelf, five major sedimentary basins
in Malaysia have been identified as petroleum bearing. The water depth of these areas is between 25 and
181 meters. Malaysia's deeper offshore areas, with water depths of 200 meters or more, have only
recently been opened to ¢il and gas exploration. See ‘'‘Business — Upstream Activities — Production
Sharing Contracts’'.

Malaysia's existing cil and gas fields are located in the continental shelf offshore of the states of
Sabah and Sarawak and in the continental sheif offshore of the state of Terengganu on the east coast of
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Peninsular Malaysia. To date, exploration activities in the continental shelf have resulted in discoveries of
121 commercial il fields and 202 commercial gas fields.

The current focus of development activity is on the gas field development of the Central Luconia,
Lutong, Jintan and Helang gas fields offshore Sarawak and the Resak/Beranang and Fekina gas fields
offshore Peninsular Malaysia, the oil field development activity of Malong, Yong, Sotong, Anding and Larut
oil fields offshore Peninsular Malaysia, the Kinabalu oil field offshore Sabah and Asam Paya oil field
offshore Sarawak and the oil and gas field development of the Orkid, Raya, Jerneh, Lawit and Duyong oil
and gas fields offshore Peninsular Malaysia.

The following table shows the seismic data and other exploration, development and production
activity undertaken by the PSC Contractors for each of the fiscal years in the five-year pericd ended
March 31, 1996.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

1982 1993 1994 1995 1998

Seismic data acquisition (line km) {1}):

2D 16,167 13,113 27,810 18,529 12,620

3D e 30,791 54,033 20,538 15,339 129,205
Wells{2):

Exploration. ................... .. 43 19 26 19 16

Appraisal ........ .. o 18 13 5 3 13

Development ........covivvivns. 72 82 71 114 99
Exploration, development and

production investment (in

millions) {3) ...... ...l RM 4,892 RM 4,888 AHM 5477 RM 5487 RM 4,587

{1) Seismic data, which is measured in terms of line kilometers covered, is a key tool used in oil and gas exploration to determine
the likely existence of petroleum deposits. 3-D data acquisition has become increasingly important in recent years, as the
enhanced detail of this data provides time and cost bensfits in analysis and use of the information obtained.

(2) Exploration wells are drilled to determine the existence of an oil or gas field. Appraisal wells are drilled to determine the extent
of an identified field, and development wells are drilled for the purpose of extracting the il or gas.

(3} Total exploration, development and production investment for fiscal 1996 by the PSC Contractors, excluding the Production
Sharing Contracts in which PETRONAS Carigali has a 100 percent interest.

Production

At present, PETRONAS has 33 producing ofl fields and severai others under development. These oil
fields produce five blends of crude: Tapis, Labuan, Miri, Bintulu and Dulang. All of these blends are of
high quality and generally command a premium price on the world market.

For fiscal 1996, Malaysia's crude oil and condensate production was 261 million barrels, an increase
from the fiscal 1995 production level of 246 million barrels. Production levels are expected to be
maintained at approximately 255 million barrels per year over the next five years. PETRONAS uses its
share of crude oil production for ‘export sales to customers principally in the Asia-Pacific region and for
refining and sale of petroleum products.

The following table sets forth Malaysia's crude cil production and PETRONAS' share in such
production for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period ended March 31, 1996.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

Oil{1) 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996
{in millions of barrels}
Total production in Malaysia.......................... 242 240 234 246 261

PETRONAS' share of production(2) .................. 152 143 145 152 168

{1} Includes crude oil and condensates.
{2} PETRONAS’ share of production includes its entitlement, PETRONAS Carigali's cost and profit oil and the royalty oil collected
by PETRONAS.

24




Currently, only nine of PETRONAS' 202 gas fields are producing, three are under development and
the remainder may be developed in the future. For fiscal 1996, Malaysia's natural gas production was
approximately 1,070 billion standard cubic feet.

Natural gas production is projected to increase through the year 2000 as a result of the completion of
the PGU Project.

Not all natural gas produced is available for sale. Natural gas may also be re-injected into the well,
used for petroleum operations or either lost or flared. During fiscal 1996, 78 percent of the natural gas
produced was sold in domestic and international markets. The foliowing table sets forth Malaysia’s annual
natural gas production available for sale and PETRONAS' annual entitlement to such gas for each of the
fiscal years in the five-year period ended March 31, 1996,

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

Natural Gas 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996
(in billions of standard cubic feet)
Total production in Malaysia¢1} ....................... 539 624 735 833 1,070

PETRONAS’ share of production{2) ................... 318 339 402 447 585

{1) Net of flared gas, reinjected gas and gas used for petroleum operations.
(2) PETRONAS' share of production includes its entitement, PETRONAS Carigali's cost and profit gas and. the royalty gas
collected by PETRONAS.

PETRONAS uses its share of gas production in its downstream activities for processing, liquefaction
and sale in the domestic market and abroad. In addition, PETRONAS purchases gas produced by the
PSC Contractors for such uses.

Production Sharing Contracts

PETRONAS’ exploration, devetopment and production “activities are carried out by means of
Production Sharing Contracts with a number of international oil and gas companies and with its wholly-
owned subsidiary, PETRONAS Carigali.

PETRONAS' Production Sharing Contracts are similar to production sharing contracts used by oil
and gas companies internationally. The contract obligates the PSC Contractor to provide all the financing
and bear all the risk of exploration, development and production activities in exchange for a share of the
total production. As in most international production sharing contracts, the PSC Contractor is allowed to
recover its costs from total oil and gas produced from the area, after royalties (“cost” oil or gas),uptoa
maximum recovery limit specified in the Production Sharing Contract. The remainder (‘‘profit”’ oil or gas)
is shared between the PSC Contractor and PETRONAS on a volume-dependent basis.

Since its incorporation in 1974, PETRONAS has signed 48 Production Sharing Contracts with 41 oil
and gas companies from 15 different countries. A Production Sharing Contract may be awarded to a
consortium of PSC Contractors, and one PSC Contractor may be party to several Production Sharing
Contracts. As of June 1996, there were 28 Production Sharing Contracts in operation. The majority of the
Production Sharing Contracts currently in operation were signed following a 1985 liberalization of the
terms and conditions of such contracts which allowed for accelerated cost recovery and improved ratios
of profit il and gas for the PSC Contractors.

Under the terms of all Production Sharing Contracts signed after 1985, PETRONAS Carigali
participates as a PSC Contractor with a minimum interest of 15 percent. PETRONAS Carigali's interest is
“carried’’ from-the time of signing of the contract to the completion by the other PSC Contractors of
specified work commitments or fulfillment of minimum financial and drilling commitments or upon
commercial success (the “‘carried interest period’'}. Upon expiration of the carried interest period,
PETRONAS Carigali must determine whether to continue its participation in the Production Sharing
Contract or opt out of the contract. If PETRONAS Carigali exercises its option to retain its interest in the
contract after the carried interest period, PETRONAS Carigali bears the costs of future operations in
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accordance with its participating interest in the Production Sharing Contract. During the carried interest
period, regardless of whether PETRONAS Carigali exercises its option, all exploration and other costs are
borne by the other PSC Contractors.

The following table summarizes the basic terms of PETRONAS' current Production Sharing
Contracts.

Deep Water Blocks
G to 1,000 Deep Water Blocks

Allocations Shallow Water Blocks meters over 1,000 meters
Royalties (% of gross production) ........ 10% 10% 10%
Cost oil (% of gross
production) (maximum) ............... 50% 70% 75%
Cost gas (% of production available for
sale) {(maximum) .........cooiiiinnnnn 60% 60% 60%

Profit oil and gas (range depending upon
volume of production) (PETRONAS: PSC

Contractor):
Ol v e 50:50 to 70:30 30:70 to 50:560  14:86 to 50:50
T 1= T 50:50 to 70:30 40:60 to 60:40  40:60 to 60:40

The Production Sharing Contracts are of limited duration. Exploration and development periods are
five years and four years, respectively, for shallow water blocks (water depths up to 200 meters) and
seven years and six years, respectively, for deep water blocks (water depths of 200 meters or more). If
no commercial discovery is made in a block by the end of the exploration period, a PSC Contractor may
relinquish the block, which may then be reawarded by PETRONAS under a new Production Sharing
Contract. If a commercial discovery in a field is made, the development period for that field begins. During
the development period, the PSC Contractor will generally drill welis at several strategic spots over the
reservoir and install the facilities necessary to produce crude oil or gas. The production phase of the
Production Sharing Contracts lasts, with respect to each field discovered, for a period of 15 years for
shallow water blocks and 25 years for deep water blocks from the date of first commercial production
from such field. In the case of the discovery of a gas field, the Production Sharing Contracts provide for an
additional five-year holding period between the exploration and development phases, and the production
phase may be extended for an additional five years.

Through use of the Production Sharing Contracts, PETRONAS is able to insulate itself from the
capital costs and risk of failure associated with exploration activities, while maintaining a significant share
in any discovery through its entitlements. PETRONAS further benefits from the Production Sharing
Contract as it owns all exploration and production data and all the other assets acquired and used by the
PSC Contractors in the performance of the Production Sharing Contracts. Although these assets are
owned by PETRONAS, the PSC Contractors have the right to use the assets for the duration of the
Production Sharing Conftracts, and the value of such assets is not reflected on the balance sheet of
PETRONAS, Based on the financial statements of the PSC Contractors, the estimated net book value of
the assets employed by the PSC Contractors (excluding PETRONAS Carigali} in connection with
Production Sharing Contracts at December 31, 1995 was RM10,343 million.

Upon expiration of ‘a Production Sharing Contract, PETRONAS may enter into a new Production
Sharing Contract with.its PSC Contractors, on mutually agreeable terms and in accordance with good oll
field practices, covering the fields under production to permit the PSC Contractor additional time to
produce the reserves in such fields.

The PSC Contractors exploring for oil and gas in Malaysian waters include Esso Production Malaysia
inc., Mobil Petroleum Malaysia Inc., Nippon Qil Exploration (Sarawak) Ltd., Occidental Petroleumn
{Malaysia) Ltd., PETRONAS Carigali, Sarawak Shell Berhad and Sabah Shell Petroleum Company. Of
these, Esso Production Malaysia Inc., Sabah Shell Petroleum Company, International Petroleum Corp.
Malaysia Ltd., Sarawak Shell Berhad and PETRONAS Carigali are the main operators of PETRONAS’
producing oil and gas fields.
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International Exploration and Production

PETRONAS is seeking to augment Malaysia's petroleum resources and has expanded into interna-
tional exploration and development activities. The principal vehicle through which PETRONAS conducts
these activities is Petronas Carigali (Overseas) Sdn. Bhd. ('PETRONAS Overseas’), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of PETRONAS Carigali established in 1990,

Vietnam. In 1992, PETRONAS Overseas, as a member of a consortium of international oil
companies, was awarded a contract to develop the Dai Hung oil field in Vietnam. During June 1996, the
Dai Hung oil field was producing approximately 13,000 bpd. PETRONAS Overseas holds a 20 percent
interest in the consortium through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Petronas Carigali (Dai Hung) Sdn. Bhd.
The reserves in the Dai Hung oil field have proven to be substantially below original expectations.

In addition, PETRONAS Overseas, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Petronas Carigali (Vietnam)
Sdn. Bhd., has a production sharing contract with an 85 percent interest in Blocks 01 and 02, offshore
Vietnam. Commercial discoveries have been made in the Ruby and Emerald Fields in the Blocks.
Production of oil in these fields is expected to commence in late 1997,

Malaysia-Thailand Joint Development Area. Malaysia and Thailand have signed an agreement to
establish a Malaysia-Thai Joint Authority (the “MTJA") to own the petroleum resources in an overlapping
economic zone in the Gulf of Thailand, with an area of approximately 7,250 square kilometers divided into
three blocks. Malaysia and Thailand each own 50 percent of the MTJA. in 1994, the MTJA signed two
production sharing contracts covering three blocks. Seismic studies for all three blocks were completed
in 1994. One of the blocks is held in equal shares by Petronas Carigali (JDA) Sdn. Bhd. (“‘Carigali
(JDA) "}, a wholly-owned subsidiary of PETRONAS Carigali, and Triton Qil Company of Thailand, and
exploratory drilling in this block commenced in May 1994, The other two blocks, are held in equal shares
by Carigali (JDA) and PTTEP international Limited. Based on MTJA data, Malaysia's portion of the gas
reserves in the blocks is approximately 1.6 trillion standard cubic feet.

Philippines. In the Philippines, PETRONAS Overseas signed in 1995 a farm-in agreement and a
joint operating agreement for two blocks in the Cotabato basin in April 1995. PETRONAS Overseas holds
a 50 percent interest in each of the two blocks. PETRONAS Overseas' partners in the blocks are the
PNOC Exploration Corporation and Petrofields Exploration and Development Company Incorporated.
Exploration in the blocks Is currently underway.

Pakistan. In Pakistan, PETRONAS Overseas signed a Petroleum Concession Agreement with the
Oit & Gas Development Corporation of Pakistan (OGDC) on March 19, 1996 to explore the Fort Abbas
Block of 3,810 square kilometers.in Punjab Province. PETRONAS Overseas holds a 40 percent interest in
the project. In June of 1996, PETRONAS Overseas signed a Deed of Assignment with British Gas
Exploration and Production Limited and the Government of Pakistan to undertake general oil and gas
exploration in the Gambat Block of approximately 6,600 square kilometers in Sindh Province. PETRONAS
Overseas holds a 40 percent interest in the project.

Syria. PETRONAS Overseas has a 20 percent interest in the East Ash-Sham block in Syria.
Commercial production is scheduled to commence in 1997.

Turkmenistan. In Turkmenistan, a wholly-owned subsidiary of PETRONAS Overseas has signed a
Production Sharing Contract for Block 1, Turkmenistan. The block covers an area of approximately 1,467
square kilometers in the Apsheran Sill. This production sharing contract was the first such contract
awarded by the Government of Turkmenistan. Production is scheduled to commence in late 1998.

fran. In July 1995, a wholly-owned subsidiary of TOTAL S.A. entered into a Service Contract with
the National Iranian Qil Company for the development of the Sirri A and Sirri E oil fields offshore Iran.
Pursuant to a Sale and Purchase Agreement entered into in June 1996, TOTAL transferred to a wholly-
owned subsidiary of PETRONAS Overseas 30 percent of TOTAL's interest in the project in July 1996.
PETRONAS estimates that its total investment in the project will be approximately US$180 million. TOTAL
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continues to hold a 70 percent interest in the project and is acting as the development operator of the
project.

PETRONAS does not believe that this investment will result in its designation as a sanctioned person
under the U.S. Iran and Libya Sanctions Act of 1996, which became effective on August 5, 1996 and
applies to certain transactions involving oif and gas development in Iran made pursuant to agreements
with the Government of iran or entities in Iran entered into on or after that date. Should PETRONAS in the
future make investments in oil and gas developments in Iran, such investments, depending on their terms
and conditions, could result in sanctions under the Act. Potential sanctions under the Act include, among
others, a prohibition on U.S. financial institutions making loans or providing credits to any sanctioned
person of more than $10 million in any 12-month period and denial of licenses-or other permission to
export certain technology from the United States to sanctioned persons.

China. In August 1996, Petronas Overseas signed a Petroleum Contract with China National
Offshore Qil Corporation (“CNOQOC"') and Chevron Overseas Petroleum Limited to jointly undertake oil
and gas exploration in an offshore block in the Liaodong Bay area, Gulf of Bohai. PETRONAS and
Chevron, as PSC Contractors, hold 40 percent and 60 percent participating interests.in the venture. In
the event of a discovery, CNOOC has the right to acquire up to a 51 percent interest in the project.

Downstream Activities

As a fully integrated oil and gas company, PETRONAS’ downstream activities include the export sale
of crude oit and natural gas, the refining of crude oil and sale of petroleum products, the liguefaction and
processing of natural gas and the sale of LNG, LPG and processed gas, and the manufacture and sale of
petrochemical products. PETRONAS believes that Malaysia's abundant off-shore gas reserves provide an
opportunity for PETRONAS to play an important role in satisfying the growing energy demands and
furthering the economic development of Malaysia and other Asian countries. To facilitate the development
of these natural gas reserves, PETRONAS has undertaken a capital expenditure program designed to
(i) increase the capacity of its natural gas processing and transmission facilities through the implementa-
tion of the PGU Project, (ii) expand the market for natural gas through expansion of its petrochemical
operations, which use processed gas as a feedstock, and (iii) encourage the use of natural gas as an
alternative fuel source for power plants and as a substitute for traditional energy sources, including
natural gas for vehicles and natural gas fueled coolant systems.

Oil Refining

PETRONAS refines a wide range of petroleum products for domestic consumption and export,
including motor gasoline, jet fuel, keroséne, diesel, naphtha and residual fuel oil.

Existing Refining Facilities. . PETRONAS’ refining activities are conducted at PETRONAS' refinery in
Kertih, Peninsular Malaysia (the “PETRONAS Kertih Refinery” ) and at PETRONAS' new refinery complex
in Melaka, Peninsular Malaysia (the “PETRONAS Melaka Refinery Complex”). A small portion of
PETRONAS' crude oil is refinedin Singapore.

The PETRONAS Kertih Refinery has a rated capacity of 40,000 bpd of Malaysian light, sweet crude.
PETRONAS Kertih Refinery is owned and operated by Petronas Penapisan (Terengganu) Sdn. Bhd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of PETRONAS. The PETRCNAS Melaka Refinery Complex will house two refining
trains. The first train (“PSR-1"") was completed in April 1994 and commenced operations in 1994, and
has a rated capacity of 100,000 bpd of light, sweet crude and condensates. PSR-1 is owned and
operated by Petronas Penapisan (Melaka) Sdn. Bhd. ("PETRONAS Penapisan {(Melaka) '), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of PETRONAS.

Additional Refining Facilities. Construction has begun on the second train of the PETRONAS
Melaka Refinery Complex (“'PSR-2"), which is designed to have a rated capacity of 100,000 bpd of
imported, sour crude. The ability to refine non-indigenous sour crude will provide PETRONAS with greater
fiexibility in satisfying regional demand for petroleum products. PSR-2 is owned by Malaysia Refining
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Company Sdn. Bhd., a joint venture company in which PETRONAS owns a 45 percent interest, and will
be operated by PETRONAS Penapisan (Melaka). PETRONAS' partners are Conoco Asia Ltd. and Den
Norske Statsoljeselskep A.S. (Statoil). PSR-2 has an estimated cost of approximately RM2,467 million
(US$979 million) and is scheduled to commence operations in 1998, In addition, the PETRONAS Kertih
Refinery will be expanded to include a condensate splitting facility with a rated capacity of 60,500 bpd of
condensate. The naphtha produced will be used as feedstock for the proposed aromatics project
discussed below to be located adjacent to the PETRONAS Kertih Refinery.

Natural Gas — LNG

Malaysia is the third largest LNG exporting country in the world after Indonesia and Algeria. All of the
production from PETRONAS' initial LNG plant is exported to Japan pursuant to long-term supply
contracts with various public and private energy companies. All production from PETRONAS® second
LNG plant has been committed to public and private energy companies in Japan, South Korea and
Taiwan. The major buyers of PETRONAS' LNG include Tokyo Electric Co., Tokyo Gas Co. Ltd., the
Japanese Gas Consortium, Korean Gas Corp. and Taiwan's Chinese Petroleum Corporation. Natural gas
for the plants is supplied from the Central Luconia gas fields offshore Sarawak.

Existing Facilities. PETRONAS has a majority interest in two LNG plants in Bintulu, Sarawak, with a
total capacity of 15.9 million metric tons per annum (“*mmtpa’”} of LNG. PETRONAS"' first LNG plant
commenced operations in 1983 and is owned by Malaysia LNG Sdn. Bhd. {'MLNG"), a joint venture
company in which PETRONAS holds a 65 percent interest. PETRONAS' partners.in the venture are Shell
Gas 8.V., Mitsubishi Corporation and the Government of the State of Sarawak. The MLNG plant is among
the world’s largest, producing 8.1 mmtpa of LNG.

The second LNG plant, adjacent to the MLNG plant, has three processing trains with a combined
capacity of 7.8 mmtpa of LNG, and has been In full operation since March 1996. The total cost for the
second LNG plant is approximately RM5,100 million {US$2,024 million). The plant is owned by Malaysia
LNG Dua Sdn. Bhd., a joint venture company in which PETRONAS holds a 60 percent interest.
PETRONAS' partners in the venture are Shell Gas B.V,, Mitsubishi Corporation and the Government of the
State of Sarawak.

Proposed Facilities. PETRONAS is planning the construction of a third LNG plant to utilize newly
discovered gas reserves offshore Sarawak. The third plant, scheduled to come onstream in 2001, will
initially consist of two trains, each with a capacity of 3.4 mmtpa, and may be expanded to include a third
train in the future. Planning of the facility is in the detailed design stage. The facility will be owned by a
joint venture company, Malaysia LNG Tiga Sdn. Bhd. in which PETRONAS holds a 60 percent equity
interest and its joint venture partners (the Sarawak State Government, Nippon Qit Company, Occidental
LNG (Malaysia) Ltd. and Shell Gas B.V.) each hold a 10 percent interest.

To provide PETRONAS' with greater flexicility in the transportation of LNG to its customers,
PETRONAS Tankers Sdn. Bhd. ("PETRONAS Tankers''), a wholly-owned subsidiary, has contracted to
acquire five new LNG tankers at an estimated aggregate cost of RM3,946 million. As of June 30, 1996,
four tankers had been delivered and commenced service. The fifth tanker is scheduled for delivery in
May 1997. PETRONAS Tankers has entered and will enter into 20-year charter parties with MLNG for hire
of the tankers.

Natural Gas — Gas Processing and Transmission

PGU Project.  For over a decade, PETRONAS has been involved in the planning, development and
construction of the PGU Project, a RM9,655 million (US$3,831 million) infrastructure development
project through which natural gas is processed and piped as fuel for power generation and for industrial
and residential use. PETRONAS Gas owns, operates and maintaing the PGU processing, transmission
and related facilities and, pursuant to an agreement with PETRONAS, acts as a dedicated throughput
service company processing PETRONAS' gas and transmitting it to PETRONAS' customers. Throughput
fees payable under this agreement consist principally of a fixed monthly ‘‘reservation charge', which is
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payable regardless of the volume of natural gas delivered to PETRONAS Gas, and a “flowrate charge'’,
which is payable based on the volume of natural gas processed by PETRONAS Gas.

PETRONAS Gas was listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange in September, 1995. A portion of
the shares of PETRONAS Gas were issued to domestic investors at RM5.30 per share, while the balance
were offered to domestic and foreign investors at a minimum price of RM5.30 per share pursuant to a
competitive bidding process. The last reported transaction price for the shares as reported on the Kuala
Lumpur Stock Exchange on October 7 was RM10.20 per share. Following completion of the offering,
PETRONAS held, and continues to hold, a 75 percent interest in PETRONAS Gas.

The PGU Project has served as the principal catalyst for the development of Peninsular Malaysia’s
offshore gas fields, the use of natural gas products for power generation and the expansion of Malaysia's
petrochemical industry. ‘ ‘

The PGU Project consists of three stages. Stage 1 (“PGU-I""), completed in 1984, involved the
construction of an export terminal and a 250 mmscfd gas processing plant, which separates natural gas
into methane, propane and butane, and the laying of a 32 kilometer pipeline connecting the processing
plant to the export terminal (for export of propane and butane) and to the industrial end users and power
plants (for sale of methane).

Stage 2 (“PGU-I") consists of the construction of three additional gas processing plants, which
separate natural gas into methane, ethane, propane and butane, a 680 kilometer trans-peninsular
pipeline that connects the western and southern parts of Peninsular Malaysia and Singapore and & dew
point control unit (“DPCU"), which provides standby processing capacity. The transmission pipeline
was completed at the end of 1991. Two of the three gas processing plants commenced operations in
1992 and the third gas processing plant commenced operations.in 1984, resulting in a total current
processing capacity of 1,000 mmscfd of natural gas. The DPCU commenced operations in August 1995.

Stage 3 (“PGU-II") involves extending the pipeline northwards along the west coast of Peninsular
Malaysia to the border with Thailand in three phases, the construction of two additiona! gas processing
plants with a combined capacity of 1,000 mmscfd and an additional DPCU, and the laying of a parallel
pipeline along the route of PGU-I and PGU-Il to provide additional transmission capacity and back-up
transmission security. After completion of PGU-Ill, the PGU’ Project will have a total gas processing
capacity of 2,000 mmscfd. The two additional gas processing plants and the initial PGU-Ill pipeline are
expected to be completed in 1998 and the paralle! pipeline is expected to be completed in 2000.

The principal end-users of the natural gas supplied by the PGU Project are Powergen (Senocko) Pte.
Ltd. of Singapore, .power stations of Tenaga Nasional Berhad and Malaysia's independent power
producers, PETRONAS’ petrochemical plants and the Perwaja Steel Mill. Contracts for the sale of
processed natural gas are entered into between PETRONAS and the respective end-users and are
generally long term, ranging from 15 to 21 years.

The PGU Project has facilitated the use of processed gas by smaller industries and residential end-
users. In line with the phased implementation of the PGU Project, Gas Malaysia Sdn, Bhd. (“'Gas
Malaysia'' ), was established in 1992 to distribute methane from the PGU pipeline to individual industrial,
commercial and residential locations in Peninsular Malaysia. PETRONAS holds a 20 percent interest in
Gas Malaysia.

Petrochemical Projects

PETRONAS is continuing the development of its petrochemical business, which uses indigenous
natural gas and gas products as feedstock. PETRONAS’ petrochemical projects include a methanol
plant, an MTBE and polypropylene complex, an ethylene and polyethylene complex, an
ethylbenzene/styrene monomer plant and two fertilizer plants. As a part of its overall strategy to
encourage the use of natural gas, PETRONAS is evaluating further opportunities to expand its pe-
trochemical business, including overseas.
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Methanol. In 1992, PETRONAS acquired a methanol plant located in Labuan, Sabah from the
Government of Malaysia. The plant commenced operations in 1985 and is now owned and operated by
Petronas Methanol (Labuan) Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of PETRONAS. The methanol plant,
which utilizes natural gas from offshore Sabah, has the capacity to produce 660,000 mtpa of methanol.
PETRONAS sells methanol to the MTBE plant in Kuantan, Peninsular Malaysia pursuant to a long-term
sales contract and the balance is exported or sold to customers in Malaysia. Methanol is used to produce,
among other things, urea formaldehyde, glycerine, methyl ester, fatty alcohol and rubber gloves.

MTBE /Polypropylene. Two integrated petrochemical plants which have the capacity to produce
300,000 mtpa of MTBE, 80,000 mtpa of propylene and 80,000 mtpa of polypropylene commenced
operations in Kuantan, Peninsular Malaysia in late 1992, The MTBE plant is owned by MTBE Malaysia
Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of PETRONAS. The polypropylene plant is owned by Polypropylene
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., a joint venture company in which PETRONAS holds an 80 percent interest. Idemitsu
Petrochemical Co. Ltd. (“IPC’') and Neste Oy Corporation are PETRONAS’ partners in that project.

The feedstocks for these two plants are butane and propane, which are produced by PETRONAS'
gas processing plants, and methanol from PETRONAS' methanol plant in Labuan, Sabah. MTBE is a high-
quality additive for increasing the octane level and reducing the lead component in gasoline. Propylene,
which is produced at the MTBE plant, is the monomer used to make polypropylene, one of the fastest
growing base polymers for the manufacture of woven bags, plastics, films, ropes, chairs and other
industrial products. The propylene produced at the MTBE plant is used as feedstock for the adjacent
polypropylene plant.

Ethylene/Polyethylene. Two integrated petrochemical plants in Kertih, Peninsular Mataysia com-
menced operations in 1995, to produce polyethylene and ethylene. The first train of the polyethylene
plant commenced operations in May 1995 and the second train commenced operations in July 1995
providing a total rated capacity of 200,000 mtpa. Polyethylene (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. (‘PEMSB’), a joint
venture company, owns and operates the plant. PETRONAS helds a 40 percent interest in the company
and BP Chemicais Investments Limited (“'BP Chemicals") is its partner. The ethylene plant commenced
operations in September 1995 with a rated capacity of 320,000 mtpa and supplies ethylene to the
polyethylene plant. The plant is owned and operated by Ethylene Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. (*EMSB"), a joint
venture company, in which PETRONAS holds a 72.5 percent interest. PETRONAS' partners are iPC and
BP Chemicals. Total cost of the two plants was approximately RM1,716 million (US$681 million). An
80,000 mtpa expansion of the ethylene plant is in progress, and is expected to be completed by the end
of 1997.

Ethane for the ethylene plant is produced by PETRONAS' gas processing plants. Ethylene is a basic
building block for the manufacture of petrochemicals, and polyethylene is an ethylene derlvative which is
used extensively in the fabrication of plastic products.

Urea/Ammonia. PETRONAS, in association with four other ASEAN (Association of South East
Asian Nations) member countries, has established a fertilizer compiex in Bintulu, Sarawak utilizing natural
gas as its feedstock. ASEAN Bintulu Fertilizer Sdn. Bhd., in which PETRONAS holds a 63.5 percent
interest, owns and operates the plant. The plant has the capacity to produce 648,000 mtpa of urea and
432,000 mtpa of ammonia and is the largest granular urea plant in Asia.

The construction of a second ammonia and urea plant to be located in Kedah, Peninsular Malaysia is
currently underway. The plant will have the capacity to produce approximately 600,000 mtpa of urea and
approximately 375,000 mtpa of ammonia and is expected to be completed in 1998 at a cost of
approximately ‘RM1,084 milion (US$430 milion). The plant is owned and will be operated by
PETRONAS' wholly-owned subsidiary PETRONAS Fertilizer (Kedah) Sdn. Bhd. A portion of the output is
expected to be sold in Malaysia in substitution for imported ammonia and urea.

Urea is an important source of nitrogen and is used as a commercial fertilizer. it can also be used in
the manufacture of adhesives, molding powders, varnishes and foams. Ammonia is the base chemical
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used in the production of fertilizers but has other applications, such as a refrigerant in both compression
and absorption refrigeration systems.

Ethylbenzene/Styrene Monomer. PETRONAS is participating in a joint venture enterprise with IPC
to construct and operate a 215,000 mtpa ethylbenzene and 200,000 mtpa styrene monomer plant, which
will utilize ethylene and benzene as feedstock. The plant is located in Pasir Gudang, Peninsular Malaysia
and is expected to commence operations in 1997. The estimated cost of the plant is approximately
RM438 million (US$174 million). PETRONAS holds a 30 percent interest in the jeint venture.

The ethylene for the plant will be sourced from the ethylene plant in Kertih, Peninsular Malaysia, and
the benzene will be imported until completion of the aromatics project discussed below. Styrene
monomer is a raw material used for the:production of polystyrene and unsaturated polyester resins.
These polymers are used in the manufacture of plastic casings, insulation materials and rubber goods.

Aromatics. In May 1996, PETRONAS and Mitsubishi Corporation signed a Shareholders Agreement
to form a joint venture company (Aromatics Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.) to undertake Malaysia's first aromatics
project. The plant will be located adjacent to the PETRONAS Kertih Refinery and will use naphtha as
feedstock, which will be sourced from the PETRONAS Kertih Refinery. The plant is designed to produce
420,000 mtpa of paraxylene and 150,000 mtpa of benzene. PETRONAS and Mitsubishi Corporation will
each have a 50 percent interest in the project. The estimated cost of the project is RM1,706 million
(US$677 million) and the plant is expected to commence operations in late 1999. Paraxylene is used
primarily to produce purified terephthalic acid, which in turn is used to produce polyester fiber or bottles.
Benzene is used primarily to produce styrene monomer.

Viny! Chloride Monomer. PETRONAS has begun development of a 400,000 mtpa vinyl chloride
monomer plant in Kertih. The plant is a joint venture project between PETRONAS, Land & General Berhad
and Mitsui VCM Holdings (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., each holding & 60 percent, 20 percent and 20 percent
interest in the joint venture, respectively. The plant is scheduled to be completed in 1998, and the
estimated costs of the plant is approximately RM781 million (US$314 million). Ethylene for use at the
plant will be sourced from EMSB. Vinyl chloride monomer is used primarily to produce polyvinyl chloride
(PVC).

New Petrochemical Complex. In May 1996, PETRONAS signed a letter of intent with Union Carbide
Corporation with respect to the possible development of a petrochemical complex. The complex, which
would initially include an ethylene/propylene cracker and facilities for production of various ethy-
lene/propylene derivative products, would be located in Tok Arun on the east coast of Peninsula
Malaysia. The project would be expected to serve the export market. PETRONAS is expected to hold a
67 percent interest in the ethylene/propylene cracker project and a 50 percent interest in the ethylene/
propylene derivatives project. The projects are expected to be completed in 2000, and the preliminary
estimated cost of the plant is approximately RM5,000 million (US$1,879 million). The ethylene/
propylene plant is expected to produce 600,000 mtpa of ethylene and 86,000 mtpa of propylene, while
the ethylene/propylene derivatives project is expected to produce, among others, 580,000 mtpa of
ethylene glycol and 546,000 mtpa of ethylene oxide. PETRONAS believes its relationship with Union
Carbide Corporation, one of the world's leading producers and distributors of oxide and glycol
derivatives, ‘will strengthen PETRONAS' competitive position in the area of ethylene/propylene
produgction.

Acrylic Acid. In April 1996, PETRONAS entered into a letter of intent with BASF Aktiengeselischaft
(“BASF"Y, where PETRONAS is expected to hold a 40 percent interest in a joint venture project to
produce acrylic acid. The project is expected to be completed in 1999, at an estimated cost of
approximately RM527 million (US$209 miliion), and is expected to produce 160,000 mtpa of acrylic acid.
Acrylic acid is used primarily for the production of textiles, adhesives, emulsion paints, paper coatings,
polish and leather finishes. The acrylic acid from the project is expected to be exported. PETRONAS
believes its relationship with BASF, one of the world's leading producers and distributors of acrylic acid,
will benefit PETRONAS’ acrylic business in the future.
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Chlor-Alkali/EDC.  In April 1996, PETRONAS signed a letter of intent with the Chemical Company of
Malaysia Berhad ('""CCM"") and the Asahi Glass Co. Ltd.-Mitsubishi Corporation consortium to construct,
own and operate a chlor-alkali plant and an EDC plant in Kertih. The plants, designed to produce
270,000 mtpa of caustic soda, 240,000 mtpa of chlorine and 330,000 mtpa of EDC, are estimated to cost
approximately an aggregate of RM655 million (US$260 million), and are expected to be completed in
1999. PETRONAS will hold a 20 percent interest in the chlor-alkali project and a 50 percent interest in the
EDC project. Asahi Glass Co. Ltd. is the largest producer of chlor-alkali in Asia, while Mitsubishi
Corporation is the leading marketer of caustic soda and EDC in Asia. Chlor-Alkali is used in the
production of chlorine and caustic soda, while EDC is a feedstock for the production of vinyl chloride
monomer and polymer,

Petrochemical Storage Terminal. In July 1996, PETRONAS signed a letter of intent with GATX
Terminals (PTE) Ltd., Dialog Group Berhad and Malaysian Capital Ventures Sdn. Bhd. to carry out a joint
venture project in Kertih and Kuantan for the construction of centralized chemical storage facilities.
PETRONAS will hold a 40 percent interest in the project. The storage facilities, with an aggregate design
throughput of approximately 3.25 mmtpa, are expected to be completed in 1989 at an estimated
aggregate cost of RM308 million {US$122 million).

Other Gas Business

PETRONAS has implemented a program involving the use of natural gas as an alternative motor
vehicle fuel. Commerciafization of this program is being undertaken by Petronas NGV Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of PETRONAS. In addition, PETRONAS is currently implementing a project involving the
supply of chilled water for air-conditioning generated by a natural gas fueled co-generation plant. The
project is being undertaken by Gas District Cooling (M) Sdn. Bhd., a joint venture company formed with
Tokyo Gas Company Limited, Mitsui and Co. Limited, Mitsubishi Corporation and PETRONAS.
PETRONAS holds a 60 percent interest in Gas District Cooling (M) Sdn. Bhd. The cooling system will be
used at PETRONAS' new headquarters as well as the new Kuala Lumpur international Airport.

Domestic Marketing

PETRONAS' domestic marketing activities are carried out by Petronas Dagangan Berhad
("'PETRONAS Dagangan''), which sells fuel oil, diesel, motor gasoline, kerosene, lubricants and LPG
produced by PETRONAS’ downstream facilities through a nationwide retail network. PETRONAS Dagan-
gan also provides jet fuel at airports and bunker fuel at ports. As of March 31, 1996, PETRONAS
Dagangan has a network of 474 service stations, eight LPG bottllng plants eleven bulk storage depots
and ten awatlon depots in Malaysia.

PETRONAS Dagangan was the first company in Malaysia to market unleaded gasoline, which it sells
under the brand name PRIMAS. PETRONAS Dagangan has succeeded in capturing the second largest
share of the Malaysian market for petroleum products and has emerged as the market leader in jet fuel,
fuel oit and LPG.

PETRONAS Dagangan owns 50 percent of a Multi-Product Pipeline and the Klang Valley Distribution
Terminal (KYDT). Among other things, this project includes an approximately 145 kilometer pipeline that
will fransport gasoline, jet-fuel and diesel oil from PETRCNAS' refinery in Melaka and Shell’s refinery in
Port Dickson to the KVDT which will be located south of Kuala Lumpur. PETRONAS Dagangan is also
participating in a joint venture company to develop an aviation fuel storage facility at the new Kuala
Lumpur International Airport being developed in Sepang.

PETRONAS Dagangan purchases its refined petroleum products from Petronas Trading Corporation
Sdn. Bhd. (“PETCQ"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of PETRONAS. PETCO purchases refined petroleum
products from PETRONAS’ refineries and other sources.

In 1994, the shares of PETRONAS Dagangan were listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. The
last reported transaction price for the shares as reported on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange on
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October 7, 1996 was RM7.30 per share. As of March 31, 1996 PETRONAS held a 73.9 percent interest in
PETRONAS Dagangan.

International Ventures

Consistent with its strategy of international expansion, PETRONAS is expanding its activities
throughout Asia and elsewhere in the world through joint ventures and subsidiaries engaged in the
importation, processing, storage, transportation and marketing of PETRONAS' oil and gas products.

South Africa. In June 1996, PETRONAS announced the acquisition of a 30 percent interest in
Engen Limited, a South African holding company with investments in oil and related industries.
PETRONAS' total investment for the interest was approximately US$436 miliion. The Engen group’s
business is the exploration for and production of crude cil and gas, the refining of crude oil, the marketing
and distribution of refined petroleum and petrochemical products in Southern Africa and provision of
convenience services through its retail network in Southern Africa. Among other things, Engen Limited
operates a 105,000 bpd refinery and has a network of approximately 1,400 service stations, including
84 service stations located outside of South Africa. Engen’s shares are listed on the Johannesburg Stock
Exchange and the Namibian Stock Exchange and had a market capitalisation of approximately USsS$1
billion at the time of PETRONAS acquisition. PETRONAS is now Engen Limited's largest shareholder and
two of the 15 Engen Limited's directors are PETRONAS representatives.

Engen Limited has two listed subsidiaries, Energy Africa Limited and Engen Botswana Limited.
Engen holds approximately 60 percent of Energy Africa Limited, which is an oil and gas exploration and
production group listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. Energy Africa Limited has existing
production interests in the North Sea, Oman and Congo, and exploration and development activities in
South Africa, Namibia, Angola, Congo and Gabon. Engen Limited holds 70 percent of Engen Botswana
Limited, a company listed on the Botswana Share Market, which markets and distributes petroleum
products throughout Botswana.

Vietnam. In February 1996, PETRONAS signed an agreement to undertake a detailed feasibility
study with respect to Vietnam'’s first refinery project, proposed to be built at Dung Quat, 130 kilometers
south of Danang. The agreement to undertake this study was signed with the partners in the project,
Vietnam Oil and Gas Corporation, LG Chemical Ltd., Stone & Webster International Projects Corp.,
Conoco Asia Limited, Chinese Petroleum Corporation and China Investment & Development Co. Ltd. A
PETRONAS-Conoco Asia Limited consortium is expected to hold a 30 percent interest in the project. The
project would invoive the construction of a 130,000 bpd refinery at an estimated total cost of
US$1.2 billion. The feasibility study is expected to be completed by the end of 1996.

PETRONAS has also established a joint venture company, Thang Long LPG Co., with Viet Nam Gas
Company to import, store, bottle and market LPG in northern Vietnam. The Vietnamese joint venture
company is currently planning to construct an LPG bottling facility in Haiphong.

Philippines. PETRONAS Philippines Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of PETRONAS, together with
several Philippine partners, has formed a joint venture company, PETRONAS Energy Philippines, Inc.,
which will undertake the importation, storage and distribution of LPG in Mindanao. PETRONAS Philip-
pines will hold a 40 percent interest in the venture.

Cambodia;” PETRONAS currently has a wholly-owned subsidiary with a network of eleven service
stations in Phnom Penh and is planning to open additional service stations by the end of 1996. In May,
1996 PETRONAS obtained a contract to supply diesel and fuel oil to Cambodia's independent power
producers.

China.  PETRONAS has a 20 percent interest in a joint venture company, Zhenjiang Zhonghai
PETRONAS NIC Oil and Gas Co. Ltd., which was formed in September 1995 with China National Offshore
Oil Donghai Corporation, Nissho lwai and Danyang Petroleum Gas Corporation. The joint venture will
construct an LPG terminal and three LPG bottling plants to recsive, store, bottle and distribute LPG in the
Gaozi area, Jiangsu Province, China.

34




PETRONAS also has a 30 percent interest in a joint venture company, Guangdong Yangjiang Hailing
{Sinopec-PETRONAS-NIC) Petrochemical Co. Ltd., formed under a joint venture agreement signed in
Aprit 1996. The joint venture will construct an LPG bottling plant in Zhapo on Hailing Island, Yangjiang in
Guangdong Province, China.

Yemen. PETRONAS has a 40,000 bpd crude oil processing arrangement with the Aden Refinery
Company, which operates a refinery with an operating capacity of 125,000 bpd. PETRONAS’ petroleum
products from the Aden Refinery Company are used primarily to supply the African and Indian sub-
continent market.

Seychelles. PETRONAS has obtained a 30 years terminaling arrangement with SEYPEC to serve
the East African market. PETRONAS has been allocated storage capacity of 30,000 metric tons.

Argentina.  In order to capitalize on its experience in the construction, operation and maintenance of
natural gas pipelines, in December 1992 PETRONAS acquired a 15 percent interest in Gasinvest S.A.,
which owns and operates gas transmission facilities in Argentina, for approximately US$32 million.

Australia. In June 1994, PETRONAS acquired an effective 23.5 percent interest in a 1,300 kilometer
pipeline facility in Australia for approximately A$67 million. PETRONAS' partners in the Australian pipeline
are Novacorp International and AGL Ltd.

Trading

PETCO purchases refined petroleum products and LPG from PETRONAS and sells it to PETRONAS
Dagangan, and abroad and trades non-indigenous crude and petroleum products in the international
market. PETCO does not take significant uncovered trading positions.

Maiaysian International Trading Corporation Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of PETRONAS,
sells fertilizers, agro-chemicals, industrial chemicals, petrochemicals and general merchandise. It also
procures equipment and spare parts for PETRONAS and third parties.

Other Activities
Research and Development

The Petroleum Research and Scientific’ Services Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of
PETRONAS, was established to provide research and development support services to PETRONAS, the
PSC Contractors and other corporations.

Kuala Lumpur City Centre Project

The construction of PETRONAS' new corporate headqua'rters (two 88 story towers) is currently
underway. The headquarters complex is being built as part of the Kuala Lumpur Gity Centre project and
is expected to be completed in-early 1997 at a cost of approximately RM2,751 million {(US$1,092
million). The headguarters complex is owned by Midciti Resources Sdn. Bhd. PETRONAS holds an
eftective 73.7 percent interest in Midciti Resources Sdn. Bhd., which will lease the headquarters to
PETRONAS. The Kuala Lumpur City Centre project is being undertaken by KLCC (Holdings) Sdn. Bhd.
on 100 acres of prime land situated in central Kuala Lumpur. Thirty-seven acres will be commercially
developed and the balance will be developed as a park. PETRONAS owns a 49.5 percent interest in
KLCC (Holdings) Sdn. Bhd.

Competition

The most significant factors impacting PETRONAS® ability to export its crude oil and natural gas are
fluctuating prices and varying demand.

PETRONAS faces competition in the marketing and distribution of petroleum products in the
domestic retail market. Competition for domestic sales of such products comes principally from the
international petroleum companies that have refineries within, or accessible to, Malaysia and operate
service stations in Malaysia. These companies include Shell, Esso, Mobil, Caltex and BP. These same
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companies also compete in the provision of fuel to industrial users and government agencies. Retail
prices of petroleum products at service stations in Malaysia are regulated by the Malaysian government.
PETRONAS also faces competition in the marketing of its petrochemical products from other petrochemi-
cal producers in Malaysia and in the region.

PETRONAS faces no competition in the domestic sale of natural gas products. This sector is
expected to continue to grow as Malaysia plans to satisfy its growing energy needs primarily through use
of natural gas for power generation. PETRONAS" export sales of LNG are made pursuant to long-term
supply contracts.

PETRONAS compsetes with major international oil and gas and petrochemical companies in_its
international and certain of its domestic operations.

Insurance

PETRONAS maintains a set of comprehensive insurance policies with third parties for all its business
activities, including insurance against certain environmental accidents such as oil spills.

Human Resources
At March 31, 1996, PETRONAS and its subsidiaries employed a total of 13,640 people.

PETRONAS believes it is important to provide its employees with ongoing training and offers its staff
training courses covering plant operations and management, refinery operations, marketing and general
management. PETRONAS Management Training Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary, provides func-
tional and management development training for PETRONAS and the oit and gas industry in Mafaysia in
general. In addition, PETRONAS' foreign partners, primarily the foreign PSC Contractors, are required to
provide training to PETRONAS employees under the Production Sharing Contracts.

Approximately 5,465 of PETRONAS' employees belong to the three regional branches of its in-house
union. PETRONAS' union agreements typically have a term of three years. The agreements with two of
the union branches expired at the end of June 1995. One of the agreements was renewed and signed in
March 1996 while the other agreement has been referred to the Industriai Court of Malaysia. Pending the
decision of the Industrial Court of Malaysia regarding the second agreement, the terms of the expired
agreement remain in effect. The agreement with the third union branch expired in June 1992. The parties
have been unable to reach agreement on the terms of a new agreement and the matter is currently before
the High Court of Malaysia on appeal. Pending agreement on the terms of the new agreement with the
third union branch, the terms of the expired agreement remain in effect. Managernent believes it generally
has a good relationship with its employees and with its in-house union.

PETRONAS maintains & non-contributory pension plan for all employees. The pension fund,
PETRONAS’ Retirement Benefit Fund, is governed by a trust deed and is administered by a board of
trustees. Based upon actuarial advice received by management, PETRONAS believes the plan is
adequately funded. In addition, PETRONAS and its employees contribute to the Employee Provident
Fund, a mandatory employee retirement fund administered by a Board appointed by the Malaysian
Government.
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MANAGEMENT
Directors

The Articles of Association of PETRONAS provide that the Board of Directors shall consist of not less
than two and not more than 15 directors. The Board of Directors of PETRONAS currently comprises eight
individuals, all of whom were appointed by the shareholders of PETRONAS. Pursuant to PETRONAS'
Articles of Association, the Board consists of the Chairman, the executive members (the President and
Chief Executive Officer and the Senicr Vice-Presidents) and non-executive membears. While one-third of
the non-executive members of the Board are up for reappointment at each annual meeting, the Chairman

and the executive members are not subject to annual re-appointment.

The current directors of PETRONAS are as follows:

Name

Tan Sri Datuk Seri Azizan bin Zainul
Abidin

Dato’ Mohd. Hassan bin Marican

Tan Sri Datuk Clifford F. Herbert

Dato’ Zaki bin Tun Azmi

Tan Sri Dato' Ali Abul Hassan bin
Sufaiman

Dato' Syed Alwi bin Syed Nordin

Dato” Mohamad Idris bin Mansor
Dato' Hamzah bin Bakar

Dato’ Iskandar Dzakurnain bin
Badarudin (alternate to Tan Sri
Datuk Clifford F. Herbert}

Management Committee

The Management Committee of PETRONAS is primarily responsible for overseeing PETRONAS'
operations. The Management Committee is comprised of executive members of the Board of Directors

Current Position /Occupation

Chairman

President and Chief Executive Officer
Secretary General, Ministry of Finance
Advocate and Solicitor

Director General, Economic Planning
Unit — Prime Minister’'s Department

Director General, Implementation,
Coordination Unit — Prime Minister’s
Department

Senior Vice-President
Senior Vice-President

Secretary, Tax Analysis Division
Ministry of Finance

Diractor Since

February 10, 1988

February 27,1989
August 30, 1994
October 1, 1988
August 27, 1991

December 1, 1993

October 1, 1993
March 14, 1995

September 28,
1994

and senior management. The current members of the Management Commitiee are as follows:

Dato’ Mohd. Hassan bin Marican

Dato’ Mohamad [dris bin Mansor

Date’ Hamzah bin Bakar
Mohd. Ali bin Yasin

Haji Mohamed Zohari bin Mohamed
Shaharun

Tan Sri Dato’ Mohd. Noordin
bin Hassan

Current Position

President and Chief Executive
Officer

Senior Vice-President,
Managing Director/CEO
PETRONAS Carigali

Senior Vice-President,
Refining & Marketing

Vice-President,
Gas & Petrochemical

Vice-President,
Technology Resource Management

Vice-President,
Human Resource Management
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February 1, 1976

June 2, 1980
March 3, 1975
April 24, 1981

September 7, 1994



Date Joined

Name Current Position PETRONAS

Ishak bin Imam Abas Vice-President, Finance March 2, 1981

Muri bin Muhammad Vice President, Gas Business August 1, 1975

Anwarrudin bin Ahamad Osman Managing Director /CEQ, May 2, 1975
PETRONAS Dagangan

Abdul Rahim bin Abu Bakar Managing Director/CEQ, May 1, 1895
PETRONAS Gas

Abdul Hamid lbrahim Managing Director/ CEO, MLNG June 1, 1976

Compensation

The aggregate compensation paid by PETRONAS to the members of its Management Committee in
the fiscal year ended March 31, 1996 for services in all capacities was approximately RM3.934 million
{US$1.561 million).

SHARE OWNERSHIP

The following table sets forth certain information as of March 31, 1996 with respect to the owners of
PETRONAS' shares.

Name of Owner Parcent of Ownership
The Minister of Finance (Incorporated) of Malaysia .............. ... 0 o0 99.99
The Federal Land Commissioner of Malaysia .......... ... . o v aih, 0.01

RELATIONSHIP WiTH THE GOVERNMENT OF MALAYSIA

PETRONAS was established by the Government of Malaysia in 1974 to own and manage the
petroleum resources of Malaysia. PETRONAS' Articles of Association provide that the Government of
Malaysia is the only entity entitled to be a shareholder of PETRONAS.

Under the Malaysian Companies Act, as owner of PETRONAS, the Government controls the approval
of all corporate matters that require shareholder resolution, including approval of dividends and
appointment of directors. Various Government officials currently serve on PETRONAS' Board of Directors,
including the Secretary General of the Ministry of Finance, the Director General, Economic Planning
Unit — Prime Minister's Department and the Director General, Implementation, Coordination Unit —
Prime Minister’'s Department.

PETRONAS plays an important role in the implementation of the Government of Malaysia's oil and
gas policy. In addition to its relationship with the Government as its shareholder, PETRONAS consults
informally with the Government on matters relating to energy policy and central planning. Since its
incorporation, PETRONAS has played an integral role in helping Malaysia achieve the objectives set forth
in each of the Governments’ five-year economic plans. See "“Appendix A — Malaysia — Economic Policy
and Planning”,

Absent a contractual obligation, the Government of Malaysia is not liable for PETRONAS’ obligations.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Malaysia has adopted a legislative framework for the control of pollution and the protection of the
environment in Malaysia which includes the Environmental Quality Act 1974 and the regulations enacted
pursuant thereto and the Petroleum (Safety Measures) Act 1984 and the regulations enacted pursuant
therato. As a fully integrated oil and gas company, PETRONAS and its activities are subject to these laws
and regulations. In addition, PETRONAS' overseas activities are subject to the laws of various other
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jurisdictions. Management believes that PETRONAS is in compliance in all material respects with all
applicable environmental laws and regulations. However, some risk of environmental costs and liabilities
is inherent in the operations of PETRONAS, as it is with all companies in the oil and gas industry, and
there can be no assurance that material costs and liabilities will not be incurred in the future.

PETRONAS, as owner and manager of the oil and gas resources of Malaysia, has established its own
detailed environmental requirements that inciude environmental impact assessment (“EIA™") studies, oil
spill contingency plans, post-EIA monitoring, environmental auditing and inspections, environmental
studies and monitoring for all PETRONAS projects.

LITIGATION
PETRONAS is not currently involved in any material litigation or similar dispute.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SECURITIES

The Securities will be issued pursuant to a Fiscal Agency Agreement (the “Fiscal Agency
Agreement’’) dated as of August 1, 1995 between PETRONAS and The Bank of New York, as Fiscal
Agent (the “Fiscal Agent"), which provides for the issuance of unlimited series of debt securities. The
following summaries of certain provisions of the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes, the Bonds and the Fiscal
Agency Agreement do not purpoert to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by reference to the
provisions of the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes, the Bonds and the Fiscal Agency Agreement.

General

The 2001 Notes will be limited to US$600,000,000 aggregate principal amount and will mature on
October 18, 2001, the 2006 Notes will be timited to US$800,000,000 aggregate principal amount and will
mature on October 18, 2006 and the Bonds will be limited to US$500,000,000 aggregate principal
amount and will mature on October 15, 2026 (each such maturity date, a “Maturity Date”). The
Securities are the direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured general obiigations of
PETRONAS. Each of the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes and the Bonds will rank pari passu among
themselves, without any preference of one over the other by reason of priority of date of issue or
otherwise, and at least equally with all other outstanding unsubordinated general obligations of
PETRONAS.

Each of the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes and the Bonds will bear interest from October 18, 1996 at
the rates per annum shown on the cover page of this Offering Circular, respectively. Interest on the 2001
Notes and the 2006 Notes will be payable semi-annually on April 18 and October 18, commencing
April 18, 1997 and interest on_the Bonds will be payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15,
commencing on April 15, 1997 (each such interest payment date for the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes
and the Bonds, an “Interest Payment Date™), to the perscns in whose name the Securities (or any
predecessor Securities) are registered at the close of business on the fifteenth day preceding such
Interest Payment Date. Interest on 'the Securities will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year
consisting of twelve 30-day months. Any payment of principal or interest otherwise required to be made
in respect of a Security on a date that is not a Business Day need not be made on such date, but may be
made on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if made on such date, and
no additional interest shall accrue as a result of such defayed payment. “Business Day' means any day,
other than a Saturday or Sunday, that is not a day on which banking institutions are authorized or required
by law or executive order to be closed in New York City or Kuala Lumpur. Persons in whose name a
registered Security is held are herein referred to as “‘Holders’".

PETRONAS' senior unsecured long-term debt has credit ratings of *“A1"" (Moody's Investors Service,
Inc.) and “A+" with a positive outlook (Standard & Poor's).

The Global Securities

The Securities sold outside the United States in offshore transactions (the “Unrestricted Securi-
ties"') in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act, subject to certain exceptions, will be
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represented by one or more global certificates in fully registered form without coupons (collectively, the
“Unrestricted Global Security'') deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of, a nominee
of the Depository for the accounts of Euroclear and Cedel. Until and including the 40th day after the
commencement of the offering of the Securities (the "'Restricted Date), beneficial interests in the
Unrestricted Global Security may be held only through Eurociear or Cedel.

The Securities sold in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act (the “Restricted Securities™ ),
subject to certain exceptions, will be represented by one or more global certificates in fully registered
torm without coupons, (collectively, the “'Restricted Global Security”’, and together with the Unrestricted
Global Security, the *“Global Securities’' ) deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of, a
nominee of the Depository. The Restricted Global Security will be subject to certain restrictions on
transfer as set forth in a legend appearing thereon as described in *'Notice to Investors'’. On or prior to
the Restricted Date, an interest in the Unrestricted Global Security may be transferred to a person who
takes delivery in the form of an interest in the Restricted Global Security only upon receipt by the Fiscal
Agent of (A) instructions from the Depository directing the Fiscal Agent to effect the exchange or
transfer of an interest in a Unrestricted Global Security and (B) a written certification (in the form
provided for in the Fiscal Agency Agreement) from the transferor to the effect that such transfer is being
made to a person whom the transferor reasonably believes to be a “qualified institutional buyer’" within
the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities Act and in accordance with any applicable securities laws
of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction. After the Restricted Date, such certification
from the transferor will no longer be required for purposes of such transfers. Interests.in the Restricted
Global Security may be transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in the
Unrestricted Global Security, whether before, on or after the Restricted Date, only upon receipt by the
Fiscal Agent of, among other things, a written certification (in the form provided for in the Fiscal Agent
Agreement) from the transferor. Any interest in the other Global Security will, upon transfer, cease to be
an interest in such Global Security and become an interest in the other Global Security and, accordingly,
will thereafter be subject to all transfer restrictions and other procedures applicable to beneficial interest
in such other Global Securities for as long as it remains such an interest. Interests in the Securities
represented by such Global Securities will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only
through, records maintained by the Depository and its direct and indirect participants, including Euroclear
and Cedel.

The Depository for a Global Security or its nominee, as the case may be, as registered Holder of such
Globai Security will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Securities represented by such Giobal
Security for all purposes under such Securities and the Fiscal Agency Agreement, unless otherwise
provided therein. , S e . RS

Principal and interest payments of any Securities represented by a Global Security registered in the
name of the Depository or it nominee will be made to the Depository or its nominee, as the case may be,
as the registered owner of such Global Security. None of PETRONAS, the Fiscal Agent or any paying
agent for such Securities will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or
payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in such Global Securities or for maintaining,
supervising or raviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

PETRONAS expects that the Depository, upon receipt of any payment of principal or interest, will
credit participants’ accounts with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial
interests in the principal amount of such Global Securities as shown on the records of the Depository.
PETRONAS also expects that the payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in such
Global Securities held through such participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary
practices, as is now the case with securities held for the account of customers registered in “'street
names'', and will be the responsibility of such participants.

The Depository has advised PETRONAS as follows: The Depository is a limited purpose trust
company organized under the laws of the State of New York, a member of the U.S. Federal Reserve
System, a ‘‘clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a
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“clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act. The
Depository was created to hold securities for its participants and facilitate the clearance and settlement
of securities transactions between participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of its
participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Participants inciude
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corpoerations and may include certain
other organizations. Indirect access to the Depaository is available to others, such as banks, brokers,
dealers and trust companies, that ciear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Depository
participant, either directly or indirectly.

Settlement and Clearance
Initial settlement for the Securities will be made in same-day funds.

Upon the issuance of the Global Securities, the Depository or its Custodian will credit, on its book-
entry registration and transfer system, the respective principal amounts of the 2001 Notes, the 2006
Notes or the Bonds, as the case may be, represented by such Global Securities to the accounts of
persons that have accounts with the Depository (“‘participants™). The accounts to be initially credited
shall be designated by or on behalf of the Initial Purchasers. Ownership of beneficial interests in the
Global Securities will be limited to participants or persons that may hold interests through participants.
Qwnership of beneficial interests in such Global Securities will be shown on, and the transfer of that
ownership will be effected only through, records maintained by the Depository or its nominee for such
Global Securities (with respect to interests of participants) or by participants or persons that hold
through participants (with respect to interests of persons other than participants).

Subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Securities described above and
under “'Notice to Investors’ below, cross-market transfers between the Depository, on the one hand, and
direct or indirect Euroclear or Cedel accountholders, on the other, will be effected in the Depository, in
accordance with the Depository's rules. Such cross-market transactions will require delivery of instruc-
tions to Euroclear or Cedel by the counterparty in such system in accordance with its rules and
procedures and within its established deadlines. Euroclear or Cedel will, if the transaction meets its
settlement requirements, deliver instructions to its respective depository to take action to effect final
settlemnent on its behalf by delivering or recsiving beneficial interests in the relevant Global Security in the
Depository and making or receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for same-day funds
settlement applicabie to the Depository. Euroclear accountholders and Cedel accountholders may not
deliver instructions directly to the depcsitories for Euroclear or Cedel.

Because of time-zone differences, credits of securities received in Euroclear or Cedel as a result of a
transaction with a Depository participant will be made during the securities settiement processing day
dated the business day following the Depository’s settlement date and such credits will be reported to
the relevant Euroclear or Cedel participant on such business day. Cash received in Eurociear or Cedel as
a result of sales of securities by or through a Euroclear accountholder or a Cedel accountholder to a
Depository participant will be received with value on the Depository’s settlement date but will be available
in the relevant Euroclear or Cedel cash account only as of the business day following the Depository’s
gettlement date. Settlement between Euroclear or Cedel accountholders and Depository participants
cannot be made on a delivery versus payment basis. The arrangements for transfer of payments must be
established separately from the arrangements for transfer of securities, the latter being effected on a free
delivery basis. The customary arrangements for delivery versus payment between Euroclear and Cedel
accountholders or between Depository participants are not affected.

Although the Depository, Euroclear and Cedel have agreed to the procedures described above in
order to facilitate transfers of securities among participants of the Depository, Euroclear and Cedel, they
are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures and such procedures may be
modified or discontinued at any time. Neither PETRONAS nor the Fiscal Agent will have any responsibility
for the performance by the Depository, Euroclear or Cedel or their respective participants or indirect
participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.
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Restrictions on Transter

The Securities may not be sold or otherwise transferred except in accordance with the restrictions
described under *‘Notice to Investors’.

Definitive Securities

In the event that (i) the Depository notifies PETRONAS in writing that at any time the Depository is
unwilling or unable to continue as Depositary or ceases to be a *'clearing agency” registered under the
Exchange Act, and a successor Depository is not appointed by PETRONAS within 90 days after
PETRONAS is notified by the Depository or becomes aware of such condition or (ii) the 2001 Notes, the
2006 Notes and the Bonds have become immediately due and payable pursuant to the Fiscal Agency
Agreement, PETRONAS will issue the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes and the Bonds in definitive form
(collectively, the “‘Definitive Securities' and each a "Definitive Security”) in exchange for the Global
Securities representing such 2001 Notes, such 2006 Notes or such Bonds. Any Securities to be issued in
definitive form will be issued only in fully registered form without coupons In denominations of $100,000
and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess thereof.

Payment of the principal of any Definitive Security shall be made, upon presentation and surrender of
such Security, by check drawn on a bank in The City of New York at the option of the Holder, either (i) at
the corporate trust office of the Fiscal Agent in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, or
(i) subject to any applicable laws or regulations and the right of PETRONAS to terminate the
appointment of any such paying agency, at such other paying agencies as PETRONAS may designate
from time to time. Payments of interest on any Security shall be made by check drawn on a bank in The
City of New York mailed to the address of the person entitled thereto as such address shall appear on the
securities register (the ''Securities Register'"} maintained by the Fiscal Agent pursuant to the Fiscal
Agency Agreement. PETRONAS and the Fiscal Agent may deem and treat the registered Holder of any
Definitive Security as the absolute owner of the Security (notwithstanding any nctice of ownership or
other writing on such Security) for the purposes of receiving payment on such Security or on account of
such Security and for all other purposes.

The Holders of Definitive Securities shall present directly at the corporate trust office of the Fiscal
Agent in New York or of any other transfer agent all requests for the registration of any transfer of such
Securities, for the exchange of such Securities for new Definitive Securities in authorized denominations
and for the replacement of such Securities in the case of mutilation, destruction, loss or theft. Every
certificate representing Definitive Securities presented or surrendered for registration of transfer or for
exchange shall be duly endorsed, or be accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form
satisfactory to PETRONAS and the Fiscal Agent, duly executed by the Holder thereof or his attorney duly
authorized in writing. The registration of any transfer of Definitive Securities in the Securities Register is
also subject to any reasonable requirements of PETRONAS. Except for the expenses of delivery other
than by regular mail, no service charge shall be made for any exchange or registration of transfer, but
PETRONAS may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp tax or other governmentat
charge payable in connection therewith. No registrations of transfers or exchanges of Definitive Securities
shall be made of any such Securities that have been called for redemption.

The Fiscal Agency Agreement provides that Definitive Securities will be issued to replace Definitive
Securities which have been mutilated, destroyed, stolen or lost upon payment of certain costs associated
with such replacement and on certain terms as to evidence and indemnity. in the case of destroyed,
stolen or lost Definitive Securities, replacement Definitive Securities will not be issued if either PETRONAS
or the Fiscal Agent has notice that such Securities have been acquired by a bona fide purchaser.
Mutilated Definitive Securities must be surrendered before replacements will be issued. In the event any
such mutilated, destroyed, stolen or lost Definitive Security has become or is about to become due and
payable, PETRONAS in its discretion may, instead of issuing a new Definitive Security, pay or cause to be
paid such Security.
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All Definitive Securities issued as a result of any transfer, exchange or replacement of Securities will
be delivered to the Holder at the corporate trust office of the Fiscal Agent or (at the risk of the Holder)
sent by mail to such address as is specified by the Holder in the Hoider’s request for transfer, exchange
or replacement.

Special Tax Redemption

The Securities may be redeemed at the option of PETRONAS, in whole but not in part, upon not less
than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice, at any time, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount
thereof plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption only if, as a result of any change in or
amendment to the laws of Malaysia (or of any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein)
or any regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder. or any change in the official interpretation or official
application of such laws, regulations or rulings, or any changenin the official application or interpretation
of, or any execution of or amendment to, any treaty or treaties affecting taxation to which Malaysia (or
such political subdivision or taxing authority) is a party, which change, amendment or treaty becomes
effective on or after the date of this Offering Circular, PETRONAS is or would be required on the next
succeeding due date for a payment with respect to the Securities to pay additional amounts with respect
to the Securities as described below under "Description of the Securities — Additional Amounts™. Prior
to any redemption of the Securities, PETRONAS shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate stating that
PETRONAS is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the
conditions precedent to the right of redemption have occurred.

Maturity; Purchase

Unless previously redeemed, purchased or cancelled as described herein, each Security shall
mature on its respective Maturity Date, and on such Maturity Date, the Holder of such Security shall be
entitled to a payment equal to the principal amount and premium, if any, of such Security outstanding on
such Maturity Date.

PETRONAS may at any time purchase Securities by tender (available to all Holders alike) or in the
open market at any price. If PETRONAS shall acquire any Securities, such acquisition shall not operate as
or be deemed for any purpose to be a satisfaction of the indebtedness represented by such Securities
unless and until such Securities are delivered to the Fiscal Agent for cancellation and are cancelled and
retired by the Fiscal Agent.

Additional Amounts

All payments of principal and interest by PETRONAS in respect of the Securities will be made without
withholding or deduction for, ‘'or-on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or
governmental charges of whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behaif of Malaysia, or any authority
therein or thereof having power to tax, uniess the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges is required by law. In that event, PETRONAS will pay such
additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Holders of the
Securities after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest
which would have been receivable in respect of the Securities in the absence of such withhelding or
deduction, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable in respect of any Security:

(i) toor on behalf of a Holder or beneficial owner who is subject to such taxes, duties, assessments
or governmental charges by reason of having some connection with Malaysia otherwise than by
reason only of the holding of any Securities or the receipt of principal or interest in respect of any
Securities; or

{ii) ‘to or on behalf of a Holder or beneficial owner who would not be liable for or subject to such
deduction or withholding by making a declaration of non-residence or cther similar claim for
exemption to the relevant tax authority if, after having been requested to make such a declaration or
claim, such holder fails to do so; or
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(i) to or on behalf of a Holder or beneficial owner who presents such Security (where presentation
is required) for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the
Holder or beneficial owner thereof would have been entitled to such additional amounts on
presenting the same for payment on the last day of such 30-day period; or

(iv) any combination of (i), (ii) or (iii) above.

The obligation to pay taxes, duties, assessments and governmental charges shall not apply to
(a) any estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property or any similar tax, assessment or other
governmental charge or (b) any tax, assessment or other governmental charge which is payable
otherwise than by deduction or withholding from payments of principal of or interest on the Securities;
provided that, except as otherwise set forth in the Securities and in the Figgal Agency Agreement,
PETRONAS shall pay all stamp and other duties, if any, which may be imposed by Malaysia, the United
States or any respective political subdivision thereof or any taxing authority of or in the foregoing, with
respect to the Fiscal Agency Agreement or as a conseguence of the initial issuance of the Securities.

As used herein, the “Relevant Date” means the date on which such payment first becomes due,
except that, if the amount of the moneys payable has not been received in New York City by the Fiscal
Agent on or prior to such date, it means the date on which, the fuli amount of such moneys having been
so received, notice to that effect shall have been duly given to the holders of the Securities.

Any reference in the Securities to principal or interest shall be deemed also to refer to'any additional
amounts which may be payable as described above.

Certain Covenants
Negative Pledge

So long as any of the Securities are outstanding, PETRONAS (not including any of its subsidiaries )
shall not create, incur, or have outstanding any mortgage, pledge, lien, charge, encumbrance or any other
security interest (“'Lien”’) upon the whole or any part of its property or assets, present or future, to
secure for the benefit of the holders of any existing or future Indebtedness of itself or any other person (or
to secure for the benefit of the holders therecf any guarantee or.indemnity in respect thereof) without, in
any such case, effectively providing that the Securities shall be secured equally and ratably with or prior
to such Indebtedness (or such guarantee or indemnity in respect thereof), unless, after giving effect
thereto, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all such secured Indebtedness (other than the
Indebtedness secured by liens described in clauses (i) through (v} below) plus Attributable Debt of
PETRONAS in respect of Sale/Leaseback Transactions as described under clause {x) in ‘‘Limitation
Upon Sale and Leaseback Transactions” below, would not exceed 10 perpént of Consolidated Net
Tangible Assets. ' s ;

The foregoing restriction will not apply to Indebtedness secured by:
(i} any Lien existing on the date of the Fiscal Agency Agreement;

{ii) any Lien existing on any property or asset prior to the acquisition thereof by PETRONAS or
arising after such acquisition pursuant to contractual commitments entered into prior to and not in
contemplation of such acquisition;

(i) any Lien on any property or asset securing Indebtedness incurred or assumed for the purpose
of finanging the purchase price thereof or the cost of construction, improvement or repair of all or any
part thereof, provided that such Lien attaches to such property concurrently with or within 12 months
after the acquisition thereof or completion of construction, improvement or repair thereof;

(iv).any Lien securing Indebtedness owing to or held by PETRONAS; or

(v) any Lien arising out of the refinancing, extension, renewal or refunding of any indebtedness
secured by any Lien permitted by any of the foregoing clauses, provided that such Indebtedness is
not increased and is not secured by any additional property or assets.
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For purposes hereof, the following definitions shall apply:

"Indebtedness’ means any obligation for the payment or repayment of money borrowed which has a
final maturity of one year or more from its date of incurrence or issuance,

Limitation Upon Sale and Leaseback Transactions

So long as any of the Securities are outstanding, PETRONAS (not including any of its subsidiaries)
may not enter into any Sale/lLeaseback Transaction, uniess either (x) the Attributable Debt of
PETRONAS in respect of such Sale/Leaseback Transaction and all other Sale/Leaseback Transactions
(other than transactions as are permitted by clause (y) below), plus the aggregate outstanding principal
amount of Indebtednass secured by Liens then outstanding (excluding any such Indebtedness secured
by Liens described in clauses (i} through {v) under "“Negative Pledge"” above) without equally and
ratably securing the Securities, would not exceed 10 percent of Consolidated Net Tangible Assets, or
(y) PETRONAS, within 12 months after such Sale/Leaseback Transaction, applies to the retirement of
Indebtedness of PETRONAS which is not subordinate to any security issued under the Fiscal Agency
Agreement, an amount equal to the greater of {A) the net proceeds of the sale or transfer of the property
or other assets which are the subject of such Sale/Leaseback Transaction or {B) the fair market value of
the property or other assets so leased (in each case as determined by PETRONAS). The foregoing
restriction shall not apply to any transaction between PETRONAS and a subsidiary.

“Attributable Debt” means, with respect to any Sale/Leaseback Transaction, the lesser of (x) the
fair market value of the property or other assets subject to such transaction and {y) the present value
(discounted at a rate per annum equal to the discount rate of a capital lease obligation with a like term in
accordance with Malaysian GAAP) of the obligations of the lessee for'net rentat payments (excluding
amounts on account of maintenance and repairs, insurance, taxes, assessments, water rates and similar
charges and contingent rents) during the term of the lease.

“Consolidated Net Tangible Assets’ means, with respect toc any Series, the total amount of assets of
PETRONAS and its consolidated subsidiaries as set forth on the most recent available audited balance
sheet of PETRONAS and its consolidated subsidiaries and computed in accordance with Malaysian
GAAP, including investments in associated companies but after deducting therefrom (a) all current
liabilities, (b) expenditures carried forward, including all ‘goodwill, trade names, trademarks, patents,
unamortized debt, discount and expense and other like intangible assets, if any, and {c) all write-ups of
fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation thereon, occurring after (x) March 31, 1995, with respect
to any Series issued prior to March 31, 1998, or (y) with respect to any Series issued on or after
March 31, 1996 (including the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes and the Bonds}, the date of the most recent
audited balance sheet of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries next preceding the date on
which such Series is issued.

"“Sale/Leaseback Transaction’' means any arrangement with any person that provides for the
leasing by PETRONAS, for an initial term of three years or more, of any property or other assets, whather
now owned or hereafter acquired, which are to be sold or transferred by PETRCGNAS after the date of the
Fiscal Agency Agreement to such person for a sale price of US$1,000,000 (or the equivalent thereof) or
more where the rental payments are denominated in a currency other than ringgit.

Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets

PETRONAS, without the consent of the Holders of any of the Securities, may consolidate with, or
merge-into, or sell, transfer, lease or convey its assets substantially as an entirety to any corporation
organized and existing under the laws of Malaysia, provided that (i} any successor corporation expressly
assumes PETRONAS’ obligations under the Securities and the Fiscal Agency Agreement, (ii) after giving
effect to the transaction, no Event of Default {as defined below) and no event which, atter notice or lapse
of time or both, would become an Event of Default, shall have cccurred and be continuing, and
{iil) certain other conditions specified in the Fiscal Agency Agreement are satisfied.
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Events of Default

The occurrence and continuance of the following will constitute events of default (“Events of
Default’') with respect to any series of Securities (including the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes and the
Bonds): (i) default in the payment of any installment of interest upon any of such Securities as and when
the same shall become due and payable, and continuance of such default for a period of 30 days; or
(it) default in the payment of all or any part of the principal of any of such Securities as and when the
same shall become due and payable, whether at maturity, upon redemption or otherwise; or (iii) failure
on the part of PETRONAS duly to observe or perform any other of the covenants or agreements on the
part of PETRONAS contained in such Securities or in the Fiscal Agency Agreement for a period of 60
days after the date on which written notice specifying such failure, stating that such notice is a “"Notice of
Default’ under such Securities and demanding that PETRONAS remedy the same, shall have been given
by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested to PETRONAS at the office of the Fiscal Agent by
the Holders of at least 10 percent in aggregate principal amount of such Securities at the time
outstanding; or (iv) any indebtedness of PETRONAS for borrowed money in the aggregate outstanding
principal amount of US$30,000,000 or its equivaient in any other currency or currencies or more gither
(a} becoming due and payable prior to the due date for payment thereof by reason of acceleration
thereof following default by PETRONAS or (b) not being repaid at, and remaining unpaid after, maturity
as extended by the period of grace, if any, applicable thereto, or any guarantee given by PETRONAS in
respect of indebtedness of any other person in the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
US$30,000,000 or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies not being honored when, and
remaining dishanored after becoming, due and called, provided that, it any such default under any such
indebtedness shall be cured or waived, then the default under such Securities by reason thereof shall be
deemed to have been cured and waived; or (v) the Government of Malaysia ceasing to own and control
(directly or indirectly} at least 51 percent of the issued and outstanding capital stock of PETRONAS; or
(vi) certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency relating to PETRONAS. An Event of Default with respect
to any series of Securities would not necessarily constitute an Event of Default with respect to any other
series of Securities issued under the Fiscal Agency Agreement.

In each such case, the Holders of not less than 25 percent in aggregate principal amount of such
Securities then outstanding, by notice to PETRONAS as provided in the Fiscal Agency Agreement may
declare the principal of all such Securities, and the interest accrued thereon, to be due and payable
immediately. However, such Securities shall not be due and payable immediately if, prior to the time when
PETRONAS receives such notice, all events of default provided for herein in respect of such Securities
shalt have been cured. If, at any time after the principal of such Securities shall have been so declared
due and payable, and before any judgment or decree for the payment of the monies due shall have been
obtained or entered, PETRONAS shall pay or deposit with the Fiscal Agent a sum sufficient to pay all
monies then due with respect to such Securities (other than amounts due solely because of such
declaration) and cures all other Events of Default with respect to such Securities, then the Holders of
more than 50 percent in aggregate outstanding principal amount of such Securities may waive all defaults
and rescind and annul such declaration and its cocnsequences.

Prescription

Any monies paid by PETRONAS to the Fiscal Agent for the payment of the principal of or interest on
any Securities and remaining unclaimed at the end of two years after such principal or interest shall have
become due and payable and shall have been paid to the Fiscal Agent by PETRONAS, shall then be
repaid to PETRONAS, and upon such repayment, all hability of the Fiscal Agent with respect to such
monies shall thereupon cease and the Holder of any Securities representing a claim therefor shall
thereafter look only to PETRONAS for payment thereof.

Under New York law, any legal action upon the Securities must be commenced within six years after
the payment thereof is due. Thereafter the Securities will generally become unenforceable.
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Modification, Amendment and Waiver

Amendments to the Fiscal Agency Agreement may be made, without the consent of Holders of
Securities, for the purpose of adding to the covenants of PETRONAS for the benefit of such Holders,
surrendering any right or power cenferred upon PETRONAS, securing the Securities pursuant to the
requirements of such securities or otherwise, or curing any ambiguity, or correcting or supplementing any
defective provision contained in the Fiscal Agency Agreement, or in regard to such matters or questions
arising under the Fiscal Agency Agreement as PETRONAS and the Fiscal Agent may deem necessary or
desirable, provided such action shall not adversely affect in any material respect the interests of the
Holders of such Securities at the time outstanding. In all cther cases, amendment of the Fiscal Agency
Agreement will require consent of the Holders.

Modifications and-:amendments to the Fiscal Agency Agreement or any series of Securities
(including the 2001 Notes, the 2006 Notes and the Bonds) requiring consent of Holders of such
Securities may be made, and future compliance therewith or past defaults by PETRONAS may be waived,
with the consent of PETRONAS and the Holders of more than 50 percent in aggregate principal amount of
such Securities, at the time outstanding, affected by such modification, amendment or waiver or of such
lesser percentage as may act at a meeting of Holders; provided that no such modification, amendment or
waiver of the Fiscal Agency Agreement or any Security may, without the consent of each Holder affected
thereby, (i) change the stated maturity of the principal of or interest on any such Security; {ii) reduce
the principal of or interest on any such Security; (iii) change the currency of payment of the principal of
or interest on any such Security; or (iv) reduce the above-stated percentage of aggregate principal
amount of such Securities outstanding or reduce the quorum requirements or the percentage of votes
required for the taking of any action.

Meetings of Holders of Securitles

PETRONAS at any time may, and at any time after any series of Securities (including the 2001
Notes, the 2006 Notes and the Bonds} shall have become immediately due and payable due to an Event
of Default, upon a request in writing made by Holders hoiding not less than 25 percent of the aggregate
outstanding principal amount of such Securities, the Fiscal Agent shall, convene a meeting of Holders of
such Securities. At a meeting of the Holders of such Securities, persons entitled to vote a majority in
aggregate principal amount of such Securities, at the time cutstanding shall constitute a quorum. In the
absence of a quorum at any such meeting, the meeting may be adjourned; in the absence of a quorum at
any such adjourned meeting, such adjourned meeting may be further adjourned; at the reconvening of
any meeting further adjourned for lack of a quorum, the persons entitled to vote 25 percent in aggregate
principal amount of such Securities at the time outstanding shall constitute a quorum for the taking of any
action set forth in the notice of the original meeting. Any resolution at a meeting of Holders of such
Securities to modify or amend, or to waive compliance with, any of the covenants or conditions referred to
above (other than those set forth below as requiring the consent of each Holder of a Security, affected
thereby} shall be adopted if passed by the lesser of () a majority in aggregate principal amount of such
Securities then outstanding or (i) 75 percent in aggregate principal amount of such Securities

.represented and voting at the meeting.

Notices

The Fiscal Agency Agreement provides that notices to Holders of Securities shall be sufficiently
given if in writing and mailed, first-class postage prepaid, to the Holders at each Holder's last address as
it appears in the Securities Register and published once in a leading daily newspaper of general
circulation in London {which is expected to be the Financial Times) and in a ieading daily newspaper of
general circulation in the United States (which is expected to be The Wall Street Journal) or, under
certain limited circumstances, in other English language newspapers of general circulation in Europe or
the United States. PETRONAS has additicnally undertaken in the Securities, so long as the Securities are
listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange so require,
to publish any notices required under the Fiscal Agency Agreement or the Securities or the rules of the
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Luxembourg Stock Exchange in a leading newspaper having general circulation in Luxembourg (which is
expected to be the Luxemburger Wort).

Fiscal Agent

The Fiscal Agent may resign at any time or may be removed by PETRONAS. If the Fiscal Agent
resigns, is removed or becomes incapable of acting as Fiscal Agent or if a vacancy occurs in the office of
the Fiscal Agent for any reason, a successor fiscal agent will be appointed in accordance with the
provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement.

The corporate trust office of the Fiscal Agent is located at 101 Barclay Street, Floor 21W, New York,
New York 10286.

Governing Law and Enforceability

The Fiscal Agency Agreement and the Securities will be governed by and construed in accordance
with the law of the State of New York.

PETRONAS has consented to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of New York and the United
States courts located in The City of New York with respect to any action that may be brought in
connection with the Securities and has appointed CT Corporation Systems, 1633 Broadway, New York,
New York 10019 USA as agent for service of process.

UNITED STATES TAXATION

Interest on the Securities will not be exempt from United States taxation generally. In the opinion of
Cleary, Gottlieb, Steen & Hamilton, United States counsel for PETRONAS, under United States federal
income tax law as currently in effect, holders of Securities that are not United States persons will not be
subject to United States federal income taxes, including withholding taxes, on payments of interest on
the Securities so long as the requirements described in the second succeeding paragraph are satisfied,
unless:

(i) the holder is an insurance company carrying on a United States insurance business, within the
meaning of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, to which the interest is attributable, or

(ii) the holder has an office or other fixed place of business in the United States to which the
interest is attributable and the interest either {a) is derived in the active conduct of a banking,
financing or similar business within the United States or (b) is received by a corporation the principal
business of which is trading in stock or securities for its own account, and certain other conditions
exist.

The gain realized on any sale or exchange of the Securities by a holder that is not a United States
person will not be subject to United States federal income tax, inciuding withholding tax, unless (i} such
gain is effectively connected with the conduct by the holder of a trade or business in the United States, or
(i) in the case of gain realized by an individual holder, the holder is present in the United States for 183
days or more in the taxable year of the sale and either {A) such gain is attributable to an office or other
fixed place of business maintained in the United States by such holder or (B) such holder has a tax home
in the United States.

The Fiscal Agent will be required to file information returns with the United States Internal Revenue
Service with respect to payments made to certain United States persons on the Securities. In addition,
certain United States persons may be subject to a 31 percent United States backup withholding tax in
respect of such payments if they do not provide their taxpayer identification numbers to the Fiscal Agent,
and may also be subject to information reporting and backup withholding requirements with respect to
proceads from a sale of the Securities. Persons holding Securities who are not United States persons may
be required to comply with applicable certification procedures to establish that they are not United States
persons in order to avoid the application of such information reporting requirements and backup
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withhciding tax. The United States Treasury Department recently proposed regulations that, if finalized,
would change the procedural requirements for establishing an exemption from information reporting and
backup withholding.

A Security held by an individual holder who at the time of death is a nonresident alien will not be
subject to United States federal estate tax.

As used herein, the term “United States person’™ means a citizen or resident of the United States, a
corporation, partnership or other entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, or
any estate or trust the income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of
its source, and the term “‘United States” means the United States of America (including the States and
the District of Columbia), its possessions, territories and other areas subject to its jurisdiction.

MALAYSIAN TAXATION

A non-resident of Malaysia is subject to income tax on interest income at the rate of 15 percent,
which is satisfied through withholding by the borrower. The rate of tax on interest income received by a
non-resident, and withholding thereon, may be reduced pursuant to double taxation treaties between
Malaysia and certain other countries. At present, there is no such treaty in effect between Malaysia and
the United States. Repayment of principal is not subject to any form of tax in-Malaysia.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, PETRONAS has obtained an exemption from the Minister of Finance
of Malaysia with respect to the Securities, and non-residents will not be required to pay income tax in
Malaysia with respect to interest on the Securities, and there will be no withholding on the Securities. If
interest payments to non-residents become subject to Malaysian withholding tax, PETRONAS would,
subject to certain exceptions, be obligated to pay certain additional amounts with respect to the
Securities. In such event, PETRONAS may be entitled to redeem the Securities. See “'Description of the
Securities — Additional Amounts’ and “‘— Special Tax Redemption'".

Under Malaysian law, a company is regarded as a “‘non-resident™ if the management and controt of
its affairs are not exercised in Malaysia at any time by its directors or other controlling authority. The rules
regarding the residency status of individuals are complex but are generally based upon the length of time
spent in Malaysia.

Malaysia has no estate, gift, inheritance, capital transfer, capital gains or similar tax. in addition,
neither the issuance nor transfer of the Securities outside Malaysia will give rise to any stamp, issue,
registration or similar taxes or duties.

The above summaries of United States and Malaysian tax law are not intended to constitute a
complete analysis of all tax consequences relating to the ownership of the Securities. Investors are
advised to consult their own tax advisors in determining the tax consequences in their particular situation.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 10,
1996 (the “Purchase Agreement’), among PETRONAS and the Initial Purchasers named below (the
“Initial Purchasers) for whom CS First Boston Corporation and Salomon Brothers Inc are acting as
representatives (the 'Representatives™), PETRONAS has agreed to sell to the Initial Purchasers, and the
Initial Purchasers have agreed to purchase from PETRONAS severally but not jointly, the principal
amounts of the Securities set forth opposite their names below:

Principal Amount Principal Amount Principal Amount
Initial Purchaser of 2001 Notes of 2006 Notes of Bonds

Joint Lead Managers . .
CS First Boston Corporation....  US$2486,000,000 US$%$328,000,000.. US$250,000,000 -
Salomon Brothers Inc.......... 246,000,000 328,000,000 . 250,000,000
Senior Co-Lead Managers
ABN AMRO Bank N.V.......... 18,000,000 24,000,000 —
Deutsche Bank AG London ... 18,000,000 24,000,000 —
Lehman Brothers International

(Eurcpe) .....covviiiiinn.. 18,000,000 24,000,000 —
Rashid Hussain Securities

SanBhd................... 18,000,000 24,000,000 —
Co-Lead Managers
Banque Paribas . .............. 6,000,000 8,000,000 —
Daiwa Europe Limited ......... 6,000,000 8,000,000 —
Merrill Lynch International ... ... 6,000,000 8,000,000 —
Midland Bank plc ............. 6,000,000 8,000,000 —_
Nomura International ple ....... 6,000,000 8,000,000 —
Swiss Bank Corporation........ 6,000,000 8,000,000 —

Total .........c.cooiio... US$600,000,000 US$800,000,000  US$500,000,000

The Purchase Agreement provides that the obligations of the Initial Purchasers are subject to certain
conditions precedent. The Purchase Agreement provides that, in the event of a default by an Initial
Purchaser, in certain circumstances, the purchase commitments of non-defaulting Initial Purchasers may
be increased or the Purchase Agreement may be terminated. PETRONAS has been advised by the
Representatives that the Initial Purchasers propose tc offer the Securities to investors initially at the
offering prices to investors set forth on the cover page of this Offering Circulasi and that after the initial
offering to investors, the prices to.investors may be changed.

The Securities have not been registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold
within the United States except to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the
Securities Act and in offshore transactions in reliance on Reguiation S under the Securities Act.

Each of the Initial Purchasers severally represented and agreed that (i) it has not offered or sold
and, prior to the completion of the period six months from the closing date, will not offer or sell any
Securities to persons in the United Kingdom except to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in
acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments {as principal or agent) for the purposes of their
businesses or otherwise in circumstances which have not resulted and will not result in an offer to the
public in“the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securities Regulations 1995;
(i) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the Financial Services Act 1986 with
respect to anything done by it in relation to the Securities in, from or otherwise involving the United
Kingdom; and (iii} it has only issued or passed on, and will only issue or pass on, in the United Kingdom
any documnent received by it in connection with the issue of the Securities to a person who is of a kind
described in Article 11(3) of the Financial Services Act 1986 (Investment Advertisements) (Exemp-
tions) Order 1996 or is a person to whom such document may otherwise lawfully be issued or passed on.
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Each Initial Purchaser has severally represented and agreed that it will not offer or seli the Securities
in Malaysia or outside Malaysia with a view to resale in Malaysia.

Each Initial Purchaser has severally represented and agreed that it has not offered or sold and will not
offer or sell, directly or indirectly, in Japan to or for the account of any resident of Japan any Securities,
except (i) pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities and Exchange
Law of Japan and (ii) in compiiance with any other applicable requirements of Japanese law.

Each Initial Purchaser has severally represented and agreed that (i) it has not offered or sold and will
not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Securities other than to persons whose
ordinary business it is to buy or seli shares or debentures, whether as principal or agent, except in
circumstances which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong and {ii) it has not issued and will not issue any invitation or
advertisement relating to Securities in Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so by the securities laws of
Hong Kong) other than with respect to Securities intended to be disposed of to persons outside Hong
Kong or to be disposed of in Hong Kong only to persons whose business involves the acquisition;
disposal, or holding, of securities, whether as principal or as agent.

Each initial Purchaser has severally represented and agreed that it has not circulated or distributed
and will not circulate or distribute the Offering Circular nor any other document or material relating to the
offering of the Securities, nor has it offered or sold nor will it offer or sell the Securities directly or
indirectly, (i} to persons in Singapore other than under circumstances in which such offer or sale does
not constitute an offer or sale of the Securities to the public in Singapore or (ii) to the public or any
member of the public in Singapore other than pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of an
exemption invoked under Division 5A Part IV of the Companies Act, Chapter. 50 of Singapore and to
persons to whom the Securities may be offered or sold under such exemption.

The Purchase Agreement provides that PETRONAS will reimburse the Initial Purchasers for certain
expenses and indemnify the Initial Purchasers against certain liabilities, including civil liabilities under the
Securities Act, or will contribute to payments the Initial Purchasers may be required to make in respect
thereof.

The Securities are new issues of securities with no established trading market. PETRONAS has been
advised by the Representatives that they currently intend to make markets in the Securities as permitted
by applicable law; the Representatives are not obligated to do so, however, and any such market making
may be discontinued at any time in their sole discretion. No assurance can be given as to the liquidity of,
or the development of a trading market for, the Securities.

It is expected that delivery of the Securities will be made against payment therefor on or about the
date specified in the last paragraph of the cover page hereof, which is the fifth business day following the
date hereof. Under Rule 15¢6-1 of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange
Act, trades in the secondary market generally are required to settle in three business days, unless the
parties to any such trade expressly agree otherwise. Accordingly, purchasers who wish to trade
Securities on the date hereof or the next succeeding business day will be required, by virtue of the fact
that the Securities initially will settie in T+5, to specify an alternate settlement cycle at the time of any
such trade to prevent a failed settlement. Purchasers of Securities who wish to trade Securities on the
date hereof or the next succeeding business day should consult their own advisor.

NOTICE TO INVESTORS

The Securities are being offered and sold in the United States to qualified institutional buyers (as
defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act) in transactions exempt from the registration requirements
of the Securities Act and outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement date of the offering, an offer or sale of the
Securities within the United States by a dealer (whether or not participating in the offering), may violate

51



the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in
accordance with Rule 144A under the Secutities Act.

Each purchaser of Securities will be deemed to have represented and agreed as follows:

1. Itis either (i) a qualified institutional buyer as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act,
it is aware that the seller of the Securities may be relying on the exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A and it is acquiring such Securities for its
own account or for the account of one or more qualified institutional buyers for whom it is authorized
to act, or {ii) it is purchasing such Securities in an offshore transaction pursuant to Regulation 8
under the Securities Act;

2. It understands that the Securities have not been and will not be registered under the
Securities Act; and

3. The Securities represented by the Restricted Global Security may be offered, sold, pledged
or otherwise transferred only (i) to a person whom the seller reasonably believes is a qualified
institutional buyer in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A under the Securities Act,
(it} in an offshore transaction complying with Rule 903 or Rule 804 of Regulation $ under the
Securities Act, or (iii) pursuant to the exemption provided by Rule 144 under the Securities Act (if
available), in each case in accordance with any applicable securities faws of any state of the United
States.

Terms used in this section have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities
Act.

Each purchaser of the Securities understands that the Restricted Global Security (and any Security
issued in exchange therefor or in exchange for any other Security previously issued in exchange therefor)
will bear a legend to the following effect unless otherwise permitted under the Fiscal Agency Agreement
or agreed to by PETRONAS:

“THIS SECURITY HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF
1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT’'), AND SUCH SECURITY MAY BE
OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED ONLY (1) TO A
PERSON WHOM THE SELLER REASONABLY BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITU-
TIONAL BUYER IN A TRANSACTION MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF
RULE 144A, (2) IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION COMPLYING WITH RULE 903
OR RULE 904 OF REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, OR (3) PURSU-
ANT TO THE EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE), IN EACH CASE IN ACCORDANCE
WITH ANY APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED
STATES.

VALIDITY OF THE SECURITIES

The validity. of the Securities will be passed upon for PETRONAS by Cleary, Gottlieb, Steen &
Hamilton, New York, New York, United States counsel for PETRONAS, and by the Group General
Counse!l, Legal Services Unit of PETRONAS and for the Initial Purchasers by Milbank, Tweed, Hadley &
McCloy, New York, New York, United States counsel for the Initial Purchasers. Cleary, Gottlieb, Steen &
Hamilton may rely as to all matters of Malaysian law on the Group General Counsel, Legal Services Unit of
PETRONAS. The Group General Counsel, Legal Services Unit of PETRONAS may rely upen Cleary,
Gottlieb, Steen & Hamilton as to all matters of New York law.
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EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements of PETRONAS included in this Offering Circular have been audited by KPMG Desa Megat &
Co., independent public accountants, and are included herein in refiance upon their reports with respect
therete and upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

GENERAL INFORMATION

1. The 2001 Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Cedel with the
Common Code of 7010443. For the 2001 Notes, the CINS Number is YB8851AHO, the CUSIP Number is
716708AD4 and the International Securities Identification Number (“1SIN") is USYE8851AH03.

The 2006 Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Cedel with the Common
Code 7010451, For the 2006 Notes, the CINS Number is Y68851AJ6, the CUSIP Number is 716708AE2
and the ISIN is USY68851AJ68.

The Bonds have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Cedel with the Common Code
7045482, For the Bonds, the CINS Number is Y68851AK3, the CUSIP Number is 716708AF9 and the ISIN
is USYB8851AK32.

2. Application has been made to list the Securities on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange by
PETRONAS through its fisting agent, Banque Internationale 4 Luxembourg S.A. The legal notice relating
to the issus of the Securities and the Articles of Association of PETRONAS will be registered prior to the
listing with the Registrar of the District Court in Luxembourg (Greffier en Chef du Tribunal
d'Arrondissement de et & Luxembourg}, where such documents are available for inspection and where
copies thereof can be obtained upon request. As long as the Securities are listed on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange, PETRONAS will maintain a paying and transfer agent in Luxembourg, which initially will
be Bangue Internaticnale & Luxembourg S.A.

3. PETRONAS has obtained or will obtain prior to the delivery of the Securities all necessary
consents, approvals and authorizations in connection with the issue and performance of the Securities,
except as disclosed in this Offering Circular.

4. Except as disclosed in this Offering Circular, there has been no material adverse change in the
financial position or prospects.of PETRONAS or any of its subsigiaries since March 31, 1996.

5. Other than as referred to elsewhere in the Offering Circular, PETRONAS is not involved in any
litigation or arbitration proceedings that may have, or have had during the 12 months preceding the date
of this document, a significant effect on the financial position of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
nor is PETRONAS or any of its subsidiaries aware that any such proceedings are pending or threatened.

6. A copy of the Articles of Association of PETRONAS and copies of the Fiscal Agency Agreement
and the Purchase Agreement (or, pending execution thereof, drafts thereof subject to medification} will,
for so long as the Securities are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, be available for inspection
during usual business hours on any weekday (except public holidays) at the office of PETRONAS's
paying and transfer agent in Luxembourg. As long as any of the Securities remain outstanding, copies of
PETRONAS's annual report in English containing the audited consolidated financial statements in English
and, for so long as PETRONAS includes them therein, the audited unconsolidated financial statements in
English, will'be delivered to and be obtainable from the specified offices of PETRONAS's paying and
transfer agent in Luxembourg. PETRONAS currently does not publish interim financial reports.

7. The registered office of PETRONAS is Menara Dayabumi, Kompleks Dayabumi, Jalan Sultan
Hishamuddin, 50778 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

53



SUMMARY OF DIFFERENCES
BETWEEN MALAYSIAN GAAP AND U.S. GAAP

The consolidated financial statements of PETRONAS have been prepared in accordance with
Malaysian GAAP, which differs in certain respects from U.S. GAAP. Malaysian GAAP generally follows
International Accounting Standards. A summary of the differences which may have a significant effect on
consolidated net income or shareholders’ equity is set out below.

Revaluation of Land and Buildings

Malaysian GAAP allows the periodic revaluation of land and buildings. Under U.S. GAAP, such
revalyations are not permitted. .

Deferred Tax

Malaysian GAAP requires that deferred tax be provided for based upon timing differences, using the
liability method, between the accounting and tax treatment of income and expenditure. However,
provision for deferred tax may not be required if it is probable the liability will not arise in the foreseeable
future (at least three years ahead) and there are no indications it will arise thereafter. However, the
amount neot provided for {both current and cumulative) is required to be disclosed in the financial
statements.

Under U.S. GAAP, SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes'' requires deferred tax liabilities
and assets to be recognized for the estimated future tax effect attributable to temporary differences. The
measurement of deferred tax assets will be reduced, if necessary, by the amount of any tax benefits that,
based on available evidence, are not expected to be realized.

Proposed Dividend

Under Malaysian GAAP, proposed dividends on ordinary shares, as recommended by the board of
directors at the time of board approval of the financial statements, are deducted from shareholders’
equity and shown as a liability in the balance sheet at the end of the period to which they relate. Under
U.S. GAAP, dividends are recorded in the period in which they are declared.

Pension Costs

Malaystan GAAP requires a charge for the cost of providing pensions for eligible employees during
the year, as well as an actuarial valuation at least once every three years.

Under U.S. GAAP, SFAS No. 87, “Employers™ Accounting for Pensions" allows for a much narrower
choice of valuation methods and, in addition, SFAS No. 87 requires more detailed disclosure than
Malaysian GAAP. Depending on the method chosen under Malaysian GAAP, it is possible that a valuation
under U.S. GAAP could result in different amounts being recognized as the annual pension expense.

Zero Coupon Debt Securities with Detachable Warrants

Under U.S. GAAP, APB Opinion No. 14, “Accounting for Convertible Debt and Debt Issued with
Stock Purchase Warrants”, detachable warrants are required to be stated at fair value in a company’s
financiat statements and interest should be imputed on the zero coupon debt securities at fair value at the
date of the offering for such zero coupon securities. Malaysian GAAP has no such requirement.

Cash Flow Statements

Under U.S. GAAP, a statement of cash flows is required to be produced using the “‘cash concept’.
Currently, the applicable standard under Malaysian GAAP requires presentation of a statement of source
and application of funds using the "‘working capital concept".

Cash flow statements show the sources and uses of cash for operating, investing and financing
activities rather than the sources and applications of net liquid funds (including, among other things,
changes in the components of working capital) shown by the statements of source and application of
funds.
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Extraordinary ltems

The criteria for extraordinary items are similar under both Malaysian GAAP and U.S. GAAP. The
criteria are that:

{i} the item must be of an unusual nature; and

(i) the item must not be expected to occur frequently.

The interpretation of these requirements under Malaysian GAAP is applied less restrictively than U.S.
interpretation. Therefore, items classified as extraordinary under Malaysian GAAP may not be so
classified under U.S. GAAP.

Supplementary Oil and Gas Disclosures

Under U.S. GAAP, SFAS No. 69, “Disclosures about Qil and Gas Producing Activities™, a. company
with significant oil and gas producing activities is required to disclose in the form of supplementary
information the following:

(i) proved cil and gas quantities;

(ii) costs incurred in property acquisition, exploration and development activities;

(iii) results of operations for oil and gas producing activities; and

(iv) a standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved oil'and gas

reserves quantities.

Currently, there is no equivalent accounting standard under Malaysian GAAP.

Expenditure Carried Forward

Under Malaysian GAAP, a company's preliminary and pre-operating expenses may be capitalized.
Preliminary expenses are written off in the first year of operations while pre-operating expenses are
written off over a period of five years commencing with the first full year of operation.

U.S. GAAP requires such expenses to be written off when incurred.

Long-Term Debt

U.S. GAAF requires a five year summary of principal repayment requirements. There is no such
requirement under Malaysian GAAP.

Related Party Transactions

Transactions and amounts due from or to officers, employees and other related parties must be
disclosed pursuant to U.S. GAAP, SFAS No. 57, ‘‘Related Party Disclosures''. Under Malaysian GAAP,
the only disclosure requirement relates to transactions between a holding company and a subsidiary
company or between fellow subsidiaries. The Malaysian Companies Act, however, requires the disclosure
of certain transactions between a company and its directors as well as the remuneration paid to the
directors or to third parties for services rendered by the directors,

Information by Segment

Malaysian GAAP segment disclosure is similar to U.S. GAAP, SFAS No. 14, “Financial Reporting for
Segments of Business Enterprises”, which requires disclosure of certain financial information for public
companies (net sales, operating income, identifiable net assets) by segments (product lines, domestic
and foreign activities). Under U.S. GAAP, however, separate segment disclosure would be required for
exploration and production activities and for various downstream activities. Such additional segment
disclosure is not required under Malaysian GAAP.

Impairment, of Long-Lived Assets

Under U.S. GAAP, SFAS No. 121, "“Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for
Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of ' is applicable to financial statements for the pericds beginning after
Decenber 15, 1995. This accounting standard requires the recognition and measurement of impairment
of long-lived assets, certain identifiable intangibles and goodwill related to those assets to be held and
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used. The accounting standard requires that when impairment is indicated for long-lived assets the
carrying value of such assets should be evaluated based on the lowest asset grouping for which there are
Identifiable cash flows. If the expected future net cash flows from operating those assets (undiscounted
and before interest charges} is less than their carrying value an impairment write-down to fair value is
required. The discounted expected future net cash flows of the impaired assets may be used as a
measure of fair value. Additionally, the accounting standard requires the reporting of long-lived assets
and certain identifiable intangible assets to be disposed of at the lower of the carrying value or fair value
less cost to sell.

Malaysian GAAP requires that long-lived assets be stated at net realizable value should impairment
occur. PETRONAS regularly assess the value of its oil and gas properties based on the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows on a field by field basis and appropriate adjustments are made in the
accounts for any impairment in value.

investments in Debt and Equity Securities

Under U.S. GAAP, SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity
Securities” addresses the accounting and reporting for investments in equity securities that have readily
determinable fair values and for investments in debt securities. Those investments are classified in three
categories and accounted for as follows:

(i) Held-to-Maturity. Debt securities that the organization has the positive intent and ability to
hold to maturity are reported at amortized cost whereby an original issue discount or premium is
amortized to income over the term of the security.

(i) Trading. Debt and equity securities that are bought and held for the purpose of selling in
the near term are reported at fair value with the unrealized gain or loss included in income for each
reporting period,

(i) Available-for-Sale. Debt and equity securities not classified as either trading or held-to-
maturity securities are reported at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses excluded from
income and reported as a separate component of share capital until sold.

Malaysian GAAP requires quoted shares and securities held as current assets to be stated at the
lower of cost and market value. Investments held for long-term purposes are stated at cost less any
provisicn for permanent diminution in value.

Foreign Currency

Under Malaysian GAAP, foreign currency transaction gains or losses related tc capital projects in
progress are capitalized. Under U.S. GAAP, SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation" all foreign
currency transaction gains and losses, except those that pertain to intercompany transactions of a long-
term nature and those transactions designated and effective as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign
entity, are recognized in income.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Shareholders
Petroliam Nasional Berhag (PETRONAS)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Petroliam Nasional Berhad and
its subsidiaries as of March 31, 1995 and 1926, and the consolidated income statements and
consolidated statements of source and application of funds for each of the years in the three.year period
ended March 31, 1996. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits. We have conducted cur audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards in Malaysia.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of Petroliam Nasional Berhad and its subsidiaries at March 31, 1995 and 1996, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its consolidated source and applications of funds for each of
the years in the three-year period ended on March 31, 1996 and comply with the Malaysian Companies
Act, 1965,

KPMG DESA MEGAT & CO.
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Date: 25 June 1996
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PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AT MARCH 31, 1995 AND 1996

{in millions)

At March 31,

Note 1995 1996 1996
Current Assets:
......................................... 3 RM 712 RM 703 US$ 279
Trade debtors...... ... i i 4 1,430 1,988 789
Other debtors . . ... e i e en 5 1,523 1,787 709
Fund investments . ..........cociiiiiiiiiiin, 3] 16,018 22,676 8,998
Cashand bank balances ......................... 117 126 50
Total Current Assets .. ...cooviv i iiennns 19,800 27,280 10,825
Fixed Assets...... ...t 7 15,863 23,686 9,389
Expenditure Carried Forward . . ...................... 8 63 127 50
Construction-in-Progress .........ccoviiiivinnie... 9 10,509 4,856 1,927
Interest in Associated Companies ................... 11 1,322 1,547 614
Investment in Unquoted Companies ................. 264 290 115
Loan SI0CKS ...ttt i e e 215 185 73
Long-Term Receivables .................coovvvnenn. 99 80 32
Total Assets .........cciviiin i, RM 48,135 RM 58,051 US$ 23,035
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Trade Creditors ... ..oov vt e e e RM 'O 705 RM 569 US$ 226
Othercreditors . ..., 2,573 3,682 1,461
Lease Creditors. oo vie et et 12 10 11 4
..................................... 13 1,368 903 358
Dividend payable . ........ ... oot iivinnenn. 2,480 2,480 984
Provision for taxation............... ..o ol 3,439 3,482 1,382
Proposed dividend . . .........oviinn i hei i 3,100 3,100 1,230
Total Current Liabilities . ............... . ... 13,675 14,227 5,645
Lease Creditors . ........ ... 0 . . .. .0 dn .. 12 11 — ——
Term Loans . .....ooi i i e et e 13 12,169 15,813 6,275
Deferred Liabilities . ... ... o0 . o v e 14 1,209 1,298 515
Islamic Debt Securities ... .ot ii i i e 15 300 1,100 436
Shareholders’ Equity:
Share capital. . ... oo ie s o e et 16 100 100 40
....................................... 17 19,095 23,017 9,134
19,195 23,117 9,174
Minority Interests . ...... ... .. 1,576 2,496 990
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity .. ... RM 48,135 RM 58,051 US$ 23,035

See accompanying Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements.
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PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
FOR EACH OF THE THREE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 1994, 1995 AND 1996
(in millions)

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

Note 1994 1985 1996 1996
REVENUBS ... iie i eiiiinns 18 BM 16,818 RM 18,089 RM 22,254 US$ 8,831
Profit before tax ................... ..., 19 6,317 7,083 . 8,664 3,398
Taxes o ovi et e 20 (2,267) (2,136)" (2,297) (911)
Profitafter tax ..............oooiienin... 4,050 4,947 * 6,267 2,487
Mincrity interests’ share of consolidated

subsidiaries’ profit .................... (316) (388) (592) (235)
Extraordinary items. ............... .. ..., 21 329 3 1,087 431
Netincome ............cooieint, 4,063 4,562 6,762 2,683
tUnappropriated profits brought forward .. .. 4618 5,444 6,906 2,741
Profit available for appropriation .......... 8,681 10,006 13,668 5,424
Appropriations:

Dividends — exempt from tax under

Section 84 of the Petroleum (Income

Tax) Act, 1967 ...............onll 3,100 3,100 3,100 1,230
Capitalization of unappropriated profits

for bonus shares by a subsidiary

COMPANY « o\ttt iiie e e eaneann. 137 — 476 189

Unappropriated profits carried forward .. ... 17 RM 5,444 RM 6,906 RM 10,092 US$ 4,005

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Staterments.
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PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SOURCE AND APPLICATION OF FUNDS
FOR EACH OF THE THREE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 1994, 1995 AND 1996
(in millions)

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
1995 1968

1994 1996

SOURCE OF FUNDS

Profit before taxation, minority interests and extraordinary item,. RM 6,317 RM 7,083 RM 8564 US$ 3,398

See accompanying Notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements,

F-5

Extraordinary items ... ... i 329 3 1,087 431
Adjustment for items not involving the movement of funds:;
Share of associated companies' profit ..................... (61) (4) 19 8
Depreciation and amertization. . ... ... ... ... ... ... 883 1,046 1,561 619
Fixed assetexpensed off .. ....... ... . ... ... . 11 24 4 2
Extraordinary items ... . i i e e e (1,087) (431)
{Gain) on disposal of investment ......................... (308) (3) — (—)
{Gain) /Loss on disposal of fixed assets ................... 4) 1 {3) (1
{Gain} /Loss on foreign exchange translation — term loans .. 333 (473) (318) {125)
Provision for explorationcost ................ ... ... .. 100 150 200 79
Amortization of expenditure carried forward 18 14 24 9
Prepaid rental expensed off ......... ... ... ..., — 2 27 11
Exchange difference account ........ ... .. 0ol — (4) (3) (1)
Funds generated from operations ........................... 7618 7,839 10,077 3,999
Funds from other sources:
Drawdown of termloans ........... ... ..ciiiiiiiiiinnnnas 5,074 4,259 5,693 2,259
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets ........................ 57 7 61 24
Additional investments by mincrity shareholders of subsidiary
companies .............. b et e e ey 57 3 518 205
Proceeds from issuance of debt securities by a subsidiary
[0 110 - T 213 — 550 218
Redemption of loan stock .........ccoiiiiiii i 30 30 30 12
Proceeds from partial disposal of investment in a subsidiary
COMPANY .« ettt et ettt et vt eere sy v anr e anartensrennns — — 1,671 663
Praceeds from disposal of investment. ..................... 511 3 — —
Reserve on consolidation . ........... ... ... ... . 0. —_ 52 (55) (22}
5,942 4,354 8,468 3,369
AM 13,560 BM 12,193 RBM 18,545 US$ 7,358
APPLICATION OF FUNDS
Dividend paid to
— shareholders of the Company ........civeriierveerrais RM 3,100 BM 3100 RM 3,100 US$ 1,230
— minority shareholders of subsidiary companies ........... 230 286 233 g2
Decrease in minority interest. ... ... .0 . 0. o0 il — 94 —_ —_
Expenditure carried forward ......... .. .00 18 17 88 35
Investment in unquoted and associated companies ... . 64 64 120 48
Addition to fixed assets and construction-in-progress .. .. 7,071 5,637 3,778 1,499
B L= = RS R P A € U 571 1,263 2,236 agv
Loan stock ... i e e — — — —
Deferred liabilities . ... o i i 49 45 136 54
Leasecraditor ... ... . i il i i e 9 9 10 4
Taxation paid . ... . it i i e i a i 2,747 2,208 2,216 879
Long term receivables ........ .. i iiiiiiraiaiiainieeens 35 2 8 3
Increase/ {Decrease) in working capial (see below) ........ (332) (530) 6,620 2,827
RM 13,560 RM 12,193 RM 18,545 US$ 7,358
INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN WORKING CAPITAL
L] (oo = O RM (27) RAM 283 RM {9) (4)
Trade debtors & otherdebtors . .......... ... ..ot (829) 196 823 327
Fundinvestments o . . . o i i e e 774 {900) 6,658 2,642
Trade creditors & Other greditors. .. ..........cvivevneinnn (219) (440) (873) (386)
Amount due from associated companies ................... (13) 249 112 44
(314) (612) 6,611 2,623
Movement in net liquid funds:
Cashand bank balances ............coivvvaiinrennn (18) 82 9 4
RM (332) RM  {530) RM 6,620 US$ 2,627




PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company in the course of the financial year remained unchanged and
consist of the exploitation of oll and gas through production sharing contracts and the marketing of
petroleum and petroleum products. The principal activities of the subsidiary and associated companies
are stated in Note 10 and Note 11 respectively.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCCUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of Accounting

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared under the historical cost convention
modified by the revaluation of certain landed properties of a subsidiary company and in compliance with
approved accounting standards in Malaysia.

2.2 Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all its
subsidiary companies as stated in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. The consclidation is
based on the financial statements of the subsidiary companies made up to March 31, 1996.

All internal transactions are eliminated on consolidation and the turnover and profits relate to external
transactions only. The total assets and liabilities of subsidiary companies are included in the Group
balance sheet and the interest of minority shareholders in the net assets employed is stated separately.

Goodwill arising on consclidation in reiation to the acquisition of subsidiary companies is written off
against reserve arising on consolidation.

2.3 Associated Company

An associated company is a company in which the Group owns, as a long term investment, between
20 percent and 50 percent of the issued equity capital and in which the Group exercises significant
influence, including representation on the Board of Directors, over the financial and operating policies of
the company.

The Group’s share of the results of associated companies is incorporated in the consolidated profit
and loss account in place of dividend received or receivable from the associated companies. The Group's
share of reserves and retained profits less losses is added to the cost of investment in the consolidated
balance sheet.

2.4 Long-term Receivables

Prepaid rental of service station sites is debited to Long-Term Receivables. The prepayments are
expensed off on a straight line basis over the pericd of the agreements.

2.5 Fixed Assets and Depreciation

Fixed assets other than freehold land and oil and gas properties are depreciated on a straight line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Freehold land is not depreciated while
depreciation of oil and gas properties is computed on the unit of production method.
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PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Oil and gas properties cost are accounted for under the successful efforts method of accounting.

The annual rates of depreciation used are:

BUIINGS ... o e 2% to 5%
Leasehold Land . ... ... i e Over the
lease period

of 3 to

K 999 years

= o | 5%
Expendable capital improvements ... i 33%%
Office equipment and furniture and fittings ............. ... ... ... ... 15%
Other plant and equipment . ... .. i e 15%
Computer software and hardware .......... ... iiiiiiiiennnian i 20%
Motor vehicles .. ... ... . e 25%
VESSEIS L e e e 5%

Leasehold land and leased properties are depreciated over the remaining life of the leases. Buildings
on ieasehold land are depreciated over the remaining life of the leases or over 50 years, whichever is the
shorter period. Fixed assets costing less than RM5,000 per individual item are expensed in the year of
purchase.

During the year, the Group carried out a review of its policies as regards capitalization and the
estimated useful lives of fixed assets. The change was applied retroactively but has no material effect on
the financial statements.

2.6 Leases

Assets employed under long term lease arrangements which transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are capitalized as fixed assets and the corresponding obligations are
treated as & liability. Financing / service charges on such leases are charged to the consolidated profit and
loss account on the “'sum-of-digits"” method over the term of the lease.

~ 2.7 Finance Charge& and Foreign Currency Exchange Differences Relating to Project in
Progress - ' '

Finance charges and foreign currency exchange differences including revaluation gain or loss on
specific and identifiable borrowings to finance projects in progress are capitalized as part of the costs of
the projects until the projects are ready for their intended use.

2.8 Stocks

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost of crude oil and condensate and
refined petroleum products include crude oil costs, export duty, transportation charges and processing
costs where applicable and is determined on a first in first out (FIFO) basis. Cost of liquefied natural gas
(LNG), urea, ammonia and petrochemical products includes raw material cests and production over-
heads and is determined on the weighted average basis.

Cost of stores, spares and others is determined on the weighted average basis.

2.9 Quoted Shares and Securities

Quoted shares and securities held as current assets are stated at the lower of cost and market value.
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PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

2.10 Investments

Investments held for long term purposes are valued at cost less any provision for diminution in value
which, in the opinion of the directors, is permanent in nature.

2.11 Expenditure Carried Forward

Expenditure carried forward in the subsidiary companies consist of preliminary and pre-operating
expenses, Preliminary expenses will be written off in the first year of operation while pre-operating
expenses will be written off over a period of five years commencing from the first complete year of
commercial operation.

2.12 Retirement Benefits

The Group contributes monthly to the Group Retirement Benefit Fund (the ‘'Fund’’) based on the
eligible employees’ monthly salary less statutory contribution, to finance the retirement benefits payable
to the eligible empioyees in accordance with the group retirement benefit scheme. The assets of the
Fund are held separately for the Group by the Trustees and the liability of the Fund is determined by the
accrued benefit method calculated based on Projected Service Benefit Liability for the eligible employ-
ees. The monthly maximum tax allowable contribution is paid to the Fund by the Group. The excess is
paid by the Group to a special account in the Company as a provision for retirement benefits.

An actuarial valuation of the Fund is conducted by a qualified independent actuary at least once in
every three years. The last available valuation was done on 23 May 1995 and this valuation showed that
the net realisable value of the Fund assets are sufficient to meset the actuarially determined value of
vested benefits.

2.13 Deferred Taxation

Deferred taxation is provided under the liability method in respect of all material timing differences
except where it is reasonably expected that the tax effect of such deferrals will continue in the
foreseeable future and there are no indications they will reverse thereafter.

2.14 Foreign Currency Transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies have been translated into Ringgit Malaysia at rates of exchange
ruling on the transaction dates. Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies at balance sheet date have
been translated at rates ruling ‘on the balance sheet date or at the agreed exchange rate under the
currency exchange arrangement. Gains and losses on exchange arising from translation of these assets
and liabilities are dealt with-in the profit and loss account except that gains and losses arising from the
conversion of long term foreign currency loans in relation to project in progress are capitalised.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign incorporated subsidiaries are translated into
ringgit at the exchange rates approximating those ruling at balance sheet date while the results of the
current year are translated at the average exchange rate. The difference arising from such translation is
taken to Exchange Difference Account.
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PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

3. STOCKS
At March 31,
1995 1996 1986
(in millions )
Petrolsum products .. ... ... ... RM 218 RM 223 Us$ 89
Crudeoilandcondensate ................................ 104 23 9
Petrochemical products . .......... ... . i, 63 36 14
Liquefied natural gas ........ ..o i 56 40 16
Stores, spares and others ........................ e 292 404 160
733 726 288
Pravision for obsolescence and diminution in value .......... (21) (23} {9)
EM 712 RM 703 Us$ 279
4. TRADE DEBTORS
At March 31,
1895 1696 1996
(in millions)
Trade debtors ... . .. RM 1,452 RM 2,010 US$ 798
Provision for doubtful debts ............ ... ... ... ... ... (22) (22) (9)
RM 1,430 RM 1,988 US$ 789
5. OTHER DEBTORS
At March 31,
1895 1996 1996
(in millions)
Staff housing and vehicle foans ... o i RM 387 RM 423  US$ 168
Loans to directors of Company and subsidiary companies . ... 4 6 2
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments. .. ..., ........... 1,132 1,358 539
RM 1,523 RM 1,787 US$ 709

The staff housing and vehicle loans are given in accordance with the terms and conditions of the staff

housing and motor vehicle loan scheme approved by shareholders,

The loans to directors of the Company relate to housing and motor vehicle loans given to certain

executive directors on terms and conditions as approved by shareholders.

The loans to directors of subsidiary companies relate to housing and motor vehicle loans given to full

time staff of the Group who are also directors of subsidiary companies.

These loans are given in accordance with the terms and conditions of the staff housing and motor

vehicle loan scheme approved by shareholders.



PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

6. FUND INVESTMENTS

At March 31,
1895 19986 1996

{in millions)
Quoted shares in Malaysia .............coiiiiiiiinnn. RM 84 RM 86 Uss 34
Deposits with licensed banks .................ooah 9,633 13,502 5,394
Deposits with finance companies....................... 997 3,182 1,263
Deposits with other corporations . ...............oooal o 493 626 243
Malaysian Government Securities............ ...l 4,393 4,338 1,721
Other securities —quoted .......... ... 518 852 338

RM 16,018 RM 22,676 Us$ 8,998

Market value:

Quoted sharesin Malaysia ..................cooii AM 89 RM 102 uss 40
Malaysian Government Securities. ... ............ ... ... 4,751 4,673 1,854
Other securities —quoted ....... . iiiii i 518 852 338
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PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

7. FIXED ASSETS

At March 31, 1995

Depreciation
Cost/ Accumulated Net book charge for
Valuation depreciation value the year
(in millions)
At 1991 valuation:
Freeholdland.........................coo.t. RM 1 RM — RM 1 AM° —
Leasehold land
longlease..... ... .. .. ... ... ... 41 3 38 1
shortlease ....... ... .. ... ... .. ... .. ... .. 1 —_ 1 —
Buildings......... ... 50 4 46 1
At cost:
Freehold land.......... ... v, 217 — 217 —
Leasehold land
longlease. ... ...cccovie it 811 77 734 13
shortlease ..., 39 6 33 2
Short leasehold properties. .................... 369 101 268 12
Oil and gas properties ........................ 2,419 917 1,502 231
Buildings................ ... .. ...l 1,168 269 899 38
Plant ... o 13,727 3,462 10,265 699
Expendable capital improvements .............. 25 21 4 4
Office equipment and furniture and fittings ...... 163 79 84 20
Other plant and equipment.................... 308 148 160 29
Computer software and hardware . ............. 149 58 9 24
Motorvehicles ......... ... .. i 76 56 20 12
VeSSeIS ..o 1,523 23 1,500 23
RM21,087 RM5224 RM 15863 RM 1,109
Less: Amount capitalized in expenditure carried forward . .............. ... ... ....... (1)
1,108
Less: Cumulative amount to March 31, 1995 of the effect of the
change in depreciation PoRCY < . ... cv it i e ey (62)

RM 1,046



PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

At March 31, 1998

Depreciation
Cost/ Accumulated Net book charge for
Valuation depraciation value the year
{in millions)
At 1991/5 valuation:
Fregholdland ............ciievnr e, RM 3 RM — RM 3 RM _—
Leasehold land
long lease ... 41 4 37 1
shortlease .........cooiiii i, 1 — 1 —
Builldings .. ..o vt e 51 5 46 1
At cost: ‘
Freeholdland ........... oo iiiiiiiinnnn, 210 — 210 —_
Leasehold land
longlease ...t e 856 89 767 14
ShOrt I88SE ...t 48 9 37 1
Short leasehold properties . . ................ .. 369 113 256 12
Qil and gas properties ... 4,462 1,328 3,134 413
BUIOINGS v oo e e e e 1,370 309 1,061 40
Plant ... . e i 19,678 4123 15,555 886
Expendable capital improvements ............. 37 22 15 3
Office equipment and furniture and fittings ... .. 190 116 74 29
Other plant and equipment ................... 404 187 217 28
Computer software and hardware ............. 155 75 80 21
Motor vehicles .. ... ... .. oo 88 66 22 12
VESSEIS .t e e 2,296 125 2,171 101
AM 30,257 RBRM 6,571 BM 23,686 BM 1,562
Less: Amount capitalized in — expenditure carried forward .. ............ ... ool (1)
RM 1,561
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PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

At March 31, 1996

Depreciation

Cost/ Accumulated Net book charge for
Valuation depreciation value the year
{in millions)
At 1991/5 valuation:
Freehold land ............. ... covuuni.... us$ 1 UsS$ — US$ 1 US$§ —
Leasehold land
longlease .........ccooiiiiiiii i, 16 1 15 —
shortlease ..................ccviiuien., — — — N
Buildings ... i 20 2 18 —
At cost:
Freeholdland ............................... 83 — 83 —
Leasehold land
longlease ........... ... ... i, 340 36 304 6
shortlease .........voviiiiniiiinnnnnnnnn, 18 4 14 —
Short leasehold properties .................... 146 44 102 5
Oil and gas properties ....................... 1,771 527 1,244 164
Bulldings ......c.cooiiiiiii i, 544 123 421 16
Plant . . e 7,809 1,636 6,173 352
Expendable capital improvements ............. 15 9 6 1
Office equipment and furniture and fittings ..... 76 46 30 11
Other plant and equipment ................... 160 74 86 11
Computer software and hardware ............. 62 30 32 8
Motor vehicles ....... .. .. i, 35 26 9 5
Vessels ... 911 50 861 40
US$ 12,007 US$ 2,608 US$ 9,399 US$ 619
Less: Amount capitalized in — expenditure carried forward .......................... (—)
Uss$ 619

The properties stated at revaluation in 1991 /5 were adopted by the directors based on valuations of

independent professional valuers on the comparison approach method.

The titles to certain freehold and leasehold land are in the process of being registered in the

Company's and subsidiary company’s names.

Included in fixed assets of the Group is a plant with a net book value at March 31, 1996 of
RM38 miltien (US$15 million) (March 31, 1995 — RM42 million) acquired under a long term lease.
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PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

8. EXPENDITURE CARRIED FORWARD

At March 31,
1995 1996 1998
(in millions)
Preliminary exXpenses. ... .ovvviiiine it iiniaiiiiiirenens, RM — RM — US$ —
Pre-operating @xXpenses ...........oueiririniniiinnieieaa... 63 127 50
RM 63 RM 127 US$ 50
Included in pre-operating expenses for the year are:
At March 31,
1995 19986 1996
{in millions)
Depreciation and amortization . ........... ..o oo RM i BRM — US$ —
Rental of land and buildings .......... ... i 1 1 —
9. CONSTRUCTION-IN-PROGRESS
At March 31,
1995 1996 1896
(in millions)
Oif and gas properties . ..ot i aaiia i, RM 2,197 BRM 2,372 US$ 941
Other projects .. ... i e i e 8,312 2,484 986
RM 10,509 RM 4,856 US$ 1,927
The additions to construction-in-progress of the Group include the following:
At March 31,
1995 1998 1996
(in millions)
Unrealized gain of foreign exchange . .....0............... ... RM (105) RM  (21) US$  (8)
Rental of fand and buildings ........ .. oo 1 — —
Interest ON TBIM ICANS . . [ . .t i i ean s 338 102 US$ 40

Depreciation

10. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

Companies Incorporated in Malaysia

Effective
percentage holding
March 31, March 31,
1995 1996
Asean Bintulu Fertilizer Sdn. Bhd. .... 63.5 63.5
ammonia.
Ethylene Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. ......... 60.0 725
Gas District Cooling (M) Sdn. Bhd. (1) 60.0 60.0

cooling plants.
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Production and sale of ethylene.
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PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Petronas Fertilizer (Kedah) Sdn.
Bhd.(1)

.........................

Malaysia LNG Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia LNG Dua Sdn. Bhd. ........

Malaysia LNG Tiga Sdn. Bhd..........

Malaysian International Trading
Corporation Sdn. Bhd.

MTBE Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. ...........

OGP Technical Services Sdn. Bhd. ...

Petronas Carigali Sdn. Berhad{1).....

Petronas Carigali (Overseas) Sdn.
Bhd.(1)

Petronas Carigali (JDA) Sdn. Bhd. (1)

Petronas Carigali (Dai Hung) Sdn.
Bhd.{1) ........ ool

Petronas Carigali International Sdn.
Bhd. (Formerly known as Petronas
Carigali {Yemen) Sdn Bhd) (1) ...

Petronas Carigali (Turkmenistan) Sdn.
Bhd.(3) . vovie e
Petronas Carigali. (Vietnam) Sdn.
Bhd. (1)

Petronas Dagangan Berhad (2)

Petronas Gas Berhad (2)

Petronas Trading Corporation Sdn.
Bhd.

Effective

percentage holding

March 31, March 31,
1995 1996

100.0

65.0

60.0

100.0
100.0

60.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

74.7

100.0

100.0
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100.0

65.0

60.0

70.0

100.0
100.0

60.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

73.9

75.0

100.0

Principal activity

Intended to produce and sell urea and
ammonia.

Liquefaction and sale of liquefied
natural gas.

Liquefaction and sale of liquefied
natural gas.

Intended to liquefy, process and sell
liquefied natural gas.

General trading.

Production and sale of methyl tertiary
butyl ether and propylene.

Provision of technical and project
management services.

Exploration and preduction of oil and
gas.

Exploration and production of oil and
gas.

Exploration and production of oil and
gas.

Exploration and production of oil and
gas.

Exploration and production of oil and
gas.

Intended to undertake exploration and
production of oil and gas.

Exploration and production of oil and
gas.

Marketing of petroleum products and
operation of service stations.

Processing and transmission of natural
gas.

Trading of crude cil and petroleum
products.



PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Petronas Penapisan (Melaka) Sdn.
Bhd.

Petronas Penapisan (Terengganu)
Sdn. Bhd.

Petronas Tankers Sdn. Bhd. (1)

Jnstitute of Technology PETRONAS
Sdn. Bhd. (1)

Puteri Intan Sdn. Bhd. (1)
Puteri Delima Sdn. Bhd. (1)
Puteri Nilam Sdn. Bhd. (1)

Puteri Zarmrud Sdn. Bhd.(1)

Puteri Firuz Sdn. Bhd.{1)

Polypropylene Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. ...

Petronas Hartabina Sdn. Bhd. (1)

Petronas Property Management
Services Sdn. Bhd. (1)

Petronas Management Training. Sdn.
Bhd.(1)

Petronas Methanol (Labuan) Sdn.
Bhd., ... ... oo i

Petronas Gas Supply (Labuan)-Sdn.
Bhd.

Petronas Research & Scientific
Services Sdn. Bhd.

Aromatics Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.(3)

Vinyl-Chloride (Malaysia) Sdn.
Bhd.(3)

Eagle Aircraft (M) Sdn. Bhd. (1)

Petronas Maritime Services Sdn.
Bhd.(1)

Effective

percentage holding

March 31, March 31,
1995 1996

100.0

100.0
100.0

100.0

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

100.0

80.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

60.0

100.0
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100.0

100.0
100.0

100.0

100.0
100.0
100.0
100.0

100.0

80.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

100.0

60.0

51.4

100.0

Principal activity

Refining of crude oil.

Refining of crude oil.

Investment holding and provision of
management services to the owners
and operators of LNG vessels.

Intended to be-institute of higher
learning.

Own and operate LNG vessel.
Own-and operate LNG vessel.
Own and operate LNG vessel.

intended to ‘own and operate LNG
vessels.

Intended to own and operate LNG
vessels.

Production and marketing of
polypropylene.
Property holding.

Property and building project
management services.

Provision of training services.
Production and sale of methanol.
Dormant.

Provision of research and technology
development services.

Intended to produce and sell aromatic
products.

Intended to produce and sell vinyl
chioride.

Investment holding company.

Provision of marine advisory services.
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Sungai Udang Port Sdn. Bhd. (1)
Kerteh Port Sdn. Bhd. (1)
Sanzbury Stead Sdn. Bhd. ...........
Petronas NGV Sdn. Bhd.{1)

Malaysian International Trading
Corporation (Japan) Sdn. Bhd. ....

Styrene Monomer (M} Sdn. Bhd.(3)

Petronas Technical Services Sdn.
Bhd.(3) ...,
Gas District Cooling {KLIA) Sdn. Bhd.
(subsidiary company of Gas District
Cooling (M) Sdn. Bhd.) (3)

Effective
percentage holding
March 31, March 31,
1995 1996
100.0 100.0
100.0 100.0
100.0 100.0
100.0 100.0
—_ 100.0
— 100.0
— 100.0
— 36.0
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Principal activity
Port management.
Own and operate a port.
Property holding.

Promoting and developing the use of
natural gas for vehicles.

Intended to undertake general trading.

Intended to produce and sell
enthylbenzene and styrene
monomer,

Irtended.to be an investment holding
company.

Intended to operate co-generation
plants and sale of chilled water and
electricity.
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Companies Incorporated Overseas

Eftective
percentage holding Country of
March 31, 1986 March 31, 1996 incorporation Principal activity
Patronas Australia Pty. Ltd(4) 100.0 100.0 Australia Investment holding
company.
Petronas Argentina S.A.{(4) .... 100.0 100.0 Argentina  Investment holding
company.
Eagle Aircraft Pty. Ltd.(4) ..... 60.0 60.0 Australia Production and sale of

light aircraft,

Japan Malaysia LNG Co.

Ltd.(5) . ovvre e 65.0 70.0 Japan Provision of services in
relation to the
importation of
liquefied natural gas

into Japan.
Petronas Philippines Inc.(4) ... 100.0 100.0 Philippines Investment holding
company
Mitcoleum Consultancy Services
Pte. Ltd................. ... 51.0 — Singapere  Company has been
liquidated during the
year.
Petronas {Thailand) Co.
Ltd(4) ... 100.0 100.0 Thailand Investment holding
company.
Petronas Cambodia Co. Lid.(4) 100.0 100.0 Cambodia  Trading of petroleum
products.

(1) These subsidiary companies are audited by other firms of accountants.

(2) The shares of this subsidiary company are quoted on the Main Board of The Kuala Lumpur Stock
Exchange.

{3) The accounts of these subsidiaries were not audited for the pericd / year ended March 31, 1996 as
they were newly incorporated and are dormant.

(4) These subsidiary companies are audited by overseas offices of KPMG Peat Marwick.

(5) This subsidiary is not required to be audited in its country of incorporation.
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11. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

At March 31,
1995 1996 1996

{in millions)
Investmentatcost ..... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... RM 1,027 RM 1,121 US$ 445
Shareof profit ... ... .. 42 23 9
Amount due from associated companies ................ 125 237 94
1,194 1,381 548
Term loan due from an associated company .. ........... 128 166 66
RM 1,322 RM 1,547 US$ 614

The term loan due from an associate company represents loans obtained by the Company and on-

lent to the associated company on the same terms and conditions.
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The asscciated companies and their principal activities are:

Effective
percentage
hoiding
Companies Incorporated in Malaysia 1985 1998 Principal activity
Polyethylene (Malaysia) Sdn.Bhd. .......... 40.0 40.0 Production and marketing of polyethylene.
KLCC (Holdings) Sdn. Bhd. and its
subsidianies .. ......... i e 495 49.5 Property investment and property
: development.
Midciti Resources Sdn. Bhd. ................ 49.5 495 Property holding.
Gas Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. ............... ..., 20.0 20.0 Selling, marketing, distribution and promotion
of natural gas.
Malaysian Refining Company Sdn. Bhd. ...... 50.0 45.0 Intended to refine crude oil.
Petronas Carigali (PTTEP!) Co. Sdn. Bhd. ... 50.0 50.0 Exploration and production of cil and gas.
Petronas Carigali {Triton) Operating Co. Sdn.
Bhd. ...t e 50.0 50.0 Exploration and preduction of cil and gas.
[demitsu SM Sdn. Bhd. ........... ... ... — 30.0 Intended to produce and market styrene
monomer.
Lub Dagangan Sdn. Bhd. {associated
company of Petronas Dagangan Berhad) 15.0 15.0 Marketing of lubricants.
Putrajaya Holdings Sdn. Bhd. ............... — 40.0 Property owner and developer.
Effective
P olding Country
Companies Incorporated Overseas 1995 1996 Incorporation Principal activity
Petronas Energy Philippines, Inc. .... == 400 Philippines Intended to market petroleum
products.
Dutalnc. .....oovviiniiiinaan. — 40.0 Philippines Property holding.
Subic Bay Petroleum Products Ltd. .. 50.0 — Cayman Breakbulking, terminaling of products
Islands and mearchandising.
Gasinvest Australia Pty Ltd. ........ 48.0 48.0 Australia Investment helding company.
Thang Long LPG Joint Venture Co.
Ltd. .o e -_ 49.0 Vietnam Importation and marketing of liquefied
petroleumn gas in Vietnam.
Zhenjiang Zhonghai PETRONAS NIC
Qil and Gas Co. Ltd. ............. — 20.0 Pecples' Importation and marketing of liquefied
Republic petroleum gas in the Peoples’
of China Republic of China.
East Australian Pipeline Ltd. ‘
(associated company of Gasinvest
Australia Pty Ltd.) ........... ... — 24.0 Australia Transmission of natural gas.
Petronas WUnigue Petroleum Co. Ltd. — 49.0 Thailand Intended to develop and operate
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12. LEASE CREDITOR

This relates to an asset leased from Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad under the Al-liarah lease financing
facility.

At March 31,
1995 1996 1996
(in millions)
Lease creditor ... ... . RM 22 RM 11 us$ 4
Less: Unexpired service charges. ............covienennnon.. (1) {(—) —
BM 21 RM 11 uss 4
Due withintwelve months. . .......... ... ... . . 0 i, RM 10 RM 11 Uuss 4

Due after twelve months . ... ... .. ... ... i, 11 — —
RM 21 RM 11 Uss 4

13. TERM LOANS

The details of term loans are as foliows:

Principal Amount Interest Rate Repayment Terms
Group
Unsecured
Two loans totalling A mix of 5.4% to 5.7% and Fourteen semi-annual equal
¥11.8 biltion floating rate of LIBOR + (%% instalments commencing

to %%) September 1989.
Two loans totalling 4.0% and 5.0% Vary from thirty-one to thirty-
¥38.4 billion seven semi-annual equal

instalments commencing from
August 20, 1987 and
February 20, 1993.

Revolving credit of BLR and rates varying from On call.

RM500C million 452% to 6.92%

RM700 million Redeemable First 5 years at 8.75% and Mature on December 20, 2001
Notes subseqguent years at 9.3% and March 21, 2002.

FRF2.28 billion 8.0% Twenty semi-annual instalments,

commencing January 1997 to
January 1998,

One loan totalling LIBOR + 0.5% until completion  Full repayment in March 2003.

US$112.8 million and then LIBOR + 0.7%

One loan totalling LIBOR minus 0.25% Ten semi-annual equal

US$340 million instalments effective September
1998,

One loan totalling 4.75% Thirteen semi-annual instalments

US$20 ‘milion commencing February 1996,

One loan totalling LIBOR + 0.75% Over a period of six years

US$410 million commencing June 1997,
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Principal Amount Interest Rate Repayment Terms
Six loans totalling LIBOR + {0.15% to 0.75%) Ten to twenty semi-annual
US$780.79 million instalments commencing
-January 1995 to January 1996.

One locan totalling LIBOR + 0.3% Fully repaid during the year.
US$86.7 million
One joan totalling ECOF + 0.55% Full repayment in Julty 1999,
RM168 million
Secured
Cne loan totalling LIBOR + 0.75% Fully repaid during the year.

- US$221 million
One loan totalling LIBOR + 0.75% Thirteen semi-annual instalments
LS$60.5 million commencing four years from

the date of Agreement —
December 1994,
One loan totalling ECOF + 0.75% or BLR + 0.5%  Thirteen semi-annual instaiments
RM30 million ' commencing four years from
the date of Agreement —
December 1994.

One loan totalling ECOF + 0.75% or BLR + 0.5% ~ Fully repaid during the year.
RM78 million

The above term loans are secured by fixed charges over properties located at Lot No. 110, 111 and 112
in Gebeng Industrial Estate, Mukim of Sungai Karang, District of Kuantan, Pahang Darul Makmur and
debentures creating fixed and floating charges over all the assets of two of the subsidiary companies.
The charges over properties located at Lot No. 110 and 111 have been released during the year,

One loan totalling BLR Cne hundred and twenty
RM7.90 million monthly instalments
commencing 1 January 1989,

The above term loan is secured by way of fixed and floating charges over the LPG Import Terminal
cum Bottling Plant (excluding land) in Kuching, Sarawak,

One loan totalling BLR + 0.25% Fully repaid during the year.
RMS0.00 million
The loan is secured by a debenture creating a first floating charge over the current assets of a
subsidiary company.
US$450 million LIBOR + 1% Twelve semi-annual instalments
commencing from May 1997,

The loan is secured by a debenture creating a first fixed and floating charge on all the assets of
the subsidiary company.

Group-and Company (reloaned to subsidiary and assbciated companies).

Unsecured

One loan totalling 4.0% Thirty-six semi-annual

¥42 billion instalments commencing
July 1995,

US$500 million Bonds 6.875% Full repayment in July 2003.
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Principal Amount
¥50 billion Bonds

Two leans totalling
¥28.4 billion

Four loans totalling
RMB50 million

One lgan totalling
¥11 billion

Two loans totalling
Us$378 million

Two loans totalling
US$283 million

PETROLIAM NASIONAL BERHAD

AND ITS SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Interast Rate
4.1%

4.0% to 4.5%

6.50% to 8.19%

LIBOR + 1.0875% to 2.5875%

LIBOR + 0.7%

LIBOR + 0.275% to 0.3175%

Repayment Terms

Full repayment on
December 2003.

Thirty-four to thirty-six semi-
annual instaiments commencing
June 1992 to September 1992,

Nine to twenty-one semi-annual
instalments commencing
May 1993 to May 1996.

Twelve semi-annual instalments
commencing March 1985,

Seventeen semi-annual
instalments commencing
November 1998.

Twenty semi-annual instalments
commencing March 1996.

At balance sheet date, the amounts outstanding obtained by the company and reloaned to its
subsidiary and associated companies are payable as follows:

Associated companies;

After twelve mMOnths ... oo e

Group and Company

Twelve loans totalling RM409
million

Notes totalling US$375 million
Bonds totalling US$625 million

Syndicated foan totalling
US$47.3 million

14. DEFERRED LIABILITIES

2.0% to 8.0%

7.125%
7.75%
LIBOR + (.35%

1995 1996
{in millions)
128 166

Vary from five to fifteen annual
instalments commencing
June 1989.

Full repayment on August 2005.
Full repayment on August 2015.

Seventeen semi-annual equal
instalments commencing
November 1998.

At March 31,
1995 1996 1996
(in miliions)
Removal of offshore installations .............................. RM 66 RM 103 US$ 41
Deferred taxation . . ... ... it 581 606 240
Provision for exploration cost ................ ... ... o iin.L. 559 572 227

Provision for dry-docking ............. ... ... o i 3 17 7
RM 1,209 RM 1,298 US$ 515
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15. ISLAMIC DEBT SECURITIES

The securities with a nominal value of RM1,100,000,000 were issued by subsidiary companies, are

unsecured and shall be redeemed by the holder as follows:

(1Y RM300,000000..........ccooiiiiiii.t.

(i) RMB00,000,000. ...\ 'memererarenranenareannn,

16. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized:
500,000 shares of RM1,000each ..................ove.

Issued and fully paid:
100,000 shares of RM1,000each .......... ... .. oot

17. RESERVES

Non-Distributable:
Capital Reserve
Balance at 1 April . ... .. .. oo i
Capitalization of unappropriated profits for bonus
shares by a subsidiary company . .......... .0,
Share premium received by subsidiary companies on
issue of shares ..........c.c i i

Redemption Date

24 February 1999
17 August 2000

Balance at 31 March ... ..coo o i o
Reserve on consolidation. ... .. .. 0o
Exchange Difference Account’. .. ... io.....ooalL L.

Distributable:
General RBSBIVE .. ..t o il e
Unappropriated profits . ... ..o ... oo

At March 31,
1995 1996 1996
{in milliecns)

...... RM 500 RM 500 US$ 198
...... RM 100 -RM 100 US$ 40
At March 31,

1995 1996 1996
(in millions)

RM 139 RM 142 US$ 56

— 476 189
2 318 126
141 936 371
52 (3) (1)
(4) (8) (3)
12,000 12,000 4762
6,906 10,092 4,005
RM 19,095 RM 23,017 US$ 9,134

18. REVENUES
Revenues comprises:
(a) Company

(i) sales of crude cil and gas;

(i) production sharing income in respect of supplementary payments, production and discovery

bonuses and research cess;

(ii} sales of processed gas and petroleum products;
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{iv) income from fund investments and dividends;

{b) Group

(i) revenue of the company excluding dividend from subsidiaries and asscciates;

(ii) revenue of the subsidiaries which is derived from:-
(a) sales of crude oil & gas
(b) sales of petrochemical products
(c) sale of liquefied natural gas & petroleum products
(d) rental income on land & buildings

(e) income from fund investment

19. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

Profit before taxation has been arrived at:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

1995

1996

1996

1994

After charging:
Interest expense ontermiloan....................... RM 280
Depreciation ... . i e 883
Directors’ remuneration. ........... ... ... .0 .. 3
Rental of land and buildings ........................ 45
Rental of plants, machineries, equipments and motor

vehicles ... et 6
Auditfees ... i e 1
Provision for:

Doubtfuldebts ........... .. 00 o o, 11

Stock obsolescence ... Lo L L, 9
Amortization of expenditure carried forward . .......... 18
Fixed assets expensed off ..........o. ..o iina... 11
Provision for exploration cost. ... .o ..., 100
Tabung Amanah Negara. .. ... 00 oo e eannn.. 100
Retirement benefits . .......co. . oo 19
Loss on foreignexchange . ........................ 177
(Gain)/Lcss on disposal of fixed assets ............. (4)
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(in millions)

RM 330 RM 855 US$ 339

1,046
2
37

1,561
3
47

619
1
19

13
1
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And crediting:
interest income from:

Deposits ......ooiiiiiiiii e
Loan stock ....viiiin i e
Malaysian Government Securities ...............
Other securities —bonds ........... ...l
L {07 £ O

Dividend income:

Quoted corporations in Malaysia................
Unquoted corporations in Malaysia..............
Rental income on land and buildings..............
Gain on foreign exchange .......................

Provision for bad and doubtful debt written back

20. TAXATION

Income Tax:

Foreigntaxation ...........cooviiii i,
(Over) /Under provision of prior years............

Deferred taxation ......... ... oo iiiheans

21. EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS

Gain on disposal of investment ..................
Gain on disposal of rig, plant and equipment......
Insurance claim on damaged properties ..........

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
1994 1995 1996 1996
{in millions)

582 510 853 338
19 17 12 5
404 373 363 144
113 6 18 7
15 62 61 24
2 1 2 1
10 6 9 4
39 33 29 12
— — 22 9

— hS 1 —

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
1994 1995 1996 1996
(in milllons)

RM 2,431 RM 2,295 RM 2,663 US$ 1,057

20 2 1 —_

— — 1 —
(8) (117) (392) (1586)
2,443 2,180 2,273 901
(176) (44) 24 10

RM 2,267 BM 2,136 RM 2,297 US$ 911

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
1994 1995 1998 1996
{in millions}
RM 308 RM 3 RM 1,070 US$ 425
19 — 17 6
2 - - —
RM 329 RM 3 RM 1,087 US$ 431
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22. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Qutstanding commitments in respect of capital expenditure at balance sheet date not provided for in
the accounts are:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

1995 1996 1996
(in millions)
Approved and contracted for .......................... RM 4,114 RM 6,502 US$ 2,580
Approved but not contracted for ....................... 18,663 16,888 6,702

RM 22,777 RM 23,390 Us$ 9.282

The Group also have commitments to subscribe for shares amounting to NIL (1995 —
RM24.75 million).

23. PRODUCTION SHARING INCOME

The Petroleum Development Act, (1974) vests the entire ownership, rights, powers, liberties and
privileges of exploiting petroleum resources on land and offshore Malaysia in PETRONAS. The exploitation
by PETRONAS of the petroleum resources is carried out by means of production sharing contracts with
international oil and gas companies and with its subsidiary company.

23.1 Research Cess, Supplementary Payments and Crude Oil/Gas Entittement

The determination of research cess, supplementary payments and the Company's entitlements to
crude oil/ gas proeduced subsequent tc December 31, 1990 have been based on the returns submitted by
contractors and is dependent on agreement being reached on the method of valuation of crude oil/ gas
and the guantum of costs incurred and claimed by contractors subject to the maximum rate provided
under the production sharing contracts for the year. The Company's entitlements to crude oil and natural
gas are taken up as income on the basis of liftings and sales respectively made by the Company.

23.2 Fixed Assets

Under the production sharing contracts, title to all equipment and other assets purchased or
acquired by oil contractors exclusively for the purpose of petroleum operations, and which costs are
recoverable as cost oil/ gas, has passed to the Company. The value of these assets are not taken up in
the accounts of the Company except for the assets of a subsidiary company who is also a contractor to
the Company under the production sharing contracts.

23.3 Stock

Under the preduction sharing contracts, title to all crude oil held in stock by the oil contractors lies
with PETRONAS and titie to the contractors’ entitlement passes only upon delivery at point of export.

24. COMPARATIVES

In cconsideration of the vesting by the Government of Malaysia of the entire ownership, rights,
powers, liberties and privileges of exploiting petroleum resources on land and oftshore Malaysia, the
Company has to pay a fixed percentage of the gross value of production to the federal and state
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governments as royalty. The value of this royalty is now accounted as cost of sale instead of deduction
from the gross turnover. The change in comparatives is as follows:

As amended As previously reported

(in millions )
Turnover — Financial year ended March 31,1995 ... ... .......... 18,089 17,106
— Financial year ended March 31,1994 . ... ... ... . ... 16,818 15,695
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APPENDIX A

MALAYSIA

The following information regarding Malaysia is included for information only and has been obtained
from public official sources of the Government of Malaysia.

General

Maiaysia is located in Southeast Asia, just north of the equator, and consists of two major land
masses, Peninsular Malaysia and the states of Sabah and Sarawak, which are located on the Island of
Borneo. Peninsular Malaysia is separated from the states of Sabah and Sarawak by 640 kilometers of the
South China Sea. The total land area of Malaysia is approximately 330,000 square kilometers.

Malaysia has a population of approximately 20.7 million. As of 1995, approximately 58 percent of the
population of Malaysia was Malay and other indigenous peoples (together, referred to as “‘Bumiputera”},
approximately 26 percent was Chinese, and approximately 16 percent was Indian and other races.

The official language of Malaysia is Bahasa Malaysia, but English is widely spoken.

Government

Peninsular Malaysia attained independence from Britain in 1957 as the Federation of Malaya. In
1963, Malaysia was formed as the successor to the Federation of Malaya, incorporating Sarawak and
Sabah, and Singapore. In August 1965, Singapore withdrew from Malaysia. Malaysia now consists of
13 states and a Federal Territory.

Malaysia is a parliamentary democracy headed by a constitutional monarch. The King of Malaysia is
elected for a five-year term by a Conference of Rulers consisting of the nine hereditary sultans of the
federation. The framework of government is determined by a constitution adopted at the time of
independence, Federal executive power is vested in the Prime Minister and his cabinet. Dato Seri
Dr. Mahathir bin Mohamad has been Prime Minister since 1981,

Since its formation, Malaysia has been governed by the National Front coalition comprising 3 major
component parties, namely: United Malays National Organization (UMNQ), the Malaysian Chinese
Association (MCA), the Malaysian Indian Congress (MIC), and a number of smaller parties. An
opposition to the coalition exists but it has never been able to capture sufficient support to win control of
the Federal Parliament. In the general elections held in April 1895, members of the National Front coalition
were elected to 162 out of 192 seats in the Federal Parliarnent.

Economic Policy and Planning

Since 1966, the Malaysian Government has formulated and implemented a series of five-year plans
for the development of the Malaysian economy. These plans have been guided by the development
policies set forth in the New Economic Policy (*'NEP'") introduced in 1970, the New Development Policy
("*NDP"}, which succeeded the NEP in 1981, and in a working paper presented by the Prime Minister in
February 1991 entitled **‘Malaysia: The Way Forward" and known as ‘‘Vision 2020"'. The goal of the NEP
and the NDP generally have been to eradicate poverty and to redistribute wealth through growth. In
particular, they are aimed at increasing the share of Malaysia's wealth held by Bumiputera and the
participation of Bumiputera in the economy. The Malaysian government’s impiementation of these five-
year plans and development policies has had a major influence on the Malaysian economy.

Overall Economic Performance

The Malaysian economy grew in 1995, with real GDP expanding by 9.6 percent compared with
9.2 percent in 1994. This growth is supported by sustained output growth in the manufacturing
(14.7 percent in 1995 compared with 14.7 percent in 1994), the construction (15.2 percent and
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14.1 percent, respectively) and the service (8.9 percent and 9.7 percent, respectively) sectors. Growth
in the ocutput of the mining sector increased to 7.4 percent in 1995.

Selected Economic Data

The following table sets forth selected economic data relating to Malaysia for the years 1990 to
1994:

Year Ended December 31,
1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995
(in millions, except percentages)

Gross domestic product (“GDP"') (base year

1978) (RM) oo 79,430 86,302 93,071 100,838 109,915 120,489
Growth in real GDP {percentage change)..... 97 8.7 7.8 8.3 92 a6
Consumer price index (percentage change} .. 341 4.4 4.7 36 3.7 35
Producer price index (percentage change} ... 09 4.1 1.1 1.4 49 45
Unemployment rate (percentage)............ 5.6 4.3 39 3 2.9 28
Total exports (fo.b.) (RM) ...........coont 79,646 94,497 103657 121,214 153,688 186,869
Total imports {cif.) (RM) .................. 79,119 100,831 101,440 117,423 155919 196,516
Trade balance (RM) ....................... 527 {6,334) 2,217 3,791 (2.231) (9.647)
Current balance (RM) ................. ... (4.470) (12,459) (4,200) (6,349} (10,998) (18,140)
Exchange rate (RMper US$)(1)............. 27 2.73 2.61 2.70 2.56 2.50
Foreign Currency Reserves (RM) ............ 27,025 30,468 47,218 76,474 68,202 63,796
Government {deficit) surplus (RM) .......... (5,516)  (5,640) (1,243) 354 4,408 586

(1) Rates are as of December 31 of the year indicated, except for 1895, which is the rate as of the end of August 1995.

Sources: Economic Reports 199211993 to 1994 /1995, Ministry of Finance of Malaysia, Bank Negara
Annual Reports 1991 to 1995.

Labor

As a result of the sustained growth of the economy over the past few years, the unemployment rate
declined to approximately 2.8 percent in 1995 from 2.9 percent in 1994. Most sectors of the economy,
especially the construction, plantation, manufacturing and services sectors, are currently facing labor
shortages. To help alleviate these shortages, the Malaysian Government has permitted the employment
of foreign labor and continues to emphasize and promote training programs to upgrade the skills and
quality of the labor force. These labor shortages have created upward pressure on wages in recent years.
In 1995, wages increased by approximately 11 percent.

The Financial Sector

Malaysia's financial sector has grown to accommodate the development of the economy and today
comprises a banking system, a range of non-banking financial institutions and a securities market.

Malaysian financial institutions can be divided into two main categories: monetary institutions and
other financial institutions. Monetary institutions are comprised of Bank Negara Malaysia and deposit-
taking banks. Deposit-taking banks are in turn divided into commercial banks, finance companies,
merchant banks and discount houses according to their legal status and the banking business in which
they may ‘engage. Other financial institutions consist of provident and pension funds, insurance
companies and industrial finance institutions.
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Monetary Policy

Established in 1959, Bank Negara Malaysia is the central bank and the sole currency issuing bank in
Malaysia. Bank Negara is responsible for formulating and implementing monetary policy and supervising
financial institutions in Malaysia. Bank Negara also holds Malaysia's official foreign exchange reserves,
administers exchange control regulations and acts as lender of last resort for the banking system.

Bank Negara implements monetary policy by influencing the reserve positions of banking institutions,
principally through changes in the terms and conditions of reserve and liquidity requirements, discount
operations, swap transactions with banks, recycling of Government deposits and open market opera-
tions. In 1995, Bank Negara undertook certain measures to contain inflows of short-term foreign funds
and reduce inflationary pressures.

The exchange rate of the Malaysian currency, the ringgit, generally floats freely in the foreign
exchange market in accordance with prevailing market conditions. Bank Negara intervenes only when
necessary to avoid excessive changes in the exchange rate and to maintain orderly market conditions.

Malaysia's senior unsecured long-term debt has credit ratings of “A1” (Moody's Investors Service,
Inc.) and “A+" with a positive outlook (Standard & Poor's).

Foreign Investment

The Malaysian Government has taken steps to encourage foreign investment, particularly in the
manutacturing sector. The Malaysian Government generally encourages the formation of joint ventures
between foreign and Malaysian investors for the production of export goods. Foreign equity participation
of up to 100 percent in such ventures is permitted, provided that the company exports 80 percent or
more of its cutput.

Foreign Trade

Foreign trade is significant to the Malaysian econemy. While primary commodities continue to decline
as a percentage of total export earnings, accounting for approximately 17 percent in 1995 as compared
to 18.4 percent in 1994, the contribution of manufactured products to total export earnings has become
more important, rising over the last several years from 32.8 percent in 1985 to approximately 79.6 per-
cent in 1995. The expansion of manufacturing exports is attributable to Government encouragement of
export-oriented industries and the growth of manufacturing activity. Electronics components, electrical
machinery and textiles comprised the bulk of exports of manufactured goods in 1995. Major commodity
exports include timber, palm oil and crude oil.

Japan, the United States and Singapore have historically been Malaysia's most important trading
partners; however, Malaysia's trade with its Asian neighbors, including Hong Kong, Taiwan and China, is
increasing.
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No dealer, salesperson or other person has
been authorized to give any information or to
make any representation not contained in this
Offering Circular and, if given or made, such
information or representation must not be
relied upon as having been authorized by
PETRONAS or any Initial Purchaser. This
Offering Circular does not constitute an offer
to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of
the securities offered hereby in any
jurisdiction to any person to whom it is
uniawful to make such offer in such jurisdic-
tion. Neither the delivery of this Offering
Circular nor any sale made hereunder shall,
under any circumstances, create any
implication that the information herein is
correct as of any time subsequent to the date
hereof or that there has been no change in the
affairs of PETRONAS since such date.
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